This article was downloaded by: [University of Florida] On: 12 March 2013, At: 07:28 Publisher: Taylor & Francis Informa Ltd Registered in England and Wales Registered Number: 1072954 Registered office: Mortimer House, 37-41 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JH, UK



Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences

Publication details, including instructions for authors and subscription information: <u>http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/bpts20</u>

Overcoming Salinity Barriers to Crop Production Using Traditional Methods

Z. Plaut ^a , M. Edelstein ^b & M. Ben-Hur ^a

^a Institute of Soil, Water and Environmental Sciences, ARO, Volcani Center, Israel

^b Department of Vegetable Crops, Neve-Ya'ar Research Center, ARO, Ramat-Yishay, Israel Version of record first published: 20 Feb 2013.

To cite this article: Z. Plaut , M. Edelstein & M. Ben-Hur (2013): Overcoming Salinity Barriers to Crop Production Using Traditional Methods, Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 32:4, 250-291

To link to this article: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2012.752236</u>

PLEASE SCROLL DOWN FOR ARTICLE

Full terms and conditions of use: <u>http://www.tandfonline.com/page/terms-and-conditions</u>

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes. Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

The publisher does not give any warranty express or implied or make any representation that the contents will be complete or accurate or up to date. The accuracy of any instructions, formulae, and drug doses should be independently verified with primary sources. The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of this material.



Overcoming Salinity Barriers to Crop Production Using Traditional Methods

Z. Plaut,¹ M. Edelstein,² and M. Ben-Hur¹

¹Institute of Soil, Water and Environmental Sciences, ARO, Volcani Center, Israel ²Department of Vegetable Crops, Neve-Ya'ar Research Center, ARO, Ramat-Yishay, Israel

Table of Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION											
II.	ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS BY IMPROVING THE PLANT ENVIRONMENT											
	A. Removal of Salts from the Root Zone											
	1. Salt Leaching and Irrigation Management and Technology											
	2. Primer and Companion Plants											
	3. Soil Mulching and Water Treatments											
	B. Fertilizer Application to the Root Zone											
	1. Potassium (K)											
	2. Calcium (Ca)											
	3. Nitrogen (N)											
	4. Phosphorus (P)											
	5. Sulfur (S)											
	6. Micronutrients											
	7. Biofertilizers and Manures											
	C. Application of Non-Nutritional Additives											
	D. Treating the Aerial Environment											
	1. Elevated CO ₂ Concentrations											
	2. Air Relative Humidity and Temperature											
III.	ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS USING BACTERIA AND MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI											
	A. Inoculation with Bacteria											
	B. Interaction of Plants with Mycorrhizal Fungi											
	1. Ectomycorrhizas											
	2. Arbuscular Mycorrhizas											
IV.	ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS BY TREATING THE PLANT											
	A. Seed and Young Seedlings Priming and Seed Size											
	B. Grafting onto Tolerant Rootstocks											
	C. Application of Non-Enzymatic Antioxidants											
	D. Application of Plant Growth Regulators											
	1. Salicylic Acid											
	2. Brassinosteroids											
	3. Abscisic Acid	274										

Address correspondence to M. Ben-Hur, Institute of Soil, Water and Environmental Sciences, ARO, Volcani Center, Israel. E-mail: meni@volcani.agri.gov.il

	4. Indole Acetic Acid, Kinetin, and Benzyl Adenine										
	5. Gibberellins										
	6. Jasmonates										
	7. Polyamines										
	E. Application of Compatible Solutes										
	F. Foliar Application of Nutrients										
	G. Application of Other Chemicals and Microalgae Extracts										
	1. Plant and Microalgae Extracts										
	2. Metabolic Intermediates										
	3. Fungicides and Phytotoxins										
V.	CONCLUDING REMARKS										
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS											
RE	REFERENCES										

Salinity is a major problem in arid and semi-arid regions, where irrigation is essential for crop production. Major sources of salinity in these regions are salt-rich irrigation water and improper irrigation management. The effects of salinity on crops include inhibition of growth and production, and ultimately, death. There are two main approaches to alleviating the adverse effects of salinity on agricultural crops: (i) development of salt-tolerant cultivars by screening, conventional breeding or genetic engineering, and (ii) the traditional approach dealing with treatments and management of the soil, plants, irrigation water, and plant environment. The success of the first approach is limited under commercial growing conditions, because salt-tolerance traits in plants are complex. The present paper reviews, analyzes, and discusses the following traditional approaches: (i) improving the plant environment, (ii) exploiting interactions between plant roots and bacteria and fungi, and (iii) treating the plant directly. With respect to improving the plant environment, we review the possibilities of decreasing salt content and concentration and improving the nutrient composition and concentration in the root zone, and controlling the plant's aerial environment. The interactions between salt-tolerant bacteria or mycorrhizal fungi and root systems, and their effects on salttolerance, are demonstrated and discussed. Discussed treatments aimed at alleviating salinity hazard by treating the plant directly include priming of seeds and young seedlings, using proper seed size, grafting onto tolerant rootstocks, applying non-enzymatic antioxidants, plant growth regulators or compatible solutes, and foliar application of nutrients. It can be concluded from the present review that the traditional approaches provide promising means for alleviating the adverse effects of salinity on agricultural crops.

Keywords sodium, leaching, mycorrhiza, compatible solute, antioxidant, grafting, growth regulator

I. INTRODUCTION

Salinity is a major abiotic stress responsible for reduced crop production in many of the world's regions. According to an FAO survey (2008), it is expected that over 800 million ha will be affected by salinity in the near future, making it a major constraint to food production for a steadily increasing population. Salinity occurs mainly in arid and semi-arid regions, where evapotranspiration exceeds annual precipitation and irrigation is the essential means for crop production. Currently, at least 20% of the world's irrigated land is salt-affected and/or irrigated with water containing elevated salt levels (Qadir et al., 2008), and it has been estimated that an additional 2 million ha of agricultural land are affected by salinity every year (Kalaji and Pietkiewica, 1993). This increased salinization of arable land is expected to result in a 50% loss of arable land by the middle of the 21st century (Wang et al., 2007). Man-induced salinity began with the irrigated cultivation of arid land along river banks. Written documentation of the existence of salty land can be dated back to the alluvial plains between the Tigris and Euphrates rivers during the ancient Sumerian and Akkadian periods (Hillel, 2005).

Soil salinity can also be a consequence of natural causes, such as the following: (i) weathering of parent rocks and minerals in the soil, which releases various ions (e.g., Na, Ca, K and Mg, sulfates and carbonates) to the soil solution (Moreira-Nordemann, 1984; Szabolcs, 1989); (ii) seawater intrusion into coastal areas leading to increased salinity levels in the soil and channel water, which may be the major factor in the marked decreases in crop production in these areas (Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005; Kotera et al., 2008); (iii) rainwater for example, containing 50 mg L^{-1} NaCl (Munns and Tester, 2008) can result in the precipitation of 250 kg NaCl per ha for every 500 mm of annual rainfall; (iv) wind-borne materials from lake or land surfaces. Nevertheless, the more significant proportion of saline soils is attributed to intensive agricultural cultivation (FAO, 2008). The removal of natural perennial vegetation and its replacement with annual agricultural crops (Manchanda and Garg, 2008) was likely the first factor in man-induced salinity. Use of salt-rich irrigation water is undoubtedly one of the foremost factors responsible for soil salinity. In addition, improper irrigation management, which might be responsible for a rise in the water table—known as secondary salinization—is an important contributor to soil salinity.

The main salinity effect on crops is inhibition of plant growth and development, and death under extreme salinity levels. Salinity-induced growth inhibition has been shown for all plant organs that are responsible for development of final yield. For example, salinity reduced the number of pods and the rate and duration of grain-filling in soybean, leading to a concomitant decrease in grain weight (Ghassemi-Golezani et al., 2009); in various oat lines, a reduction in grain yield was due to reduced grain number and mean grain weight (Zhao et al., 2009); in durum wheat and barley, both grain number and straw weight were reduced (Katerji et al., 2009); in tomato, the fruit was the most salinity-sensitive organ (Reina-Sanchez et al., 2005). Plant height, which is a result of stem elongation, was significantly decreased in gourd species exposed to salinity (Yetisir and Uvgur. 2009). Inhibited leaf growth is among the earliest visible effects of salinity stress in grasses, which was attributed to decreased cell division and expansion in the leaf's growth zone (Ortega et al., 2006; Taleisnik et al., 2009; Bernstein et al., 2010). Root growth and dry matter accumulation have also been found to be very sensitive to salinity in cotton seedlings (Chachar et al., 2008), as have the shoots of Setaria verticulata (Ben Ahmed et al., 2008). There is also evidence of salinity-induced reductions in growth and dry weight accumulation of all plant parts (Bernstein, 2013), for instance, in maize (Blanco et al., 2008) and beans (Gama et al., 2007).

Maas and Hoffman (1977) assessed salt-tolerance of 60 different crops (i.e., field crops, forage crops, vegetables, fruits and ornamentals) based on experimental work in field plots under relatively uniform soil conditions and optimal irrigation management. They calculated the relative crop yield (Y_r , where the maximum yield under non-saline conditions is considered 100%) of these crops as a linear function of the electrical conductivity (EC) of the saturated soil paste extract in the root zone (EC_e) using Eq. [1]:

$$Yr = 100 - B(EC_e - A)$$
 [1]

where A (dS m⁻¹) is the EC threshold of the saturated soil paste extract in the root zone at which yield just begins to decline, and B is the yield decrease percent of the maximum yield per unit EC_e increase. Maas and Hoffman (1977) grouped the studied crops into the following four salt-tolerance levels: sensitive, moderately sensitive, moderately tolerant and tolerant. However, these estimations of salt-tolerance were obtained under steady-state conditions, uniform salt distribution with depth and time, uniform water distribution achieved by flood irrigation, and unrestricted water supply (high leaching rate), conditions that rarely exist in the field. In addition, distinct differences in tolerance levels of the crops were also found between cultivars (Munns and Tester 2008). Nevertheless, this classification can provide a general orientation. According to this tolerancedegree classification, most crop plants have been assessed as sensitive to EC_e values >4 dS m⁻¹ (USDA-ARS, 2008), which is a common salt level in arid and semi-arid soils.

The spread of soil salinity in recent years and its impact on agricultural production have been the main driving force for hundreds of studies, as well as many comprehensive review articles on salinity published in the last decades (e.g., Flowers, 2004; Parida and Das, 2005; Yamaguchi and Blumwald, 2005; Liang et al., 2007; Tuteja, 2007; Munns and Tester, 2008; Ashraf et al., 2009). Many of these publications cover specific aspects related to salinity and plant interactions. Substantial effort has been invested in studying the development of salt-tolerant cultivars by screening, conventional breeding, and genetic engineering. However, most of those attempts have been rather unsuccessful due to the complexity of the salt-tolerance trait, both genetically and physiologically (Flowers, 2004; Yamaguchi and Blumwald, 2005). The prospects for genetic engineering are indeed promissing, as genetic transformation of transport proteins, compounds for oxidant scavenging and for the formation of compatible organic solutes, and transcription factors for gene regulation have led to a number of salt-tolerant lines. Nevertheless, the successful production of salt-tolerant cultivars by genetic transformation is limited when they are grown under commercial conditions (Ashraf et al., 2008b, 2009). This highlights the importance of assessing the traditional approaches taken with the plant and its environment to alleviate salinity hazard and improve plant performance under salinity. The main objective of the present paper is to review, analyze and discuss the studies published in recent years, which have investigated these traditional actions.

II. ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS BY IMPROVING THE PLANT ENVIRONMENT

A. Removal of Salts from the Root Zone

1. Salt Leaching and Irrigation Management and Technology The soil solution in irrigated fields is frequently more saline than the irrigation water because of evapotranspiration, which leaves the salts from the irrigation water in the soil, and the dissolution of soil minerals (Rhoades, 1974). One way to alleviate salinity hazards in crop production is to remove the salts from the root zone by leaching. Salt leaching requires adequate irrigation management, which is based on adding sufficient amounts of water beyond the water requirement for meeting evapotran-

spiration demands, in order to leach the excess salt from the root zone (Russo *et al.*, 2009). It follows that the higher the salt concentration in the irrigation water, the greater the amount of water that must be passed through the soil to keep the salt concentration in the root zone at or below a critical level. This approach to overcoming salinity has been intensively studied for many years. One of the earliest reports on this issue can be found in a handbook published by the U.S. Salinity Laboratory Staff (U.S. Salinity Laboratory Staff, 1954), which was further discussed by Rhoades (1974). Since these publications, many other studies and reviews have been published on this subject (e.g., Hoffman and van Genuchten, 1983; Ayers and Wescot, 1985; Shalhevet, 1994; Hanson *et al.*, 2006; Corwin *et al.*, 2007; Russo *et al.*, 2009; Letey *et al.*, 2011).

Wheat yield and its components decreased significantly when the EC of the irrigation water increases from 2 to 12 dS m^{-1} (Mostafazadeh-Fard et al., 2009). However, under salt-leaching conditions, this decrease was more moderate. In a trial with bell peppers grown in lysimeters in a protected environment and irrigated with water at EC levels between 0.5 and 3.5 dS m^{-1} , it was found that the higher the salinity level of the irrigation water, the higher the benefits from the leaching process (Ben-Gal et al., 2008). These authors claimed, however, that under the experimental conditions, the extent of leaching needed to maximize yield maybe unsustainable. Barnard et al. (2010) studied the optimal amounts of water required to efficiently leach excess salts from the root zone of maize irrigated with water of 7.5 dS m^{-1} in a lysimeter experiment. They found that excess amounts of irrigation water, equivalent to 20% and 30% of the pore volume of the studied sandy and loam soils, respectively, were needed to efficiently remove 70% of the excess salts from the root zone. However, the salinity of the solution in the root zone of the studied soils approached the EC of the irrigation water only after leaching with a volume comparable to 90% of the pore volume of the irrigated soils, a volume that was not economically feasible (Barnard et al., 2010).

The leaching fraction (LF) is the actual fraction of the applied water that passes through and leaves the root zone. Leaching requirement (LR), however, is defined as the minimum fraction of the irrigation water that must be leached through the root zone to control soil salinity at a specific level. In practice, the *LR* could be defined as the minimum *LF* required to achieve the maximum yield of a particular crop under irrigation with a specific water quality (Letey *et al.*, 2011). Under a steady rate of water flow, with no removal of salt by the crop, uniform areal application of irrigation water, and no precipitation of soluble salts, the *LR* can be calculated using Eq. [2] (U.S. Salinity Laboratory Staff, 1954):

$$LR = \frac{V_d}{V_i} = \frac{EC_i}{EC_{d\max}}$$
[2]

where, V_d and V_i are the volumes (in mm) of water drained from the root zone and infiltrated irrigation water, respectively, EC_i is the EC (dS m⁻¹) of the irrigation water, and $EC_{d \max}$ (dS m⁻¹) is the maximum electrolyte concentration permissible in the soil solution for a certain crop. For example, $EC_{d \max}$ values are 4 dS m⁻¹ for sensitive crops, 8 dS m⁻¹ for tolerant crops such as beets, alfalfa and cotton, and 12 dS m⁻¹ for very tolerant crops, such as barley (U.S. Salinity Laboratory Staff, 1954). For the calculation of *LR*, the $EC_{d \max}$ for various crops can be obtained from Maas and Hoffman (1977). For the $EC_{d \max}$ values, they suggested using the average EC values of the saturated soil paste extract of the root zone that resulted in 50% yield reduction of forage and vegetable crops and 10% reduction of fruit crops. Two main assumptions were made in this calculation of *LR* values: (i) the crop responds to the average root zone salinity, and (ii) the soil EC at field capacity is about twice that of a saturated soil paste extract (Corwin *et al.*, 2007). It should be emphasized that the leaching technique could be applied only under adequate drainage conditions, to allow leaching of the concentrated salt solution from the root zone. Under inadequate drainage conditions, the water table might rise in response to the excess water, potentially resulting in increased salinity in the root zone, and a possible decrease in crop yield (Ben-Hur *et al.*, 2001).

The effects of *LF* on yield of citrus that was irrigated for 9 years by under-tree microsprinklers with irrigation water at four EC values ranging from 0.44 (control) to 2.50 dS m⁻¹, and *LF* values of 0.24 in the control treatment and 0.51 in the other salinity irrigation treatments were studied by Prior *et al.* (2007). An *LF* of 0.51 resulted in low or moderate salinity levels in the root zone throughout the experimental period, and in only a very few cases, this salinity exceeded 3 dS m⁻¹, even in the highest salinity irrigation treatment. The content of Na and CI in the citrus leaves increased mainly with the highest salinity treatment, which decreased the yield by 17% and annual trunk diameter growth by 59% as compared to the control treatment.

A field trial was conducted on avocado trees, which are known to be extremely sensitive to salinity, in which three quantities of irrigation water (at an EC of 0.7 dS m^{-1})—90%, 110%, and 130% of estimated crop transpiration—were applied at three irrigation frequencies (one, three, and seven times a week) (Oster *et al.*, 2007). Increasing amounts of irrigation water increased avocado yield in all irrigation treatments when the maximum salinity level in the saturated soil paste extracts in the root zone was equal to or less than 4 dS m⁻¹. Oster *et al.* (2007) concluded that the differences in the amounts of irrigation water have little effect on the EC in the root zone, but increase water availability to the crop before the soil salinity reaches approximately 4 dS m⁻¹, at which point water uptake is restricted. This was probably the reason for the higher yield with the larger quantities of irrigation water.

Several models have been proposed to calculate the *LR* for specific crops, irrigation water qualities, and environmental conditions. For instance, the SALTMED model of irrigation management was used to determine proper irrigation management for tomatoes grown in salt-prone soil (Flowers *et al.*, 2005), and was further developed for sugarcane under semi-arid conditions in southwest Iran (Golabi *et al.*, 2009). This model incorporated evapotranspiration, plant water uptake, solute transport, crop yield and biomass production, and was calibrated in a field trial over the course of two years, then verified in the third year. Golabi *et al.* (2009) found that the SALTMED model could be used successfully as a tool to determine the *LR* for sugarcane under saline and semi-arid conditions. After validating the SALTMED

model in an irrigation experiment with saline water of 8 dS m^{-1} , good-quality water (1.24 dS m^{-1}), and alternations between the two water types, Gawad et al. (2005) found it to be a good tool for determining proper irrigation and drainage management for tomato. In their review, Hanson et al. (2006) showed a linear relationship between EC of the soil solution and irrigation water at LF values between 0.05 and 0.50 for various crops, and the dependence of this relationship on irrigation methods and frequencies. These authors published a guideline for LR calculation for various crops based on salinity of the irrigation water and the crop's salt sensitivity (Hanson et al., 2006). It should be stressed, however, that this guideline was based, in general, on steady-state water flow, disregarding salt precipitation and preferential flow, and on the assumption that salt concentration in the soil solution at any point in the root zone is constant with time (Corwin et al., 2007; Letey and Feng, 2007).

More recently, new models have been suggested for calculating LR that take into account the soil/water interactions as dynamic processes (e.g., Corwin et al., 2007; Letey and Feng, 2007; Isidoro and Grattan, 2011). Letey and Feng (2007) calculated the ratio between the quantities of applied waters of various qualities and the potential evapotranspiration that produce a specific relative yield of corn using a dynamic model, and compared it to two steady-state models, the Crop Water Production Function (CWPF) model (Letey et al., 1985) and the Enviro-Gro model (Feng et al., 2003). Letey and Feng (2007) found that the *LR* values predicted by the dynamic model were significantly lower than those calculated by the steady-state models. Letey et al. (2011) indicated that the steady-state models predict, in general, higher negative effects of irrigation with saline water on crop production than the dynamic models, due to the following: (i) In the steady-state approach, the plant response is to the average salinity of the entire root zone, when in fact, the plant roots extract water mostly from the upper soil layer, where salt concentration has less effect on LF. (ii) The steady-state approach considers the salt concentration in the soil solution to be a constant value throughout the season. However, it is well known that the salt concentration changes continuously in the root zone; it increases when water is taken up by the plants, it decreases sharply after irrigation, and its concentration in the upper soil layer becomes close to that of the irrigation water. (iii) It is generally assumed that the EC of the water surrounding the roots is about twice that of the saturated soil paste extract, but in practice, in most soils, the EC of the water surrounding the roots is lower. Corwin et al. (2007) compared LR values estimated by the steady-state WATSUIT model using the water-production function proposed by Letey et al. (1985) or by dynamic models, such as TETRANS and UNSATCHEM. Under irrigation of croplands in Imperial Valley, California with water from the Colorado River (EC of 1.23 dS m^{-1}), they found LR values of 0.13 and 0.08, estimated by the steady-state and dynamic model, respectively. It can thus be concluded that switching the calculation approach from steady-state models to dynamic ones decreases the estimated LR values; this could lead to substantial water savings, and reduced chemical movement toward the groundwater.

In many regions, such as the Mediterranean, the climate is characterized by a long, hot, and dry season (summer) and a short rainy season (winter). Under these conditions, the salts accumulated in the soil profile during the irrigation season in the summer could be leached from the root zone by the winter rainfall (Ben-Hur *et al.*, 2001; Lado *et al.*, 2012). The effective-ness of this leaching is controlled by the water-holding capacity of the soil and the properties of the rainfall. For instance, the water-holding capacity of a 1 m layer of sandy soil is approximately 150 mm and of a clayey soil approximately 400 mm (Shalhevet, 1994). Thus, annual rainfall of 300 mm (an amount comparable to 2 pore volumes of the sandy soil, but only some of the salt in the clay soil (Shalhevet, 1994).

Another important factor that can control the salt-leaching efficiency of rainfall is the rainfall distribution throughout the vear: for example, many rainstorms with small amounts of rain and long dry periods between them can show diminished saltleaching efficiency. These factors are not considered by the steady-state models, but are considered by the dynamic models for LR estimation (Shalhevet, 1994). A simulation model (Isidoro and Grattan, 2011) showed that salt leaching from the root zone is more effective under concentrated rainfall during the winter season (pre-season leaching) than under rainfall distributed throughout the year (mid-season leaching). Using the MOPECO-Salt model, which was validated in an experiment with onion carried out in Albacete, Spain, Dominguez et al. (2011) showed that the pre-season leaching strategy reduces the amount of irrigation water required by 14%. Pre-season leaching was also shown to be preferable to mid-season leaching under shallow groundwater conditions (Forkutsa et al., 2009). Pre-season leaching reduced the irrigation amount needed for salt leaching, consequently preventing the development of secondary salinization.

Although high-quality water is recommended for salt leaching during the irrigation season, it can also be achieved with saline water (Ahmed et al., 2007). It is generally accepted that increasing the quantity of irrigation water, in the case of saline water, may at least partially offset the negative effects of salinity (Russo et al., 2009). Under conditions of extreme water scarcity, determining the tradeoff between allocating water for leaching vs. crop production becomes critical. A non-linear optimization model to determine the impact of declining water quality on economic efficiency of irrigation was developed by Matthews et al. (2010). In that model, salinity of the soil solution, crop yield production, and leaching functions were used to indicate the interactions involved in water-allocation decisions. The model showed that under limited water availability in terms of time and location, it is more profitable to reduce the irrigated area, and allocate water for leaching (Matthews et al., 2010).

Another irrigation strategy to overcome salinity problems is switching the irrigation water from good-quality water to saline water or vice versa during the growing season. Yadav et al. (2004) found that irrigation of some forage crops with drainage water at EC values ranging from 3.6 to 7.4 dS m⁻¹ decreased the yields by 35 to 85% of those obtained under irrigation with good-quality (canal) water. However, irrigation with the canal water during crop's establishment, and then switching to irrigation with drainage water, led to significantly higher yields for all of the studied crops than irrigation with only the drainage water from the begining of the growing season (Yadav et al., 2004). An additional approach to overcoming salinity problems is blending available waters of different qualities to achieve acceptable water quality for a given crop (Mostafazadeh-Fard et al., 2009). Wang et al. (2007) concluded, on the basis of 49 irrigation schemes (7 salinity concentrations and 7 irrigation schemes) for wheat and cotton, that if the irrigation water salinity is higher than 7.0 g L^{-1} only fresh water should be used, whereas if it is lower than 3.0 g L^{-1} this source can be used for irrigation; if the salt concentration lies somewhere between these values, the two sources should be mixed.

A considerable number of studies, mostly based on models, have been conducted to develop proper irrigation management to overcome salinity hazards (e.g., Feng et al., 2003; Sepaskhah et al., 2006; Shani et al., 2007; Mandare et al., 2008). Feng et al. (2003) developed a model (ENVIRO-GRO) that estimated the relative yields of maize irrigated by water of various salinity levels (1.7 to 10.2 dS m^{-1}) and irrigation intervals. Verification of this model in a field experiment indicated (i) good agreement between the model's simulated runs and the field measurements for all salinity levels and irrigation intervals, and (ii) that the model considered the osmotic and matric stresses in the field under salinity conditions correctly. Sepaskhah et al. (2006) developed a model to determine the yields of sugarbeet, winter wheat and maize under various irrigation frequencies, salinity levels, and LF values. This model was calibrated and validated with data obtained from field experiments in a semi-arid region, and was found to be an efficient tool for determining proper irrigation management with water at different salinity levels.

A model named Soil, Water, Atmosphere, Plant (SWAP) simulated the effects of irrigation with different amounts of goodquality water from a canal (average EC of 0.5 dS m^{-1}) and saline groundwater with EC values fluctuating between 1.7 and 9.8 dS m^{-1} on soil salinity and yields of wheat grown from November until April and rice grown from June until October (Mandare et al., 2008). The model could be used as a guideline for improving irrigation management with saline water so as to maintain the soil salinity below a threshold level which maintains high crop yield. Steppuhn et al. (2005) studied the relationships between average root-zone salinity and wheat yield in a field experiment conducted in Canada's Salt Tolerance Testing Facility, and found that Eq. [3] best describes them:

$$Y_r = \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{C}{C_{50}}\right)^{\exp(sC_{50})}}$$
[3]

where, Y_r is the relative yield of crop when the yield under nonsaline condition is defined as 1.0, C is the EC (dS m^{-1}) in saturated soil paste extract of the root zone, C_{50} defines C at Y_r = 0.5, and s is the absolute value of general decline in Y_r with salinity at and near C_{50} .

Crop production functions for wheat grown under saline conditions were obtained by pot experiments in the greenhouse in North Golestan Province, Iran (Kiani and Abbasi, 2009). The wheat was irrigated with four different amounts of water, ranging from 50% to 125% of the crop water requirement, and four levels of salinity ranging from 1.5 to 14.2 dS m^{-1} (Kiani and Abbasi, 2009). In this experiment, wheat yield responded more markedly to the reduction in matric potential than to that in osmotic potential, with dynamic functions best predicting wheat yield under the experimental conditions. An analytical model based on a more general mechanism and that integrates crop yield, anount of irrigation water, soil type, and salinity was developed by Shani et al. (2007). They claimed, for instance, that in the arid zone of the Arava region, Israel, where irrigation water salinity is around 3 dS m^{-1} and a drip system is used, the maximum potential yield of bell pepper at any LF value is 70% of its maximum potential yield under irrigation with fresh water.

Use of advanced irrigation technology is another important means of mitigating the salinity problem in agricultural fields. With surface and sprinkler irrigation systems, the applied water covers the entire soil surface of the cultivated field, and therefore salt leaching below the root zone occurs throughout the entire field. In contrast, with drip irrigation, only part of the field is wetted, and the salts are leached from the wet soil volume adjacent to the emitters, where nearly all of the roots are located. In this case, the salts accumulate at the periphery of the wet zone. Consequently, in drip irrigation, the plant roots exist mostly in the soil volume with relatively low salinity level, so salt leaching from the entire cultivated field during the irrigation season is not needed. However, prior to the following growing season, salt leaching below the root zone should be conducted in the entire field, due to the shift in the plants' location in the field every growing season. Several studies (e.g., Wan et al., 2007; Malash et al., 2008; Romic et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009) have indicated the advantages of a drip irrigation system under saline conditions. In a field experiment with sunflowers irrigated with saline water (6.7 to 10.9 dS m⁻¹) using a drip system, Chen et al. (2009) found a yield decrease of 18% for every 1 dS m^{-1} increase in the irrigation water, when the soil matrix potential underneath the dripper was above -20 kPa. In another threeyear field experiment conducted in the North China Plains with tomato irrigated with a drip system, irrigation with water at EC < 4.9 dS m⁻¹ had an insignificant effect on fruit yield (Wan et al., 2007).

In a field experiment conducted in Shibin El Kam, Egypt, Malash et al. (2008) compared growth parameters such as plant dry weight, leaf area index, water use efficiency (WUE), total yield, and fruit weight, of tomatoes that were irrigated with drip



(b)

I LSD

I LSD

3.0

4.5

caf area index

Yield (kg)

4

2

3 (d)

0.5

leaf area index (b), water use efficiency (c), fruit yield per plant (d) and average fruit weight (e) of tomato plants irrigated with drainage water at salinity levels of 0.5, 3.0, and 4.5 dS m^{-1} . LSD = least significant difference between means at $\alpha = 0.05$ (following Malash *et al.*, 2008).

or furrow irrigation systems and water of 0.5, 3.0 and 4.5 dS m^{-1} . The authors found that all of the measured crop parameters were higher under drip than furrow irrigation for all water qualities (Figure 1). In a field experiment conducted in Nereteva River Valley in South Croatia, Romic et al. (2008) compared the yields of watermelons irrigated by drip or sprinkler irrigation systems, when the salinity levels of the irrigation water were 1, 3, 5, or 7 dS m⁻¹. They found that irrigation with water of 3 dS m⁻¹ causes mortality of the plants under sprinkler irrigation, whereas with drip irrigation, there was a significant reduction in fruit yield only at EC >3.0 dS m^{-1} (Figure 2).

Applying water and nutrients at a rate close to that of plant uptake by high-frequency or pulsed drip irrigation enhances the growth and production of irrigated plants (Silber et al., 2003).



FIG. 2. Effects of irrigation systems (sprinkler and drip) on marketable yield of watermelon under different salinity levels of irrigation water (following Romic et al., 2008).

In contrast, Assouline et al. (2006) studied the effects of drip irrigation of bell pepper with saline water (4.2 dS m^{-1}) at daily or high frequency (pulsed irrigation), on the response of the soilplant system. Salinity in the root zone and chloride content in the pepper leaves were higher under pulsed vs. daily irrigation, probably because the latter was more efficiant at removing salts from the root zone soil than the former.

Primer and Companion Plants 2.

Another attractive approach for reducing salt content in the root zone is growing salt-tolerant plants either prior (primer plants) or simultaneously (companion plants) with agricultural crops. The idea behind this approach is that both primer and companion plants take up significant quantities of salt from soil solution, thereby reducing the salt content in the soil, and consequently establish a less saline environment in the root zone for the more sensitive agricultural crops (Colla et al., 2006; Nuttall et al., 2008). Nuttall et al. (2008) tested birdsfoot trefoil (Lotus corniculatus), canola, lucerne, safflower, sulla, and tall wheatgrass as primer plants prior to wheat planting, and found birdsfoot trefoil to be the best primer plant, resulting in the highest wheat yield. This indicated that the roots of the birdsfoot trefoil plant reduce the salinity levels in the root zone, which, in turn, allows proper growth of the wheat. Colla et al. (2006) studied the effect of Salsola soda as a companion plant to pepper growing in a greenhouse under saline conditions of 4.0 or 7.8 dS m^{-1} in the substrate solution. They found that under relatively low saline conditions (4.0 dS m^{-1}), the companion plant decreases the EC of the substrate solution by 45%, as well as the Na and Cl content in the pepper leaves. The total pepper biomass was significantly increased (by 22%), the fruit yield by 26%, and the mean fruit weight by 32% as compared to pepper grown without companion plants. However, under high saline conditions (7.8 dS m^{-1}), the S. soda companion plant had no effect on the yield of the tested pepper plant or on leaf Na or Cl contents. These results suggested that the companion plant approach is useful for relatively low soil EC levels ($<4.0 \text{ dS m}^{-1}$). It should, however, be noted that when primer or companion plants are used in cultivated area, more water is needed per area for their demand.

3. Soil Mulching and Water Treatments

Covering the soil surface, mainly with plastic sheet or mulch, has been suggested to reduce the adverse effects of salinity, particularly in row crops (e.g., da Costa et al., 2008; Dong et al., 2008; Saeed and Ahmad, 2009; Bezborodov et al., 2010). The mulching is designed to reduce evaporation from the soil surface, and thus decreases salt accumulation in the upper soil layer. However, the interaction between salinity and mulching on plant performance is not always straightforward. The mulch may simply reduce the evaporation regardless of salinity, and thereby increase water availability, which, in turn, improves plant productivity. Only a few studies have attributed the effects of soil cover on plant production to its direct effect on

300 ^(a)

200

100

60 (c)

40

20

weight (g) Plant dry

efficiency (g L^{-1})

Water use

[LSD

I LSD

salinity. Mulching with plastic layers or wheat straw was tested in cotton, as a representative crop, by Dong et al. (2008) and Bezborodov et al. (2010). In those studies, the cover treatments increased lint yield by 25% (Dong et al., 2008) and by 800 kg ha⁻¹ (Bezborodov *et al.*, 2010) as compared to the non-mulched treatment. Dong et al. (2008, 2009) indicated that soil mulching under saline conditions decreases Na accumulation in the root and leaf tissues of cotton plants and inhibits lipid oxidation and malondialdehyde (MDA) activity, leading to an increase in net photosynthesis and biomass production of the cotton. Dong et al. (2009) showed additional improvement by the mulching technique when the cotton sowing was delayed to late spring, and the mulch was applied about 30 days prior to sowing. This treatment led to the additional contribution by increasing stand establishment, plant biomass, and lint yield as compared to conventional mulching technique, and was effective mainly under high-salinity conditions.

The effects of the amount of straw for mulching on yield and biomass production under saline conditions were studied for tomato by Saeed and Ahmad (2009), for amaranth by da Costa *et al.* (2008), and for maize by Pang *et al.* (2010). The latter authors compared the effects of various amounts of straw (4.5 to 30.0 Mg ha⁻¹) on maize irrigated with brackish water in which salt concentrations fluctuated between 3.0 and 5.0 g L⁻¹ or with good quality water containing 1.27 g L⁻¹ salts. In that study, the average salt concentration in the soil solution in the 0–20 and 20–40 cm soil layers was lower by 10.2% and 14.0%, respectively, for all mulch treatments as compared with the nonmulched treatment, and maize yield increased with increasing quantities of mulch. It was found, however, that except for a short period of time, there was no correlation between the amounts of mulch and salt concentration in the upper soil layer.

The effectiveness of different mulching types—gravel, rice straw and pine needles—in improving crop yield of Swiss chard and water saving under irrigation with saline water of 7.4 dS m⁻¹ was investigated by Zhang *et al.* (2008). These types of mulch significantly reduced evapotranspiration and salt accumulation in the top soil layer, improved the biomass production of Swiss chard, and increased the WUE in the order: gravel > pine needles > rice straw > no mulch.

Treating the irrigation water prior to its application could also reduce the adverse effects of salinity. However, only a few studies have been explored the effects of this treatment on alleviation of salinity hazards. Aeration and magnetic treatments of the water prior to its application by subsurface drip irrigation were mainly tested. In tomato plants grown in saline and sodic clay soil and irrigated by subsurface drip irrigation, Bhattarai *et al.* (2006) found that enrichment of the irrigation water with 12% (v/v) oxygen increases shoot growth, fruit yield, mean fruit weight, fruit dry matter content, chlorophyll content, and WUE. In a pot experiment with soybean grown under saline conditions (2 to 20 dS m⁻¹ in the saturated soil paste extract), Bhattarai and Midmore (2009) found that enrichment of the water with up to 12% oxygen prior to irrigation increases the relative water content in leaves, photosynthetic rate, biomass production, plant height, and stem diameter. Bhattarai and Midmore (2009) and Bhattarai *et al.* (2006) indicated that the beneficial effect of aeration of the irrigation water resulted from improved aeration conditions in the root zone of the saline and sodic clay soil which, in turn, enhanced plant performance.

A magnetic treatment of saline and recycled water prior to irrigation of celery, snow peas and peas slightly increases the yield and biomass production per unit water application, for celery and snow peas, as compared to irrigation with untreated water (Maheshwari and Grewal, 2009). However, it was not clear if these findings were connected to the salinity. Therefore, more studies on this issue are required for further verification and interpretation of this phenomenon.

B. Fertilizer Application to the Root Zone

Significant interactions between fertilization and salinity related to plant growth and production have been documented in many studies (e.g., Neves-Piestum and Bernstein, 2005; Cuin *et al.*, 2008; Edelstein *et al.*, 2009; Jafari *et al.*, 2009; Sharif and Khan, 2009; Chen *et al.*, 2010; Fageira *et al.*, 2011). These interactions for each specific nutrient and application to the root zone are reviewed and discussed in the following sections, while their foliar application is discussed in Section IV.F.

1. Potassium (K)

Potassium fertilizers are probably the most common fertilizers used to improve plant performance under saline conditions. The benefit of K fertilizer has been shown for various crops, including potato (Elkhatib *et al.*, 2004), lettuce (Ucar *et al.*, 2007), barley (Endris and Mohammed, 2007), strawberry (Khayyat *et al.*, 2009a, 2009b), pepper (Rubio *et al.*, 2009, endive (Tzortzakis, 2010), and sugarcane (Ashraf *et al.*, 2009, 2012). Figure 3 shows this effect for sugarcane.

The effect of K fertilizer has been assessed under different K concentrations (0 to 400 mg L⁻¹) and salinity levels (30 to \sim 130 mM) in the nutrient solution and under various environmental conditions. An increase in K concentration in the growing medium under saline conditions was shown to have the following beneficial effects on different crops: leaf length and surface diameter of lettuce were increased when K concentration in the growing medium ranged from 50 to 70 mg kg⁻¹ (Ucar *et al.*, 2007); the harmful effects of NaCl on gas exchange and leaf area in strawberry were hampered (Khayyat et al., 2009a, 2009b); potato tuber yield was increased by addition of K to saline irrigation water (Elkhatib et al., 2004); number of tillers and kernels per spike and yield of barley were increased by addition of K to the saline irrigated water (Endris and Mohammed, 2007); the negative effects of salt on barley photosynthesis decreased when the K concentration in the growing medium increased (Degl'Innocenti et al., 2009). Other studies, however, found that in tomato (Yurtseven et al., 2005) and in some species of barley (Hafsi et al., 2007; Degl'Innocenti et al., 2009), the negative FIG. 3. Effects of adding 120 kg ha⁻¹ K as K₂O (K) or no addition (control) on plant yield (a), number of canes per plant (b), plant height (c), internode distance (d), and leaf contents of K (e) and Na (f) in salt-sensitive and salttolerant sugarcane plants grown in saline soil with 10 to11.4 dS m⁻¹ in the saturated soil paste extract. Columns with different letters in each subfigure indicate significant difference at $\alpha = 0.05$ according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test (following Ashraf et al., 2009).

(b)

6

4

 $_{20_1}(d)$

16

8

₆₀₁(f)

40

້ ຜູ້ ພັ ມີ 20

Control

h

Tolerant

cultivar

*Ш*К

b

Sensitive

cultivar

Number of canes

Internode distance

Na content

(cm) 12-

b

b

Tolerant

cultivar

per plant

effects of salinity on yield and plant growth are not prevented by an increase in K concentration in the growing medium.

Potassium may counteract the deleterious effects of Na by lowering Na uptake through root cells, which, in turn, improves the K/Na ratio in leaves, fruits or tuber cells of the fertilized plants (Hafsi et al., 2007; Cuin et al., 2008; Degl'Innocenti et al., 2009; Ashraf et al., 2012). Ashraf et al. (2012), studying the response of sugarcane to NaCl (0, 100, 130 and 160 mM), suggested that the added K reduces the uptake of Na and its accumulation in plant tissues and consequently improves plant growth, yield and quality. Cuin et al. (2008) even suggested using the parameter of salinity-induced K flux in plants as a marker for breeding programs. In a later study, Cuin et al. (2010) indicated that two parameters, namely shoot-sap K concentration and chlorophyll content, should be used as tools for breeding salinity-tolerant plants.

Application of K as K₂SO₄ was shown to be preferable to its application as KCl. Ruan et al. (2007) found that application of K₂SO₄ increases the concentrations of amino acids in young shoots of tea plants, leading to improved yield quality. In contrast, chloride application reduced the yield of young shoots of tea plants and caused leaf damage. Fan et al. (2011) showed that 16 mM K as K₂SO₄ added to the nutrient solution containing 150 mM NaCl increased leaf growth and soluble sugars and proline concentration of tomato plants, resulting in their enhanced salt-adaptive capacity. In contrast, when 30 mM K was applied, soluble sugar concentration decreased,

accompanied by a sharp increment in upper-leaf K concentration caused by the excessive K concentration in the nutrient solution.

2. Calcium (Ca)

Application of Ca fertilizers to plants under saline conditions could diminish the negative effects of salinity on plant growth, yield and fruit quality (e.g., Maeda et al 2005; Saleh et al., 2005; Bolat et al., 2006; Jaleel et al., 2007; Tuna et al., 2007a; Jafari et al., 2009; Rubio et al., 2009; Sima et al., 2009; Vaghela et al., 2010). Rubio et al. (2009) found that application of elevated Ca to tomato and pepper plants under saline conditions significantly reduces blossom end rot and enhances other fruit-quality parameters, leading to a significant increase in marketable fruit yield. Vaghela et al. (2010) found that under saline conditions, Ca application prevents the decrease in germination and growth of young seedling of Salvadora persica L., enhances N, P, and K uptake, and decreases Na accumulation in the leaves of the treated plants. Studies at the cellular level indicated that application of 2 mM Ca to nutrient solution containing 80 mM NaCl modulates the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the expansion zone of leaf 4 in 14-day-old seedlings of maize, resulting in improved cellular expansion of the seedlings (Shoresh et al., 2011). Addition of 10 mM CaCl₂ to culture media containing 100 mM NaCl enhanced the exclusion of Na and resulted in improved growth of tobacco plants (Naeda et al., 2005). Jafari et al. (2009) found that combined application of Ca and K to sorghum plants grown under saline conditions partially eliminates the negative salt effects, and ameliorates plant growth and morphological traits.

It is interesting that an elevation in external Ca concentration improves plant growth and physiological activity, even at the very low external Ca/Na ratios of 1:10 to 1:150 (Tuna et al., 2007a; Sima et al., 2009). This indicates that Ca absorption by the plant is an active process, and not just a competition between ions. Several mechanisms have been suggested as responsible for the alleviation of salinity damage by Ca application in the growing media:

- i. Supplemental Ca, mostly as CaSO₄, was found to specifically affect membrane permeability, leading to higher concentrations of Ca, K, and N, and a lower concentration of Na in the leaf cells (Naeda et al., 2005; Bolat et al., 2006; Tuna et al., 2007a; Sima et al., 2009).
- ii. Elevated Ca concentration in the growth medium increased the accumulation of glycine betaine (GB) and proline in leaves of several plant species and plant callus, contributing to osmotic adjustment of the treated plants (Murugan and Sathish, 2005; Sima et al., 2009).
- iii. Increased Ca in the leaves (Jaleel et al., 2007) and growing leaf tissues (Shoresh et al., 2011) modulated the activity of antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (POX), and catalase (CAT), leading to increased protection of cells in the treated plants.



Plant yield

Plant height

K content

(mg g⁻¹) 40

30

20 10

(cm) 100

(Mg ha⁻¹)

(a)

(c)

(e) 50-

Sensitive

cultivar

60

40

20

200

150-

50

3. Nitrogen (*N*)

Studies on possible interactions between salinity and N fertilization have focused mainly on establishing optimal N application under saline conditions, rather than on its direct prevention of salinity hazards. Nutrient uptake in saline soils might be low due to high concentrations of cations and anions which might compete with the uptake of nutrient ions (Fageria et al., 2011). For example, Chen et al. (2010) found that N content in cotton plant tissues increases when N fertilization is increased under medium salinity levels (2.4 to 7.7 dS m⁻¹), but is not influenced at the high salinity level of 12.5 dS m⁻¹. Nadian *et al.* (2012) showed that the negative effect of salinity (4 to 8 dS m^{-1} in the irrigation water) on sugarcane yield and root growth is partially alleviated when the rate of N fertilizer is increased from 200 to 400 kg ha⁻¹. However, the higher rate of N fertilizer also improved K uptake and increased leaf proline content. In other study, Garg et al. (2006) found that increased N application, up to a rate of 60 kg ha^{-1} , to Indian mustard plants irrigated with saline water (2-10 dS m⁻¹) increased shoot concentrations of N, P and K and decreased Na concentration. The plants also displayed higher photosynthetic rates and more efficient N metabolism resulting in improved plant growth and seed yield. Similar findings were shown in a pot experiment with Brassica juncea grown in washed sand containing N in the range of 0-120 mg kg⁻¹ and irrigated with saline water (90 mM NaCl) (Siddiqui et al., 2010). It was found in this experiment that the increase in N levels enhanced stomatal conductance and chlorophyll, malondialdehyde, and water content in the plant tissues. Similar results were found with chickpeas grown in a recycled nutrient solution, when increasing nitrate level up to 11 or 18 mM NaNO₃ at salinity levels of 12 or 36 mM NaCl increased the chickpeas yield (Tavori et al., 2004). Edelstein et al. (2009) studied the interaction between fertilization and salinity (1 to 6 dS m^{-1} in the irrigation water) on foliage biomass of vetiver (Vetiveria zizanioides) grown in pots in a heated greenhouse. They found a significant, negative linear regression (Y =1.6 - 0.08X, $r^2 = 0.6$) between soluble NO₃⁻ and soluble Cl⁻ concentrations in the plant foliage (Figure 4), indicating that increasing NO₃ fertilization can decrease the uptake of Cl by the plant. This decrease was most likely the result of competition



FIG. 4. Relationships between soluble N-NO₃ and Cl⁻ concentrations in vetiver foliage including regression line and equation (following Edelstein *et al.*, 2009).

between the NO₃⁻ and Cl⁻ anions for their uptake by the plant roots (Edelstein *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, Esmaili *et al.* (2008) recommended a lower level of N fertilizer (114 kg ha⁻¹) for sorghum grown under a salinity of 8 dS m⁻¹ in the irrigation water, in contrast to 160 kg ha⁻¹ which had resulted in maximal fresh and dry weight under non-saline conditions (0.6 dS m⁻¹). Barhoumi *et al.* (2010) found that in some forage grasses, a combination of high salinity and low N availability is the major limiting factor for plant growth and production. Thus, species with high and moderate salt-tolerance benefit from an increase in N supply at moderate salt levels, whereas salt-sensitive species did not.

Some studies (e.g., Nathawat et al. 2007; Ashraf et al., 2008c; Chen et al., 2010; Bybordi, 2011) have indicated that application of some chemical forms of N can reduce the adverse effects of salinity better than others. Nathawat et al. (2007) found that under saline conditions of 12 dS m^{-1} in the soil solution, application of N as NO₃⁻ to Brassica juncea cv. RH30 decreases the adverse effects of salinity on plant growth and net assimilation rates. Ashraf et al. (2008c) recommended using calcium-ammonium-nitrate (CAN) as an N fertilizer for sugarcane growth in saline soils. CAN application enhanced N, P, and K uptake and reduced Na accumulation in the leaves which, in turn, increased cane length and diameter, number of tillers, cane yield and sugar recovery (Ashraf et al., 2008c). The effect of the ratio of ammonium to nitrate on alleviation of salinity damage of different tomato hybrids was studied by Ben-Oliel et al. (2004). They showed that application of 1 mM ammonium and 7 mM nitrate to constantly flowing nutrient solution containing 45 mM NaCl results in minimizing salinity effects on fruit yield.

The stage of irrigation at which N fertilizer should be applied under salinity conditions was studied by Hou *et al.* (2009). They found that application of N fertilizer to cotton grown under saline conditions (2.5–10.8 dS m⁻¹ of the saturated soil paste extract) at the beginning of the irrigation cycle enhances N uptake, N-15 recovery and cotton seed yield. Application at later stages resulted in lower yield and higher potential losses of N from the root zone.

4. Phosphorus (P)

The possible ameliorative effects of P fertilization on salinity damage in plants have been less studied than those of other nutrients. Madueno-Molina *et al.* (2008) found that under highsaline conditions (100 mM NaCl in the growing medium), increasing P concentration in the nutrient solution from 4 to 8 meq L⁻¹ enhances the growth of all organs of frijolillo (*Rhynchosia minima* L.). The increased P concentration augmented the osmotic adjustment of the frijolillo plants, in turn increasing their biomass production (Madueno-Molina *et al.*, 2008). Cimrin *et al.* (2010) found that in pepper plants grown under saline conditions (8 mM NaCl in the growing medium), application of P at levels between 50 and 150 mg kg⁻¹ to the growing medium increases plant growth and yield. In a field trial with alfalfa irrigated with water containing 6.25 dS m⁻¹ (El-Nakhlawy *et al.*, 2012), P fertilization reduced the adverse effect of salinity stress on alfalfa yield in 36 cuts performed over three years, whereas P fertilization had no beneficial effect under irrigation with saline water at 12.5 dS m⁻¹. An interaction between salinity and P application was also found for radish plants (de Oliveira *et al.*, 2010). Increasing doses of applied P to 400 mg L⁻¹ in irrigation water reduced the sensitivity of radish to salinity up to a level of 3.5 dS m⁻¹, resulting in increased leaf area and fresh and dry weight of roots. Since salinity reduces the transport of P in the plant (Martinez *et al.*, 1996), improved P nutrition may overcome the salinity restrictive effects by increasing P availiability in the plant tissues.

5. Sulfur (S)

Sulfur nutrition has also been shown to reduce the adverse effects of salinity (Nazar et al., 2010). One of the functions of S in plants is the synthesis of cysteine, which is the final product of the sulfate reduction. Cysteine is a precursor or S donor for most organic S compounds, of which glutathione is probably the most important, as it is correlated with salinity tolerance and functions in the detoxification of ROS produced under salinity (Kocsy et al., 2004; Nazar et al., 2010). Supplementary S fertilization of brassica and legume crops enhanced stress-defense mechanisms under abiotic stress conditions including salinity (Rausch and Wachter, 2005). Increased levels of S, up to 75 kg ha⁻¹, applied to field-grown wheat in a saline-sodic soil (EC 5.65 dS m^{-1} , pH 8.57, and sodium adsorption ratio 17.4 in saturated soil pate exracte) improved grain yield and yield component, the content of Ca and K in grains was significantly increased and that of Na was decreased, and the yield obtained with 75 kg ha⁻¹ of S was 43% higher than the control without added S (Arshadullah et al., 2011).

6. Micronutrients

Fertilization with micronutrients could increase salttolerance in plants. For example, Zn reduced excess uptake of Na by pepper plants under saline conditions, probably by affecting the structural integrity and controlling the permeability of the root cell membrane (Aktas et al., 2006). In this case, the Na content in the pepper shoot decreased, while K content increased. Symptoms of blossom end rot in pepper fruits were found when plants were grown in a recycling nutrient solution system at EC between 3.2 and 7.0 dS m⁻¹, and were associated with the production of apoplast ROS and increased NAD(P)H oxidase activity (Aktas et al., 2005; Bernstein et al., 2005). Infiltration of Mn and Zn at concentrations of 5 mM into the fruit pericarp was shown to alleviate cellular symptoms caused by salinity (200 mM NaCl) and thus improve fruit quality. Wahid et al. (2009) found that in salt-sensitive varieties of sugarcane, the micronutrient content in the shoots and roots of plants decreases under saline conditions, and that this decline is highly correlated with a decrease in the plants' dry biomass. Therefore, Wahid et al. (2009) suggested that increasing micronutrient application in saline soils would enhance crop yield.

7. Biofertilizers and Manures

Biofertilizers, such as Nitrobein which contains species of the N-fixing bacteria Azospirillum and Azotobacter, and Phosphorine which contains the P-dissolving bacterium Bacillus megatherium var. phosphaticum, interact with salinity (e.g., Hasaneen et al., 2009; Younis et al., 2009b). Hasaneen et al. (2009) found that addition of Phosphorine to saline soils at levels between 4 and 10 dS m^{-1} induces a significant increase in all growth and reproductive parameters of lettuce, while addition of Nitrobein causes a slight decrease in these parameters. Younis et al. (2009b) studied the physiological mechanism responsible for this phenomenon, and found that photosystem II (PSII) activity and photosynthetic pigment and carbohydrate contents are increased by Phosphorine. These authors also found that application of Phosphorine and Nitrobein increases proline and glycine contents in lettuce leaves and that of several antioxidants in other plants exposed to salinity. However, no explanation was given for these phenomena, and therefore, further study of this matter is required.

Another way to add nutrients to cultivated soils is through the application of organic manures. However, some organic manure, such as poultry manure, could contain high concentrations of soluble salts, and their addition to the soil under saline conditions may aggravate the adverse effects of salinity on plant growth and yield. There are, however some organic manures that can be used as a source of nutrients without increasing the salt concentration in the soil solution. For example, Ahmed *et al.* (2010) found that adding farmyard manure to sand dune growth medium increases the dry matter production of wheat plants by 76% and 21% under salinity levels of 2.0 and 0.11 dS m⁻¹, respectively, in the growing media. These authors indicated that farmyard manure is a suitable nutrient source under saline conditions due to its relatively low content of soluble salts.

Application of composted municipal solid waste in a field with *Hordeum marinum* L. mitigates the adverse effects of irrigation with saline water of \sim 70 mM NaCl, and enhances the biomass production of the plants by 21% (Lakhdar *et al.*, 2008). This was a result of improvements in chlorophyll and Rubisco activity and protein contents in the plant tissues after addition of the compost. Application of humic acid was also found to dampen the deleterious effects of salt stress in pepper plants exposed to salinity, as it decreased the Na content in the shoots and roots and increased N, P, K, Ca, Mg, S, Mn and Cu contents in the shoots of the plants, consequently enhancing plant production (Cimrin *et al.*, 2010).

C. Application of Non-Nutritional Additives

A main element that is not essential for plant nutrition but is mostly applied to the root system to mitigate abiotic stresses, such as salinity, is silicon (Si). The mitigation of salinity hazard by Si has been outlined for a series of crops, such as rice, wheat, barley, cucumber, tomato and mesquite (Liang *et al.*, 2007). The beneficial effects of Si on growth, chlorophyll content, membrane stability and leaf relative water content (RWC) in



FIG. 5. Shoot (a) and root (b) dry weights, chlorophyll (c) and relative water (d) contents, and electrolyte leakage (e) in wheat cultivar Gediz-75 grown in low-salt nutrient solution (control) or in nutrient solution containing 100 mM NaCl (NaCl) and three Si applications: 0 (+0), 0.25 (+0.25Si) and 0.50 (+0.5Si) mM. Columns with different letters in each subfigure differ significantly at $\alpha = 0.05$ according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test (following Tuna *et al.*, 2008a).

wheat plants (cultivar Gediz-75) grown under saline and nonsaline conditions are demonstrated in Figure 5. Epstein (1994) was one of the first to document the benefit of Si in alleviating abiotic stresses, mainly in Gramineae species. Following that publication, a large number of studies (e.g., Liang *et al.*, 2007; Savvas *et al.*, 2007; Eraslan *et al.*, 2008; Ashraf *et al.*, 2009; Chai *et al.*, 2010) were published and confirmed Epstein's (1994) findings. In most of those studies, the Si was applied as calcium silicate or as sodium metasilicate to the nutrient solutions at concentrations of <4 mM, and the beneficial effects of Si were studied under various salinity levels ranging from 35 to 150 mM NaC1 in the nutrient solution or up to 12 dS m⁻¹ in the soil solution.

Silicon uptake by the root system and its transport through the plant were found to be active processes in Gramineae plants, mainly rice and wheat (Liang *et al.*, 2007), and passive processes in dicotyledonous plants (Liang *et al.*, 2007), roses (Savvas *et al.*, 2007), spinach (Eraslan *et al.*, 2008), zucchini (Savvas *et al.*, 2009), soybean (Lee *et al.*, 2010), *Poa pratensis* (Chai *et al.*, 2010), canola (Hashemi *et al.*, 2010), *Poa pratensis* (Chai *et al.*, 2009). Tahir *et al.* (2006, 2010) claimed, however, that Si improves growth and grain production of wheat plants, even under non-saline conditions, suggesting that Si is not a true salinity-ameliorating substance. Conversely, in a later publication, Tahir *et al.* (2011) showed that adding 2 mM Si to a nutrient solution increases plant growth by 75% under saline



FIG. 6. Regression lines and equations between the K/Na ratios and Si contents in the foliage tissues of wheat irrigated with water containing 1.2 dS m^{-1} (non-saline conditions) and 11.9 dS m^{-1} (saline conditions) (following Tahir *et al.*, 2011).

conditions of 60 mM NaCl in the growing solution and by only 15% under non-saline conditions.

Although the mechanism underlying Si amelioration of plant growth under salinity is not fully understood, it has been claimed to be due to the restriction of uptake and/or transport of Na and Cl to young leaves, as was found in barley (Liang, 1999; Savvas et al., 2007, 2009; Ashraf et al., 2009). This claim was further verified in wheat plants by Tuna et al. (2008a), Chai et al. (2010), and Tahir et al. (2010) who showed that Si reduces Na uptake by root systems and its transport to shoots. Moreover, Tahir et al. (2011) found that increasing Si application increases K content in the tissue of wheat plants grown under saline conditions of 11.9 dS m^{-1} in the nutrient solution, leading to a significant increase in the K/Na ratio in the plant tissues, while this ratio was less affected under non-saline conditions (Figure 6). Tuna et al. (2008a) indicated that for wheat grown under saline conditions and high Si concentration, an increase in Ca concentration in the nutrient solution might also contribute to wheat growth improvement. Liang et al. (2005) suggested that the increase in K⁺ uptake and transport in plants under saline stress and Si application could be attributed to Si stimulation of the root plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase. Another suggestion made by Liang et al. (2007) was that the application of Si decreases the permeability of the plasma membranes of leaf cells and improves the ultrastructure of chloroplasts under saline conditions. In other studies (Tuna et al., 2008a; Hashemi et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2010), it was found that addition of Si to wheat, canola and soybean plants grown under saline conditions increases leaf chlorophyll content. This might result in lower salinity-induced inhibition of photosynthesis. In fact, it was shown that under addition of Si, chloroplast activity enhances the photosynthetic rate, leading to improved plant growth (Savvas et al., 2009), whereas gas exchange in the leaves was hardly involved, because stomatal resistance was not affected by Si (Eraslan et al., 2008).

Another effect of Si on reduction of salinity harm is enhancement of antioxidant activity in plants. Eraslan *et al.* (2008) found that application of Si to spinach plants grown under salinity conditions increases the activities of SOD and CAT and decreases the concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and malondialdehyde, as well as lipid peroxidation. An increase in the scavenging capacity of ROS was also shown when 2 mM Si was applied to canola plants grown under salinity of 150 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution (Hashemi *et al.*, 2010). In most cases, the antioxidative activities decreased membrane damage and mediated their fluidity, thus improving membrane integrity and functionality (Zhu *et al.*, 2004; Liang *et al.*, 2005, 2007; Eraslan *et al.*, 2008).

Changes in endogenous hormones, as a result of the addition of Si, could be another mechanism responsible for alleviation of the adverse effects of NaCl on plant growth and production. Lee *et al.* (2010) found that exposure of soybean plants to salinity decreases the level of gibberellins, which are associated with plant growth, while the levels of abscisic acid (ABA) and proline increased markedly in the plant tissues.

D. Treating the Aerial Environment

Treating the aerial environment of crop plants is most feasible in closed systems, such as glass or plastic greenhouses. The main environmental factors that can be controlled are: (i) aerial CO_2 concentrations, (ii) relative humidity, (iii) incoming radiation flux intensity, and (iv) rate of air exchange (ventilation), with only the first three factors being used to alleviate salinity's adverse effects.

1. Elevated CO₂ Concentrations

Elevated aerial CO₂ concentration in the plants' aboveground environment may enhance photosynthetic efficiency and lead to decreased leaf conductance due to stomatal closure, thus improving plant water status. A general analysis of the possible amelioration of salinity's adverse effects on plants by increasing aerial CO₂ concentrations in their environment was performed by Poorter and Perez-Soba (2001). These authors calculated the biomass enhancement ratio (BER), which was defined as the ratio of total plant biomass production under elevated aerial CO₂ concentration vs. normal (non-elevated) aerial CO₂ concentration. This calculation was conducted on the basis of available data in the literature on plants grown under a controlled aerial environment and salt-stress conditions. Although it was found in some experiments that the BER increases under high-salinity conditions, indicating that salinity stress is relieved by elevation of CO₂ concentration, Poorter and Perez-Soba (2001) stated that this amelioration is not significant. Other studies presented evidence of a more substantial effect of elevated CO2 concentration on amelioration of salinity damage. Munns et al. (1999) found that an increase in aerial CO₂ concentration alleviates salinity's negative effects, but this effect was significant only at low salinity levels. On the other hand, Geissler et al. (2009a, 2009b) found that an increase in aerial CO₂ concentration significantly enhances photosynthesis and WUE of the halophytic plant Aster tripdium, even under saline levels close to that of seawater. This enhancement was attributed to mechanisms that reduce water

loss, form thicker cell walls and cuticle, and increase chlorophyll and carotenoid content and ROS-detoxification activity. Although biomass production was hardly increased, proline synthesis was enhanced and improved plant water status and survival. An increase in aerial CO₂ also led to higher expression of the enzymes responsible for more active detoxification of ROS and for a β -ATPase, which is efficient in ion transport and homeostasis (Geissler *et al.*, 2010).

An effect of elevated CO_2 concentration on antioxidant enzymes has also been found in glycophytes, such as various barley cultivars exposed to salinity levels of up to 240 mM NaCl (Perez-Lopez *et al.*, 2009a). These barley cultivars showed better osmotic adjustment against salinity under elevated CO_2 concentration due to higher rates of photosynthesis, which increased the concentrations of sugars and other osmolytes in the plant tissues (Perez-Lopes *et al.*, 2010). In that study, the osmotic adjustment was reflected by decreased dehydration due to stomatal closure, less negative plant water potential, improved turgor potential and higher WUE, as demonstrated in Figure 7. Salinity increased photochemical and biochemical limitations and thus increased non-photochemical quenching and reduced quantum



irrigation water (mM)

FIG. 7. Effect of NaCl concentration in the irrigation water on predawn (a) and midday (b) plant water potential, predawn (c) and midday (d) turgor potential, and water use efficiency (e) of barley plants (cv. Alpha) grown under aerial CO₂ concentrations of 350 and 700 μ mol CO₂ per mol air. In each line and subfigure, symbols with the same letters are not significantly different at α = 0.05 according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test (following Perez-Lopez *et al.*, 2009b).

yield of PSII. The higher CO_2 availability increased the electron sink capacity, which alleviated the salt-induced limitations on photosynthetic rate (Perez-Lopez *et al.*, 2012).

Salinity decreases the volumetric modulus of elasticity of leaf cell walls under normal aerial CO₂ concentration. Perez-Lopes *et al.* (2010) found, however, that elevation of CO₂ concentration limits this decrease, resulting in higher growth rates. Takagi *et al.* (2009) alleviated the negative salinity effects in tomato by increasing aerial CO₂ concentration: this augmented photosynthesis and assimilate transport, improved the plant water status through stomatal closure, and reduced oxidative stress, which, in turn, increased whole plant biomass production.

Some studies have indicated that elevated CO₂ concentration stimulates plant growth under saline conditions mainly via improvement of leaf water status rather than an increase in net photosynthesis. This was shown, for instance, in Spartina densiflora, a C4 halophyte exposed to salinity levels of up to 510 mM NaCl (Mateos-Naranjo et al., 2010a). In that study, net photosynthesis was not affected by elevation of CO₂ concentration from 380 to 700 mg L^{-1} , despite the fact that stomatal conductance decreased at 700 mg L⁻¹ CO₂ because phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase activity was enhanced. Mateos-Naranjo et al. (2010b) found that elevated aerial CO₂ concentrations under saline conditions also have a marked effect on photochemical activities (PSII), synthesis of photosynthetic pigments, and ratio of fluorescence to maximal fluorescence; all of these parameters increased under saline conditions when the aerial CO₂ was elevated from 380 to 700 mg L^{-1} .

Studies on the interactive effects of salinity and elevated aerial CO_2 concentration on trees are scarce. Melgar *et al.* (2008) showed that elevating CO_2 concentrations up to 700 mg L⁻¹ increases net CO_2 photosynthesis and shoot growth of young olive trees, but this phenomenon disappeared under a salinity of 100 mM NaCl in the irrigation water. In this case, accumulation of Na and Cl in leaves and roots of salt-sensitive olive cultivars declined at elevated CO_2 concentrations, but not in salt-tolerant ones.

2. Air Relative Humidity and Temperature

Increasing the humidity in the greenhouse, which reduces the rate of transpiration, could mitigate the adverse effects of salinity on growth and crop production due to a reduction of the salt uptake by the plant. Biomass production of a relatively salt-sensitive tomato cultivar grown in 80 mM NaCl in nutrient solution declined much less at 70% than at 30% relative humidity (An *et al.*, 2005). This ameliorative effect was attributed to increases in stomatal conductance, photosynthetic rate and leaf area, and a decrease in Cl accumulation in the leaves. In a study with several melon cultivars that were subjected to the same treatments as in An *et al.* (2005), An *et al.* (2002) found that: (i) Cl and Na contents in the leaves of salt-sensitive cultivars were significantly lower at 70% than at 30% relative humidity; (ii) the total biomass of the whole melon plant of the salt-sensitive cultivars increased with an increase in the relative humidity, regardless of salinity level; (iii) only root growth was enhanced in the salt-tolerant cultivars grown under saline conditions at increased relative humidity. In an experiment with tomato plants grown in a greenhouse and irrigated with saline water at an EC level of 9.5 dS m⁻¹, Li *et al.* (2001) found that fresh fruit yield increased by 8% in a treatment under low transpiration rate as compared to control plants (at high transpiration rates), but the dry matter content in fruits hardly responded to these treatments.

In a greenhouse experiment with tomato plants grown in nutrient solution containing 50 mM NaCl, Romero-Aranda *et al.* (2002) found that misting the greenhouse leads to a 1.0 to 1.5 kPa reduction in the vapor pressure deficit and a 5 to 7°C reduction in air temperature as compared to non-misted conditions. Consequently, the midday stomatal conductance and net CO_2 assimilation rates of the plants were three- to fourfold higher. The water uptake of the plants decreased by 15%, the leaf water potential became less negative, and the turgor, leaf area, dry matter production, and yield of the plants became higher under mist vs. non-mist conditions. All of these changes were, however, dependent on the availability of high-quality water for misting, because the use of saline water might do more harm than good to the crop.

Another environmental factor that can be controlled in the greenhouse is radiation intensity: shading can lower the air and plant canopy temperature. Farag *et al.* (2006) found that for cucumber plants grown under moderate saline conditions, shading the greenhouse increases growth and fruit yield. Misting the greenhouse increased cucumber yield more effectively under shading than under non-shaded conditions. Liopa-Tsakalidi (2008) found that reducing the air temperature from 18°C to 15°C markedly reduces germination inhibition of wild green vegetables grown under salinity of 40 to 80 mM NaCl in the soil solution. These salinity levels decreased the growth of roots and hypocotyls and delayed appearance of the first leaf in the wild green vegetables at 18°C. In contrast, at an air temperature of 15°C, only hypocotyl length decreased, and then only at the high salinity level of 80 mM NaCl (Liopa-Tsakalidi, 2008).

III. ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS USING BACTERIA AND MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI

A. Inoculation with Bacteria

Several studies have raised the possibility of increasing plants' salinity tolerance by inoculating the roots with salt-tolerant bacteria. These studies are based on evidence that ethylene synthesis is accelerated under salinity, which adversely affects root and whole plant growth (Saleem *et al.*, 2007; Naeem *et al.*, 2010). Jalill *et al.* (2009) found an increase in the amount of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC), a precursor of ethylene biosynthesis, in plants under salinity stress, which led to an increase in ethylene production. Ethylene production can be reduced by application of ACC-deaminase, which metabolizes ACC into α -ketobutyrate and ammonia, thereby inhibiting ethylene synthesis (Saleem *et al.*, 2007; Naeem *et al.*, 2010).

Several plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) of the genus Pseudomonas contain this enzyme, and when inoculated into plant roots may sustain plant growth under salinity (Egamberdieva and Kucharova, 2009; Jalill et al., 2009; Zahir et al., 2009; Naeem et al., 2010; Shukla et al., 2012). Pseudomonas putida and P. fluorescens alleviated salt stress in wheat, even at a saturated soil extract EC of 15 dS m⁻¹. The inoculated plants had higher K/Na ratios, relatively higher water and chlorophyll contents, and increased plant height, root length, plant biomass, and grain yield (Naeem et al., 2010). In a recent study, Shukla et al. (2012) compared six PGPR strains for their involvement in salt-stress tolerance of Arachis hypogaea grown hydroponically with 100 mM NaCl in the growing solution. Three bacterial strains—Brachybacterium saurashtrense, Brevibacterium casei and Haererohalobacter-resulted in best growth of A. hypogaea seedlings under salt stress. A higher K/Na ratio and higher Ca, P, and N contents were found in inoculated plants; shoot length and dry weight, root length and dry weight, and total biomass were all significantly higher in the inoculated plants. Inoculation of sweet pepper plants with Azospirillum brasilense and Pantoea dispersa prevented the decrease in leaf photosynthesis under 80 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution (del Amor et al., 2011). This was mainly due to higher stomatal conductance rather than an effect on biochemical limitations. The leaf Cl concentration in inoculated plants was reduced under salinity compared with control plants, and NO₃ concentration increased markedly. Higher K and Na ratios were found in inoculated plants as well.

Inoculation of artichoke plants grown in salinized nutrient solution (6.5 dS m⁻¹) and inoculated with *Bacillus subtilis* alleviated the adverse effects of salinity and increased productivity (Saleh *et al.*, 2005). In pepper plants exposed to abiotic stress, inoculation with *Arthrobacter sp.* and *Bacillus* sp. upregulated the stressed inducible genes CaACCO and CaLTPI and reduced their down-regulation (Sziderics *et al.*, 2007). Improved germination of canola seeds under salinity was also shown when the seeds were inoculated with strains of *Pseudomonas* producing ACC deaminase; seedling growth was thus enhanced (Jalill *et al.*, 2009). Dimkpa *et al.* (2009) indicated that additional mechanisms may be responsible for the reduced salinity damage to plants, such as K uptake leading to a higher K⁺/Na⁺ ratio, a decrease in Na uptake, and diminished decrease in photosynthesis.

An increase in salinity tolerance of plants by inoculating the roots with salt-tolerant bacteria has been shown for several crops, such as pea, maize, groundnut, chickpea, faba bean, lettuce, pepper, tomato (Dimkpa *et al.*, 2009; del Amor *et al.*, 2011; Shukla *et al.*, 2012)), barley (Omar *et al.*, 2009) and radish (Yildirim *et al.*, 2008b). However, the response of wheat appeared to be the most significant as both shoot and root growth were enhanced in plants exposed to 5% NaCl and inoculated with different *Pseudomonas* species (Egamberdieva and Kucharova, 2009). Moreover, plant height, grain and straw yield and 1000-grain weight were all increased (Zahir *et al.*, 2009).



FIG. 8. Plant height (a), root length (b), number of tillers (c) and spikelets per plant (d), straw yield per plant (e), and 100 grain weight (f) of wheat as a function of salinity level in the saturated soil paste extract for two treatments: inoculation of plants with *Pseudomonas putida* containing ACC deaminase (inoculated) and non-inoculated plants (control). In each subfigure, symbols with different letters differ significantly at $\alpha = 0.05$ according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test (following Zahir *et al.*, 2009).

This can also be deduced from Figure 8, showing enhancement of all parameters of growth and yield production in wheat plants inoculated with *Pseudomonas putida* and exposed to different salinity levels up to 15 dS m⁻² in pots. It is not clear whether the relationships between specific crop plants and specific bacterial species are essential, or whether any of those bacterial species would respond when inoculated on other plants. It should, however, be noted that the most effective rhizobacteria were *Pseudomonas putida* (Egamberdieva and Kucharova, 2009; Zahir *et al.*, 2009) and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (Jalill *et al.*, 2009), isolated from the rhizosphere of wheat grown in salt-affected soils.

Mitigation of salt stress by rhizobacteria may also be achieved by incubating the seeds prior to sowing in a suspension of salt-tolerant bacteria. Pretreatment of radish seeds in a suspension of *Staphylococcus kloosi* or *Kokuria erythromyxa* significantly ameliorated the deleterious effects of salinity up to 80 mM NaCl (Yildirim *et al.*, 2008a). Emergence percentage, shoot and root fresh and dry weights, leaf RWC, chlorophyll content and concentrations of nutrient elements in the plant were all increased, while electrolyte leakage was decreased.

Host plants may become tolerant to different levels of salinity depending on the extent of the inoculated rhizobacteria's salt-tolerance. Inoculation of a strain of *Azospirillum brasilense* isolated from hypersaline soil, which was able to survive up to 1800 mM NaCl, induced salinity tolerance in the host plant to high salinity levels. Omar *et al.* (2009) showed that the reduced growth and yield of barley plants exposed to 250 or 350 mM NaCl is markedly ameliorated by inoculation with *A. brasilense* from a saline medium. The improved salinity tolerance of barley was due to increased pigment content and reduced activity of antioxidant enzymes.

Inoculation of mung bean seeds in peat-based inoculum containing *Rhizobium* and L-tryptophan improved growth and increased yield under saline conditions. The combined treatment of inoculation and application of L-tryptophan resulted in a more pronounced effect than applying them separately (Zahir *et al.*, 2009).

B. Interaction of Plants with Mycorrhizal Fungi

A mycorrhiza is a symbiotic, mostly non-pathogenic association between a fungus and a vascular plant, in which the fungus colonizes the host plant roots. Mycorrhizas are divided into ectomycorrhizas (EMs), in which the hyphae of the fungi do not penetrate individual root cells, and endomycorrhizas, in which the hyphae penetrate the cells, also known as arbuscular mycorrhizas (AMs). The AM fungi are obligate fungi—they cannot grow in the absence of a host, whereas EM fungi can also grow as free-living organisms. Several mycorrhizal fungi of both groups have been shown to enhance salinity resistance in their host plants and may thus be used to improve plant growth and yield production under saline conditions.

1. Ectomycorrhizas

The alleviating effect of EMs on salt stress has been shown in herbaceous plants such as barley (Waller et al., 2005; Baltruschat et al., 2008), and in forest trees such as poplar, pine and spruce (Langenfeld-Heyser et al., 2007; Aguilar-Aguilar et al., 2009; Luo et al., 2009). The basidiomycete Piriformospora indica was found to be salt-tolerant and to induce tolerance to monocot and dicot plants (Langenfeld-Heyser et al., 2007). Studies conducted on barley as the host inoculated with this fungus showed enhanced activity of antioxidants such as dehydroascorbate reductase, and increased concentration of ascorbic acid (Waller et al., 2005). The activity of additional antioxidants such as glutathione reductase (GR), CAT, ascorbate peroxidase (APX), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) and monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) was also increased in salinity-exposed barley roots colonized by Piriformospora indica (Baltruschat et al., 2008). This resulted in attenuation of NaCl-induced lipid peroxidation, fatty acid desaturation and ultimately, increased growth of a salt-sensitive barley cultivar. Figure 9 shows the activation of these enzymes in plants inoculated with P. indica and exposed for two and four weeks to salinity. The most responsive antioxidants were DHAR, MDHAR and CAT.

The highly salt-tolerant fungus *Paxillus involutus* can attenuate detrimental salt effects on various host forest trees (Boise *et al.*, 2006; Langenfeld-Heyser *et al.*, 2007; Aguilar-Aguilar, 2009; Luo *et al.*, 2009). Roots of salt-exposed poplar (*Populus canescens*) trees colonized by the fungus showed higher accumulation of ABA and salicylic acid (SA), known as stimulators of salinity tolerance, and a decrease in auxin and jasmonic acid as compared with non-EM-colonized' roots (Luo *et al.*, 2009).



FIG. 9. Relative activities of catalase (CAT), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), dehydroascorbatereductase (DHAR) and monodehydroascorbatereductase (MDHAR) in roots of salt-sensitive barley cv. Ingrid irrigated with water containing ~0 (S-0), 100 (S-100), and 300 (S-300) mM NaCl after 2 or 4 weeks of root colonization by *Piriformosporaindica indica* (colonized) and non-colonized (control). The activity of non-colonized plants after 1 week and at S-0 salinity was defined as 1.0. LSD = least significant difference between means at $\alpha = 0.05$ (following Baltruschat *et al.*, 2008) (color figure available online).

The K/Na ratio, carbohydrate accumulation and root cell volume were also increased in EM-colonized plants. In another study (Aguilar-Aguilar *et al.*, 2009), colonization of the roots with EM also increased the concentration of osmolytes—proline, sugars and polyols, and stimulated the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes, which reduce ROS in those plants. Transcriptome analysis of salinity-exposed and EM-colonized poplar showed activation of genes related to abiotic stress response, probably leading to priming pathways that confer tolerance to salinity (Luo *et al.*, 2009).

2. Arbuscular Mycorrhizas

The symbiotic association of crop plants with AM fungi provides nutrition to the host plant, as well as increasing water uptake, resistance to pathogens, production of hormones and adaptation to environmental stresses including salinity, as described by Garg and Chandel (2010). Similar enhancement of growth was found with AMs in salinized and non-salinized Carthamus tinctorius plants (Abbaspour, 2010), indicating that it does not specifically eliminate salinity damage. However, many other studies consider it an alleviator of salinity stress, as reviewed by Heikham et al. (2009). Here we will only present additional, as well as more recent information. Since AM fungi can be associated with many plant species (Hejiden et al., 1998). their use for the alleviation of salinity stress might be relevant for many crops. Crops which have exhibited such alleviation include wheat (Daei et al., 2009; Ibrahim et al., 2011; Talaat and Shawky, 2011), corn (Sheng et al., 2008, 2009), soybean (Sharifi et al., 2007), cotton (Tian et al., 2004), tomato (Al-Karaki, 2006; Hajiboland *et al.*, 2010; Latef and He, 2011), lettuce and onion (Cantrell and Linderman, 2001), alexandrinum clover (Gharineh *et al.*, 2009), subterranean clover (Asghari, 2008), citrus (Wu and Zou, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010), grape rootstock (Belew *et al.*, 2010) and several non-crop plants such as acacia (Giri *et al.*, 2007), *Carthamus tinctorius* (Abbaspour, 2010), *Trichosanthes dioica* (Mathur *et al.*, 2010), *Tamarix, Phragmites, Sueda* and *Cirisium* (Wang *et al.*, 2004). The AM fungi used for those plants were mostly different species of *Glomus*, but also some *Acaulospora, Entrosphora*, and *Archaeospora*, or mixtures of these.

In most studies, plants were inoculated with the AM fungus shortly before or shortly after exposure of the host plants to salinity. Trichosanthes dioica transplants were inoculated with Glomus deserticola and plants were then irrigated with saline water (EC of 2.6 dS m⁻¹) until harvest. This resulted in greater shoot and root dry matter and fresh fruit yield, which were enhanced much more in plants irrigated with saline water than in those irrigated with non-saline water (Mathur et al., 2010). The fungus Glomus etunicatum was pretreated with NaCl and then the inoculum was used for the host plant which had already been exposed to salinity. For instance, soybeans inoculated with the fungus and subjected to 100 mM NaCl showed higher fresh and dry weight, root proline content, and P, K and Zn concentrations as compared to non-salt pretreatment (Sharifi et al., 2007). Talaat and Shawky (2011) also found increased N, P, K, Ca, and Mg and decreased Na uptake in mycorrhiza-inoculated wheat plants exposed to salinity obtained by adding a mixture of NaCl, CaCl₂ and Mg SO₄ to the soil (up to an ECe of 9.38 dS m^{-1}). Soluble sugars, free amino acids, and proline were accumulated, and POX and CAT activities were higher than in non-inoculated plants. The detrimental effect of salinity was thus prevented and productivity was stimulated.

Maize plants grown under salinity and inoculated with AM fungi exhibited enhanced root development and activity as compared with non-mycorrhizal plants (Sheng *et al.*, 2009). Root diameter and volume, and shoot and root mass were larger than in non-mycorrhizal plants (Sheng *et al.*, 2009). It was suggested that the coarser root system and higher activity of the mycorrhizal maize roots assist in alleviating the effects of salt stress.

Inoculation of wheat plants with AM fungi mitigated the detrimental effects of salinity (6.09 dS m⁻¹ and 10.63 dS m⁻¹) on electrolyte leakage, yield parameters and grain quality as compared to non-mycorrhized plants (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2011). The highest root colonization with AM fungi was observed at the booting stage, whereas the lowest was reported at the tillering phase. Higher root and shoot dry weight was found in mycorrhizal subterranean clover plants exposed to salinity, with the most marked difference occurring at high salinity levels (Asghari, 2008). The beneficial effects of the mycorrhizal fungi were attributed to increased P uptake during early growth stages and increased K uptake during later stages, leading to an increased K/Na ratio in the roots. A similar response of dry weights to AM was found in another clover crop plant, *Trifolium*

alexandrinum, grown under salinity (at EC of 10 dS m⁻¹), but it was still lower than under non-saline conditions (Gharineh *et al.*, 2009). Plant dry weight was found to be decreased by different salts, but the sensitivity to NaCl was considerably higher than to all other salts, and the response to mycorrhiza was highest under NaCl salinity.

The response of tomato plants inoculated with the AM fungus Glomus intraradices and grown under salinity (EC of saturated soil extract of 5 or 10 dS m⁻¹) was studied by Hajiboland *et al.* (2010). They showed a different response of the antioxidant defense system in inoculated and non-inoculated plants. The mycorrhization also counteracted the salinity-induced reduction of P, Ca and K uptake, and increased the Ca/Na and K/Na ratios. Mycorrhization also improved net assimilation rates through both elevation of stomatal conductance and protection of PSII against salinity. The response of salinity-exposed plants to AM was also studied under field conditions. AM inoculation of wheat plants irrigated with saline water (nearly 14 dS m^{-1}) increased total dry weight, grain yield and nutrient uptake, and reduced the uptake of Na and Cl, as compared with untreated plants (Daei et al., 2009). It should be noted that different wheat cultivars responded differently to various AM fungi, and it may thus be important to select the optimal combination of fungus and host plant.

Fruit trees were also inoculated with mycorrhizae. Differences between cultivars' responses to mycorrhizal inoculation were shown in grape rootstocks, although all rootstocks showed a positive response to AM (Belew *et al.*, 2010). Association of mycorrhizal fungi was also shown in citrus seedlings exposed to 100 mM NaCl (Wu and Zou, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010), where the inoculated plants showed increased shoot and root dry weights, leaf number and area, plant height, stem diameter, root length, and surface area.

In addition to the studies on growth parameters and productivity, physiological parameters were also examined. Heikham et al. (2009) suggested a list of many physiological parameters which could be responsible for alleviation of the harmful effects of salinity on plants upon inoculation with AM. These were: (i) maintenance of a high K/Na ratio; (ii) improved acquisition of nutrients such as N, P, Mg and Ca; (iii) extended accumulation of proline, GB, polyamines, and carbohydrates; (iv) enhanced activation of antioxidant enzymes; (v) increased chlorophyll content and higher rates of photosynthesis; (vi) improved integrity and stability of cell membranes; (vii) higher hydraulic permeability and improved water status; (viii) increased number of nodules and nitrogen fixation by legumes; (ix) molecular changes, such as enhanced expression of the plasma membrane intrinsic protein (PIP) gene, expression of two Na^+/H^+ antiporters, and expression of genes encoding $\Delta 1$ -pyrroline-5-carboxylase synthetase which catalyzes proline synthesis. Latef and He (2011) suggested that AM fungi play an important role in the protection of tomato plants against salinity (EC of 7.0 and 12.0 dS m^{-1}) by alleviating the salt-induced oxidative stress. In addition, the concentrations of P and K were higher and that of Na was lower in AM-inoculated plants. As a result, leaf area, chlorophyll content, fruit fresh weight and fruit yield were increased.

Substantial evidence has been provided for improvement of ion composition in salinized plants inoculated with AM fungi. The main effect is probably a rise in K/Na ratio (Giri *et al.*, 2007; Sharifi *et al.*, 2007; Asghari, 2008; Wu and Zou, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010; Talaat and Shawky, 2011). A rise in Ca/Na and Mg/Na ratios was also shown by Wu and Zou (2009) and Wu *et al.* (2010). Higher photosynthetic rates and improved plant water relations were found in citrus seedlings exposed to salinity and inoculated with AM fungi (Wu *et al.*, 2010). A marked increase in the content of total free polyamines in mycorrhizal *Lotus glaber* plants grown under 200 mM NaCl as compared to nonmycorrhizal plants was outlined by Sannazzaro *et al.* (2007).

It is important to realize that despite the improved growth of AM-colonized plants grown under salinity, AM colonization can also be suppressed by salinity. In grape rootstocks, for instance, mycorrhizal colonization and spore number of *Glomus fasciculatum* were reduced under increased salinity levels (Belew *et al.*, 2010). In citrus, salinity depressed *Glomus mosseae* colonization (Wu and Zou, 2009). In *Acacia fasciculatum*, colonization of *G. mosseae* was high up to a salinity level of 6.5 dS m⁻¹, but decreased at 9.5 dS m⁻¹ (Giri *et al.*, 2007).

IV. ALLEVIATION OF SALINITY HAZARDS BY TREATING THE PLANT

A. Seed and Young Seedlings Priming and Seed Size

Techniques of seed treatment prior to their sowing (seed priming) are aimed at the initial stage of the germination, but previous to the advanced metabolic and morphological changes in the seeds. Seed priming is expected to stimulate metabolic processes that normally occur during imbibition and are subsequently fixed by drying the seeds. Originally, seed priming was used to increase the rate and total germination of seeds with no connection to abiotic stress conditions, but it was then proposed for the alleviation of salinity hazards. Ashraf and Foolad (2005) reviewed the following priming techniques: osmopriming, halopriming, hydropriming, matric priming, thermopriming, priming with plant growth hormones, biopriming (coverage of the seeds with bacterial control agent) and drum priming (treating the seeds with less water than the amount needed for imbibition and germination, with no waste of the priming materials).

Salinity is known to adversely affect the seed germination process, leading to poor stand establishment and low final crop yield. It has been claimed that seed priming contributes to metabolic repair in seeds and the buildup of germination-enhancing metabolites, induces osmotic adjustment, and reduces the lag time of imbibitions (Ashraf and Foolad, 2005). However, the mechanisms that occur during seed priming are not well understood. Sivritepe *et al.* (2005) reported that priming of melon seeds in 18 dS m⁻¹ NaCl solution for 3 days at 20°C decreases the negative effects of irrigation with saline water in the range of 4.5 to 18.0 dS m⁻¹ on stomatal conductance,

chlorophyll content and growth of the mature melon plants. In those plants, the contents of K and Ca in leaves increased, preventing the toxic effects of excess Na (Sivritepe *et al.*, 2005). A positive effect of seed priming in 1% NaCl solution was also found for castor beans (Raghavaiah *et al.*, 2006), and in 100 mM of CaCl₂ or KCl or NaCl solutions for spring wheat (Iqbal and Ashraf, 2007). These seed-priming processes increased grain yield and oil content in the castor beans, and net CO₂ assimilation, biomass production, and grain yield in the spring wheat grown under field conditions.

Plant hormones and growth regulators have been used intensively for increasing salt- tolerance of plants. Iqbal and Ashraf (2006) showed a consistent beneficial effect of priming of spring wheat seeds with 100–150 mg L⁻¹ of kinetin or benzylaminopurine on growth and grain yield of plants grown in a field with NaCl salinity of 15 dS m⁻¹. Dolatabadian *et al.* (2009) found that soaking wheat seeds in a solution of saliciylic acid (SA) improves germination under salinity of <200 mM NaCl in the germination solution. Scavenging of ROS was more effective in treated plants, which limited membrane damage, enhanced the growth and germination rate of embryos, and increased cell division in young seedlings.

Additional plant hormones proposed for seed priming to alleviate the adverse effects of salinity are ABA and benzyladenine (BA). Gurmani et al. (2007) found that incubation of spring wheat seeds in solutions containing 10^{-5} M ABA or BA for 24 h prior to their sowing significantly increases the fresh and dry weights, number of grains per spike, total grain yield, and proline accumulation in the tissues of mature wheat plants grown under saline conditions of 100 mM NaCl in soil solution. In that study, it was also found that the wheat response to ABA and BA is generally similar, but that BA is more active than ABA in enhancing chlorophyll content, number of grains and grain yield. Gurmani et al. (2007) claimed that the positive effect of seed priming with ABA and BA under saline conditions is a result of limiting Na and Cl accumulation and increasing K accumulation in leaf tissues of the wheat plants. Al Hakimi and Hamada (2001) found that indoleacetic acid (IAA), gibberellic acid (GA), ascorbic acid, thiamine and sodium salicylate are effective in seed priming, and increase the growth and yield of the mature treated wheat plants irrigated with saline water at concentrations of 40 to 160 mM NaCl. Fariduddin et al. (2003) found that 28-homobrassinolide is effective in seed priming of mungbean. Three common polyamines, putrescine, spermidine and spermine, were also used for seed priming, and were shown to mitigate the salinity damage to shoot growth and grain yield of mature wheat grown in a field with 15 dS m^{-1} NaCl in the soil solution (Iqbal and Ashraf, 2005). The beneficial effect of the polyamines was cultivar-specific, but the effect of spermine was in most cases more pronounced than that of the other polyamines (Iqbal and Ashraf, 2006).

Manufactured plant-growth regulators were also used for seed priming to alleviate the harmful effects of salinity. Soaking seeds of *Vicia faba* in a solution with 10 to 30 mg L^{-1}

prohexadione-calcium prior to their sowing increased the shoot dry weight of plants grown in pots for 30 days and irrigated with saline water of about 2 to 3 g L⁻¹ NaCl (Bekheta *et al.*, 2009). The positive effect of prohexadione-calcium was probably due to the decrease in the endogenous content of GA and IAA in the treated plant tissues, which likely increased the proline, photosynthetic pigment and carbohydrate contents in the plant, and consequently increased the shoot dry weight (Bekheta *et al.*, 2009). Bhadauria and Afria (2005) found that using the growth regulator Cycocel for seed priming also ameliorates the adverse effects of salinity in barley (Bhadauria and Afria, 2005).

Seed treatment with the soil fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* strain T22 sown in water-agar containing 50–150 mM NaCl resulted in faster and more uniform germination as compared to untreated seeds (Mastouri *et al.*, 2010). It was claimed that this was due to accumulation of lipid peroxide in the seedlings.

Priming Amaranthus lividus (L.) seeds with the fungicide triadime fon was found effective at ameliorating negative salinity effects during the early developmental stages of the plants grown under saline conditions (Bhattacharjes, 2008). This seed priming reduced the oxidative damage to membrane systems of young plants and the losses of membrane proteins, and consequently restored membrane integrity and improved growth of the young seedlings. Stigmasterol, another fungicide, was claimed to have pleiotropic effects, since flax seed soaked in a solution containing 200 mg L⁻¹ stigmaterol promoted growth, hormonal contents, phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) activity, fiber quality, seed oil content and yield characteristics, and in general overcame stress provoked by NaCl (Hashem *et al.*, 2011).

Increased salt tolerance could be also achieved by immersing young seedlings in solutions containing an inert osmoticum or salts. Parra et al. (2007) found that immersing young tomato seedlings in a solution containing polyethylene glycol at -0.75MPa and 10 mM NaCl for three days prior to their planting increases shoot biomass and fruit yield, and decreases Na and Cl and increases K contents in leaves of mature plants that had been grown under saline conditions of 7.5 dS m⁻¹ in the nutrient solution. It should be noted, however, that the optimal salt composition and concentration, as well as the duration of seedling soaking might differ for different species, and thus preliminary explorations are required to find the optimal conditions for seedling priming (Ashraf and Foolad, 2005). A somewhat similar approach involves acclimation of plants to salinity by gradually increasing the salt concentration in the growing media was indicated by Djanaguiraman et al. (2006). Rice plants were grown in 50 mM NaCl for seven days and then the concentration was raised to 100 mM; water potential was more negative, and leaf RWC, photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance and chlororophyll content were higher as compared to plants which were directly exposed to 100 mM NaCl (Djanaguiraman et al., 2006).

Another possibility for overcoming salinity damage is to use a larger seed size for sowing. Steppuhn *et al.* (2009) studied the effects of seed size on alfalfa grown in tanks with sand that was flushed with hydroponic solutions containing nutrients and salts (mostly sulfates) at EC levels from 1.4 to 18 dS m^{-1} . They found that large seed size (2.16 g per 1000 seeds) improved germination and increased seedling height and their first-year forage production compared to small seeds (1.3 to 1.7 g per 1000 seeds). Gholami et al. (2009) found that bean seedlings which developed from large seeds had greater root and shoot lengths than those that developed from small seeds, when all of the seedlings were grown under osmotic pressures of -0.2 to -0.8 MPa. In contrast, Kaya and Day (2008) found that large seeds of sunflower produce vigorous germination and seedling growth under high-salinity conditions (10 to 20 dS m⁻¹ in the nutrient solution) as compared to smaller seeds, but that the small seeds germinated and grew more rapidly and their seedlings developed more successfully under saline conditions as compared to the large seeds. In addition, Kaya et al. (2008) found a significant negative relationship between seed size and germination index or root and shoot length of chickpea plants that were grown under saline conditions. The above findings indicate that the use of large seed size as a technology to overcome salinity damage (Steppuhn et al., 2009; Gholami et al., 2009) requires further clarification and verification.

B. Grafting onto Tolerant Rootstocks

One environmentally friendly approach to avoiding or reducing salinity impairment in crop production is grafting saltsensitive plants onto salt-tolerant rootstocks (e.g., Sykes, 1985; Colla et al., 2010; Edelstein et al., 2010; Yin et al., 2010). The technique of tree grafting has been known for about 2000 years, allowing adaptation to different environmental conditions, and providing improved scion growth and fruit yield (Webster, 1995; Storey and Walker, 1999). The importance of grafting in fruit trees to overcome salinity hazards has been shown in citrus (Sykes, 1985; Moya et al., 2003; Garcia-Sanchez and Syvertsen, 2006; Tavallali et al., 2008; Gimeno et al., 2009, 2010; Montoliu et al., 2009), wine and table grapes (Walker et al., 2004; Hepaksoy et al., 2006), pear and quince (Okubo et al., 2000; Matsumoto et al., 2006; Musacchi et al., 2006), apple (Schreiner and Ludders, 1996; Molassiotis et al., 2006; Yin et al., 2010), loquat (Lopez-Gomez et al., 2007; Garcia-Legaz et al., 2008), prune (Massai et al., 2004), avocado (Mickelbart et al., 2007; Castro et al., 2009), mango (Schmutz and Ludders, 1998; Dubey et al., 2007) and pistachio (Tavallali et al., 2008), and in flowering shrubs, such as rose (Wahome et al., 2001). Grafting on salttolerant rootstocks under saline conditions brings about yield increases (Okubo et al., 2000; Walker et al., 2004; Garcia-Sanchez and Syvertsen, 2006) and improvements in product quality, as shown for Sultana and Cabernet Sauvignon grapes (Walker et al., 2004; Hepaskoy et al., 2006), enhancement of plant vigor and leaf growth of the scion (Lopez-Gomez et al., 2007; Gimeno et al., 2009), reduction in leaf necrosis as shown in 'Hass' avocado (Mickelbart et al., 2007), and diminution of Cl content in leaves as shown in roses (Wahome et al., 2001).

A major function of the tolerant rootstocks is preventing the accumulation of toxic ions in the leaves, thus allowing proper physiological activities. Native Mediterranean Pyrus rootstocks exhibited higher photosynthetic rates than Asian species because the former rootstock accumulated less Na and Cl in the leaves (Matsumoto et al., 2006). Similarly, grafting avocado cv. Hass scions on Nabal rootstocks limited Cl content in the leaves, resulting in high carbon-assimilation rates (Castro et al., 2009). This was also documented in peach plants grafted onto salttolerant Prunus rootstock, where full recovery of photosynthetic performance was detected after salinity stress (Massai et al., 2004). Under saline conditions, leaves of Golden Delicious apple trees grafted on M9 rootstock displayed greater stomatal conductance, transpiration rates, and accumulation of organic osmolytes than trees grafted on M26 rootstock (Schreiner and Ludders, 1996). Irrigation with saline water (50 mM NaCl) had insignificant effects on gas exchange, stomatal conductance, or net CO₂-fixation in leaves of loquat plants grafted on anger rootstock, whereas these parameters were significantly affected in self-grafted trees (Garcia-Legaz et al., 2008). Tolerant rootstocks of grape limited Cl content in the petiole, leaf lamina and juice (Walker et al., 2004). In a later study, Walker et al. (2010) showed that grafting also improves the quality of juice and wine. For example, Shiraz on its own rootstocks, K51-40, and 1202C rootstoks, accumulated unacceptable levels of Cl in the juice and wine when the salinity of the irrigation water was 1.8 to 3.3 dS m⁻¹. In contrast, the rootstocks Schwarzmann and 140 Ruggeri were best with Chardonnay and Shiraz, respectively. Pear roots adopted an ion-exclusion strategy to avoid accumulation of Na and Cl, whereas pear trees grafted on quince adopted a strategy of storage of most of the absorbed Na in the root system (Musacchi et al., 2006). Similar storage of the absorbed Na was documented in pistachio rootstocks, showing that the Ghazvini rootstock copes better with salinity than other rootstocks due to inhibited transport of Na from the roots to the leaves.

Salinity tolerance in citrus is mainly a result of lower root-toshoot transport capacity, as found in Cleopatra mandarin with decreased Cl accumulation in the leaves as a result of decreased Cl loading into the xylem, leading to increased tolerance to salinity (Brumos *et al.*, 2010). Direct measurements of Cl concentration in the xylem were conducted by Raveh and Levy (2005), and could be used as an efficient approach for analyzing Cl loading into the xylem with no need to monitor changes in leaf Cl content. Another interesting approach to increasing salinity tolerance in trees is the use of tetraploid genotypes as rootstocks, when the diploid genotypes of the same plant are not tolerant to salinity. For instance, Saleh *et al.* (2008) showed that the tetraploid genotypes of Cleopatra were less affected by mild salinity conditions than their diploid genotypes.

Since in fruit trees the responses of fruit yield and quality to salinity can be detected only after several years, it is desirable to evaluate the tolerance of rootstocks or grafted trees at an early stage. Early evaluation can be achieved by studying the response of rootstocks to salinity at the seedling stage, or as explants, rather than in mature trees. The relative tolerance of 15 types of apple rootstock exposed to 200 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution was successfully determined based on growth parameters such as leaf number and plant height, activities of antioxidant enzymes, and accumulation of organic osmotica in plant tissues (Yin et al., 2010). Dubey et al. (2007) found a significant negative correlation between dry matter production of shoot and roots and Na content in leaves of two rootstocks of mango that are sensitive to salinity. They concluded that the analysis of Na content in leaves could serve as an indicator of salinity sensitivity. Molassiotis et al. (2006) indicated that Na accumulation in leaves of rootstock explants is the first candidate for antioxidant activity and anatomical responses of the rootstock to salinity. Montoliu et al. (2009) successfully determined salt-tolerance of different citrus rootstocks in vitro by using nodal segments of these plants. In grapes (cv. Sultana), Walker et al. (2004) found that a combination of innate high vigor and moderate or high Cl and Na exclusion by the rootstocks was a good indicator of salt-tolerant plants.

As grafting of vegetable crops becomes more common to prevent damage caused by soil-borne pests and pathogens (Oda, 2002), such grafting is also being recommended to ameliorate injury due to salinity (e.g., Santa-Cruz et al., 2002; Rivero et al., 2003; Ruiz et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2007; Uygur and Yetisir 2009; Colla et al., 2010; Edelstein et al., 2010). Comprehensive review papers have been recently published by Colla *et al.* (2010) and Edelstein et al. (2011) showing that grafting of vegetable plants limits the reduction in total yield, biomass production, leaf area, and plant height of vegetable plants exposed to different levels of salinity. For instance, a recent study by Liu et al. (2012) showed that the reduction in growth of cucumber plants grown in 0.5 Hoagland solution containing 90 mM NaCl is less in grafted plants than in non-grafted ones, mainly due to enhanced net photosynthetic rates, stomatal conductance and quantum yield of PSII in the grafted plants. Colla et al. (2010) stressed the importance of the scion in the growth of grafted tomato and cucumber plants, and that salt-tolerance conferred by the rootstock is also dependent on the salt-tolerance of the shoot. However, other studies (Blom-Zanstra et al., 1998; Shaterian et al., 2005; Edelstein et al., 2007) emphasized the major importance of rootstock characteristics in determining salt and boron (B) tolerance of grafted plants. Edelstein et al. (2010, 2011) studied the effects of grafting on accumulation of Na and B, respectively, in shoots of grafted and non-grafted plants in a greenhouse experiment. In those studies, six combinations of melon (cv. Arava) and pumpkin (cv. TZ-148)-non-grafted, self-grafted, melons grafted on pumpkins and pumpkins grafted on melon-were used. The relative shoot and root yields in all of the non-grafted and grafted plants decreased as B concentration in the irrigation water increased (Figure 10). The shoot dry weights of the grafted plants at a B concentration of 10 mg L^{-1} (Figure 10) and under irrigation with saline water (1.9 dS m^{-1}) (Table 1) were higher, in general, in the plants with pumpkin rootstocks, regardless of scion type. These results (Figure 10



FIG. 10. Relative shoot (a) and root (b) dry weights of ungrafted pumpkin (P), ungrafted melon (M), melons grafted on their own rootstock (M/M), pumpkins grafted on their own rootstock (P/P), melons grafted on pumpkins (M/P), and pumpkins grafted on melons (P/M), as a function of boron concentration in the irrigation water. For each plant combination, the dry weight of shoot or root at zero B concentration in irrigation water was defined as 100% (following Edelstein *et al.*, 2011).

and Table 1) suggested that in grafted plants, the root system, and not the scion, predominantly controls the salt and B stress response.

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the effects of tolerant rootstocks on improved productivity of saltsensitive scions of vegetable crops (Colla *et al.*, 2010): (i) salt exclusion by the root system which in turn decreases salt uptake by the plant; (ii) salt retention and accumulation in the rootstock

TABLE 1

Dry weight of whole plant, shoots and roots of six different plant combinations: non-grafted pumpkin (P), self-grafted pumpkin (P/P), melon grafted on pumpkin rootstock (M/P), non-grafted melon (M), self-grafted melon (M/M), and pumpkin grafted on melon rootstock (P/M)

	Dry v	-1)	
Plant types	Whole plant	Roots	
		kg plant ⁻¹	
Р	0.1711 a*	0.1553 a	0.0158 a
P/P	0.1811 a	0.1688 a	0.0123 a
M/P	0.0822 b	0.0777 b	0.0045 b
М	0.0465 b	0.0428 b	0.0037 b
M/M	0.0641 b	0.0594 b	0.0047 b
P/M	0.1511 a	0.1396 a	0.0115 a

*Different letters in a column indicate statistically significant (at $\alpha = 0.05\%$) differences between the plant types.

tissues; (iii) accumulation of compatible osmolytes in the cytosol and organelles to balance the osmotic potential of the ions in the vacuoles; (iv) higher activity of enzymatic antioxidants, which also increases the activity of non-enzymatic antioxidants; (v) induction of hormones, mainly ABA and polyamines, due to higher rates of biosynthesis and lower degradation rates of polyamines. Several studies (e.g., Sykes, 1992; Walker et al., 2004, 2010; Hepaksov et al., 2006; Musacchi et al., 2006; Ruiz et al., 2006; Lopez-Gomez et al., 2007; Mickelbart et al., 2007; Castro et al., 2009; Yetisir and Uygur, 2009; El-Nakhlawy et al., 2012) have found that the main mechanisms responsible for the increase in salt-tolerance of grafted vegetable plants are salt exclusion by the rootstock and retention of salts within its tissues. The effects of grafting on Na and Cl uptake and their distribution in plant tissues were measured and quantified by Edelstein et al. (2010, 2011) in a greenhouse experiment using six combinations of melon (cv. Arava) and pumpkin (cv. TZ-148) as described above. The Na concentrations in the shoots of the plants with melon rootstocks were high (390 to 414 mmol kg⁻¹), but very low (41 to 62 mmol kg⁻¹) with the pumpkin rootstocks, regardless of scion type. In contrast, shoot Cl⁻ concentrations were quite similar among the different scion-rootstock combinations. It was indicated (Edelstein et al., 2010) that: (i) the pumpkin rootstocks exclude \sim 74% of available Na, while there is nearly no Na exclusion by melon rootstocks; (ii) Na retention by the pumpkin rootstocks decreases its amount in the shoot by 46.9% as opposed to uniform Cl distribution throughout the plant.

C. Application of Non-Enzymatic Antioxidants

One of the earliest known responses of plants to salinity is a decrease in stomatal conductance as a result of the induced osmotic stress. The lower rate of CO₂ uptake by the plant, in this case, may lead to an over-reduction in ferredoxin by the photosynthetic electron transport system, and transfer of electrons from photosystem I (PSI) to oxygen-forming superoxide radicals via a process known as the Mehler Reaction (Hsu and Kao, 2003). This may initiate a chain reaction that produces more ROS that are harmful to the plant. This process is an outcome of the reduction of univalent molecular oxygen forming either superoxide, H₂O₂, hydroxyl radicals, or singlet oxygen (Wu et al., 2010). The accumulation of ROS may be detrimental to plant cells, as they may cause damage to cellular compounds and membranes (Davenport et al., 2003). Plants can develop a defense system against ROS consisting of non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants (Davenport et al., 2003; Abdul Jaleel et al., 2007). The non-enzymatic antioxidants include mainly water-soluble glutathione, ascorbate, phenolics, lipid-soluble β carotene and α -tocopherol. The enzymatic antioxidants include SOD, APX, GR, CAT, and POX. In some cases, the activities of these antioxidants are sufficient, but in many other cases, they may be insufficient. This raised the idea of using external application of non-enzymatic antioxidants to increase the plant's ability to defend itself against abiotic stresses, including salinity.

External application of antioxidants to salinity-exposed plants has been studied mostly by applying ascorbic acid to a number of plant species. Canola plants were grown in pots with a clay loam soil and irrigated daily with saline water containing 200 mM NaCl, and sprayed with 25 mM ascorbic acid or untreated (Dolatabadian et al., 2008). In the untreated plants, lipid peroxidation in leaves and roots increased protein and decreased chlorophyll contents in the leaves. In contrast, in ascorbic acidtreated plants, the activities of all antioxidant enzymes, except SOD, were significantly increased, while the increased protein in the leaves and roots and the decreased chlorophyll in leaves were limited (Dolatabadian et al., 2008). In bean plants, Dolatabadian and Jouneghani (2009) found that addition of 100 mM ascorbic acid to the nutrient solution alleviates the adverse effects of salinity, decreases the ROS activity in plant tissues, prevents lipid peroxidation, decreases malondialdehyde generation (the final product of membrane peroxidation), and raises the internal concentration of ascorbic acid which prevents ABA accumulation in plant cells.

In a field trial conducted over two consecutive years, the effects of several antioxidants—ascorbic acid, glutathione, α -tocopherol, and spermine—on wheat were investigated (Sakr and El-Metwally, 2009). The plants were grown in soil with salinity levels of 1.3, 6.0, and 9.5 dS m⁻¹ in the saturated soil paste extract. While the high salinity decreased grain and stem + leaf weight of untreated wheat plants, spraying the plants or presoaking their seeds with the tested antioxidants alleviated the harmful effects of the salinity (Figure 11). This alleviation was



FIG. 11. Dry weight of grain yield (a) and stem + leaf (b) per wheat plant grown under salinity of 9.5 dS m⁻¹ in the saturated soil paste extract following antioxidant treatment consisting of seed soaking prior to sowing and foliar spraying of ascorbic acid, glutathione, α -tocopherol, spermine, and control (untreated seeds and plant). LSD = least significant difference between means at $\alpha = 0.05$ level (following Sakr and El-Metwally, 2009).



FIG. 12. Endogenous enzymatic antioxidant peroxidase activity (TPX) (a), non-enzymatic antioxidant superoxide dismutase activity (SOD) (b), ascorbic acid peroxidase activity (APX) (c), and content of ascorbic acid (ASA) (d) and glutathione in plant leaves (e) in wheat plants grown under salinity of 9.5 dS m⁻¹ in the saturated soil paste extract for antioxidant treatment consisting of seed soaking prior to sowing and foliar spraying of ascorbic acid, glutathione, α -tocopherol, spermine, and control (untreated) seeds and plants. LSD = least significant difference between means at $\alpha = 0.05$ level (following Sakr and El-Metwally, 2009).

attributed to a rise in the internal non-enzymatic antioxidants and to the activity of enzymatic antioxidants (Figure 12). It was found in another trial with wheat grown hydroponically with 150 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution that application of 100 mg L^{-1} of ascorbic acid to the nutrient solution counteracts the adverse effects of the salinity on growth (Athar *et al.*, 2008). This alleviation was associated with enhancement of CAT activity and photosynthetic rates. It also increased endogenous ascorbic acid concentration and K and Ca contents in the leaves, thus improving the K/Na ratio in leaf tissues.

Some studies (e.g., Ebrahim, 2005; Khafagy *et al.*, 2009; Sakr and Arafa, 2009) investigated the effects of added ascorbic acid on plant growth and yield as related to antioxidation impacts. In a field trial with canola grown under salinity in the range of 10.1 to 14.6 dS m⁻¹ in the soil solution, plant growth, yield and its components, including number of fruiting branches, fruits and seeds per fruit, and seed oil content, were determined in untreated and ascorbic acid-treated plants (Sakr and Arafa, 2009). In the untreated plants, all the determined parameters were decreased under salinity. In contrast, canola seeds soaked in a solution of 200 mg L⁻¹ ascorbic acid prior to sowing and with an additional spraying of the plant foliage with this solution at 40 and 70 days after sowing showed enhancement in all yield parameters as well as in the contents of photosynthetic pigments, proline and soluble sugars in the leaves. Khafagy et al. (2009) showed that soaking seeds of sweet pepper in ascorbic acid solution prior to sowing limits the reduction in plant height, root length and fresh and dry shoot weight, the increase in Na and the decrease in K content in the plant tissues of the mature pepper plants grown under saline conditions of 11.9 dS m^{-1} in the growth solution. In sugarbeets irrigated with saline water containing 100 or 200 mM NaCl, sucrose accumulation in the root and yield were suppressed (Ebrahim, 2005) as a result of an increase in the activity of sucrose-degrading enzymes, and a decrease in sucrose phosphate synthase activity. This led to an increase in hexose concentration in the storage roots (Ebrahim, 2005). In that experiment, application of 4 mM ascorbic acid to the sugarbeets alleviated the adverse effects of salinity. The added ascorbic acid increased the activity of sucrose synthase enzymes, which in turn abolished the adverse effects of salinity on sucrose accumulation and sugarbeet yield (Ebrahim, 2005).

Recent reports demonstrate the effects of ascorbic acid on salinity-exposed plants. For example, Younis et al. (2009a) found that germinating broad bean seeds in a medium containing 4 mM ascorbic acid results in the occurrence of particular novel proteins in seedlings which were exposed to salinity. Protein banding patterns of those broad bean seedlings showed different de novo protein bands with different molecular weights, and near absence of the major stress proteins. Younis et al. (2009a) assumed that these proteins induce protective changes in total amino acid content and composition. Anatomical changes were found by Arafa et al. (2009) in sorghum plants induced by ascorbic acid. Plants grown in nutrient solutions containing 25 to 100 mM NaCl and not treated with ascorbic acid decreased xylem and phloem tissue thickness, metaxylem vessel diameter and the main vascular bundle dimensions mainly at the high salinity level. However, immersing sorghum seeds in ascorbic acid or applying it to the foliage of sorghum plants counteracted the salinity's adverse effects (Arafa et al., 2009). Anatomical changes induced by ascorbic acid were also found in sweet pepper, where its application mitigated the salinity-induced decrease in thickness of the midrib region, spongy parenchyma, palisade layers and main vascular bundles (Khafagy et al., 2009).

Some studies showed induction of antioxidant activity in citrus plants under conditions of Na stress when roots were pretreated with 10 mM H₂O₂ for 8 h or 100 μ M sodium nitroprusside for 48 h. The activities of leaf SOD, CAT, APX and GR in the treated citrus plants, grown in 150 mM NaCl solution, were increased, and the ascorbate redox state was partially prevented (Tanou *et al.*, 2009). A quantitative assay and protein blotting analysis in this study also indicated that the NaCl-dependent protein oxidation is totally reversed by pretreatment with H₂O₂ (Tanou *et al.*, 2009). It should be noted, however, that as of the present literature review, no other studies have shown induction of antioxidant activity by pretreatment with a strong oxidant such as H_2O_2 . Therefore, this issue awaits further experimental confirmation.

D. Application of Plant Growth Regulators

Many studies have shown alterations in the level and action of plant hormones under salinity stress (e.g., Ashraf and Harris, 2004; Parida and Das, 2005; Kuznetsov *et al.*, 2006; Tuteja, 2007; Kaya *et al.*, 2009; Ashraf *et al.*, 2010a). Exogenous application of natural hormones and synthetic growth regulators improved growth of tomato plants under salinity (100 mM NaCl in the growing media), raising K and decreasing Na content in the leaves and delaying their senescence (Albacete *et al.*, 2008; Ghanem *et al.*, 2008). All of these changes were related to decreased PSII activity, and changes in ABA, cytokinins, ethylene precursor and auxin contents in the leaves (Albacete *et al.*, 2008; Ghanem *et al.*, 2008), but the mechanisms underlying these effects remain unknown (Ashraf *et al.*, 2010a).

1. Salicylic Acid

The use of SA to mitigate the adverse effects of salinity on plants has been recommended more than any other growth regulator. SA is well known for its medicinal properties, induction of flowering and retardation of petal senescence, and is associated with disease resistance. Foliar application of 1.0 mM SA to cucumber plants which were exposed to salinity levels of 0, 60, and 120 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution led to greater shoot and root fresh and dry weights, plant height, shoot diameter, leaf number, and leaf RWC than in untreated plants (Yildirim et al., 2008a). These authors also found that electrolyte leakage, which increases under salinity, was reduced in SA-treated plants (Yildirim et al., 2008a). Some important findings showing alleviation of salt effects on cucumber plants by SA application are presented in Figure 13. Similar results were obtained with strawberry, a salt-sensitive plant, when exposed to 35 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution and sprayed with SA solutions at concentrations ranging from 0.25 to 1.00 mM (Karlidag et al., 2009). In another study, Misra and Saxena (2009) found that exogenous application of SA to lentil plants grown in a saline medium of 100 mM NaCl significantly increases plant growth. Application of up to 1.0 mM SA to maize plants stressed with 40 mM NaCl enhanced growth significantly (Gunes et al., 2007). Similar results were obtained with *Phaseolus vulgaris*, when ≤ 0.5 mM SA solutions were sprayed on plants grown in a hydroponic solution containing 0, 100 or 150 mM NaCl (Palma et al., 2009). SA and its derivatives showed protection of maize plants from the detrimental effects of salinity, and increased dry weight and relative water content of the shoot (Tuna et al., 2007b). Germination was stimulated in wheat (Dolatabadian et al., 2009) and lentil (Misra and Saxena, 2009) after treating the seeds with 0.5 mM SA. The increase in germination was associated with enhanced cell division in the shoot and root.

In addition to SA's alleviation of adverse salinity effects on plant vegetative growth parameters, SA application has also been shown to improve productivity and yield quality of several



FIG. 13. Shoot (a) and root (b) dry weight per plant, chlorophyll reading values indicating its content in leaves (c), and leaf relative water content (LRWC) (d) of cucumber plants grown in 0, 60 and 120 mM NaCl in nutrient solution and treated with foliar application of 0, 0.25, 0.5, and 1.0 mM salicylic acid. Columns with different letters in each NaCl concentration and subfigure differ significantly at $\alpha = 0.05$ according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test (following Yildirim *et al.*, 2008b).

plants (e.g., Arfan *et al.*, 2007; Gunes *et al.*, 2007; Tuna *et al.*, 2007b; Noreen and Ashraf, 2010). Exogenous application of SA promoted growth and grain yield production of wheat plants under salt stress (Arfan *et al.*, 2007). A foliar spray of 10^{-3} mM SA increased yield production of pepper plants grown under moderate salt-stress conditions in a greenhouse (Elwan and El-Hamahmi, 2009). This improvement was reflected in fruit number, average fruit weight, fruit yield, and fruit vitamin C and carotenoid contents (Elwan and El-Hamahmi, 2009). The dry weight of carrot storage roots, which was decreased by salinity, was positively affected by the addition of 0.5 mM SA to the growing media (Eraslan *et al.*, 2007). Harmful effects of salinity on sunflower achene yield and oil characteristics were alleviated by exogenous application of SA at concentrations ranging from 100 to 300 mg L⁻¹ (Noreen and Ashraf, 2010).

The mechanisms responsible for salinity-stress mitigation by SA are not completely clear. Arfan et al. (2007) claimed that SA application improves photosynthetic activity of wheat cultivars grown under saline conditions due to its effect on metabolic factors that control stomatal conductance and photosynthetic pigment production. Gunes et al. (2007) and Tuna et al. (2007b) showed an increase in the chlorophyll content of maize plants grown under salinity and treated with SA. In other findings, SA pretreatment of young tomato plants exposed to 100 mM NaCl increased the non-enzymatic antioxidant defense system and detoxifying capacity of the plant tissue (Szepesi et al., 2008). ROS scavenging became active and membrane damage was limited in wheat plants when their seeds were soaked in SA solution prior to sowing (Dolatabadian et al., 2009). A decrease in lipid peroxidation was also shown in SA-treated maize plants (Gunes et al., 2007). A rise in other antioxidants, such as carotenoids in carrots (Eraslan et al., 2007) and in maize (Gunes et al., 2007), was induced in salinity-exposed plants by exogenous application of SA. Misra and Saxena (2009) suggested another mechanism to explain SA amelioration of salinity-stress effects, which was demonstrated in lentils. They found that in shoots of lentil plants exposed to 100 mM NaCl, proline content was fivefold higher in plants treated with 0.5 mM SA than in untreated plants. Misra and Saxena (2009) explained the increase in proline as resulting from activity enhancement of enzymes involved in proline biosynthesis and its reduced oxidation. They also found a rise in GB content in the treated plants that maintained higher turgor pressure in the plant shoots, improving plant growth. In another study with maize plants, Gunes et al. (2007) found that under saline conditions, SA inhibits Na and Cl accumulation, but stimulates N, Mg, Fe, Mn, and Cu contents in the shoots. Another mechanism governing salinity-stress amelioration by SA was suggested by Tari et al. (2002). They found that tomato plants, which were exposed for an extended period to 100 mM NaCl and to 1×10^{-4} to 0.5 mM SA in the nutrient solution. used the Na accumulated in the plant tissues to function as osmolytes with no detrimental effect. All of the above-described beneficial results of SA application indicate that SA indeed alleviates symptoms of salinity stress in plants, although no clear dominant mechanism has been suggested for this phenomenon.

2. Brassinosteroids

Brassinosteroids (BRs) have garnered much interest due to their effects of increasing plant tolerance to salt stress and improving development under salinity (e.g., Özdemir et al., 2004; Ali et al., 2007). Ashraf et al. (2010a) presented several studies on BRs applied to either the growing medium or as a foliar spray. Application of 24-epibrassinolide (EBR) to the growing media accelerated seed germination and seedling growth of sorghum under osmotic stress (Vardhini and Rao, 2003). Tabur and Demir (2009) added EBR to the growing media of barley plants grown under salinity of 0.35 to 0.4 M NaCl and found a significant decrease in the mitotic index and the number of chromosomal abnormalities as compared to the untreated plants. Application of 4 μ M BR to a nutrient solution containing 150 or 300 mM NaCl ameliorated the negative effects of salinity on the levels of nucleic acids, soluble proteins and proline, and peroxidase activity (Bera et al., 2006).

Application of 0.052 or 0.104 μ M BR to 1/2 strength Hoagland solution containing 120 mM NaCl was most efficient at increasing grain size and yield of wheat (Ali *et al.*, 2008). However, application of EBR via the growing medium is not straightforward, because it requires optimization of the EBR concentration and duration of the treatment. Application of EBR at the wrong concentration might be harmful to the plants due to a dose-response relationship (Ashraf *et al.*, 2010a). Moreover, the quantity of BR required to obtain optimal concentrations in the soil or growing media may be high and costly. In addition, application of BR to the soil may involve some uncertainty due to its degradation by microorganisms, or leaching from the root zone by the irrigation water. Spraying bean plants, which were grown in 150 mM NaCl added to washed sand, with 5 μ M EBR at 15 days after transplanting detoxified the stress effects, and increased antioxidative enzyme activity and the level of proline (Rady, 2011). Electrolyte leakage and lipid peroxidation were decreased, and membrane stability and RWC were increased. In another trial with beans (Shahid *et al.*, 2011), the deleterious effects induced by salinity were reduced when seeds were treated with EBR before or after NaCl application.

A presowing seed treatment with BR under saline conditions improves germination and seedling establishment, and increases the shoot and root biomass and seed yield of several crops, including rice, barley, wheat, beans and pepper (Ashraf *et al.*, 2010a). Another protective action of presowing treatment with BR is control of the level of other hormones, as it prevents the decrease in cytokinin level and lowers the level of the stress-induced hormone ABA (Avalbaev *et al.*, 2010). It can be concluded from these results that the proper concentration of the sprayed BR solution and the correct timing of its application, as related to the plant's growth stage, should be predetermined for specific plants and local agronomic and environmental conditions.

3. Abscisic Acid

Salinity stress can also be alleviated in plants using more common hormones, such as ABA, although information on this approach is minimal. A rise in the internal level of ABA under salt stress was found to contribute to membrane integrity, enabling plants to regulate uptake and transport of ions (Parida and Das, 2005). These authors also found that the inducible genes of ABA play an important role in the mechanism of salttolerance in rice plants. Different responses to various modes of external ABA application were found in potato plants under saline conditions (Etehadnia et al., 2008); application of a single dose of ABA enhanced mainly the vertical growth of the plant, whereas multiple and gradually increasing doses of ABA increased lateral growth and water content of the shoot. Etehadnia et al. (2008) also grafted ABA-deficient mutant plants onto a rootstock with known elevated ABA levels; the rootstock added significant ABA doses to the scion and alleviated the plant's response to salinity. Gurmani et al. (2007) documented an ameliorative effect on salinity-exposed wheat plants when their seeds were presoaked in a solution containing 10-2 mM ABA for 24 h. In that study, a significant decrease in Na and increase in K contents in the wheat leaves, and a rise in grain yield were found. Improved growth of bean plants grown under saline conditions was observed when the plants were treated by external addition of ABA before being exposed to the saline stress (Khadri et al., 2007). In this case, ABA improved growth parameters, normalized nodule weight, restored nitrogenase activity, limited the transport of Na to the shoots, and resulted in a higher K/Na ratio in the plant leaves.

4. Indole Acetic Acid, Kinetin, and Benzyl Adenine

Foliar application of IAA and kinetin (Kin) to maize plants exposed to 100 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution alleviates most of the adverse effects of salinity, such as the decrease in plant biomass production, chlorophyll content and RWC (Kaya *et al.*, 2010). These two hormones, mainly at a concentration of 2 mM, also increased proline accumulation in the leaves, maintained membrane permeability, and increased Ca and P contents in the leaves and roots; however they also reduced the activities of antioxidant enzymes in the plants (Kaya *et al.*, 2010). Application of IAA and kinetin as a presowing seed treatment did not improve the salinity tolerance of mature maize plants.

In contrast, using kinetin as a presowing seed treatment significantly alleviated the salt-inhibited seed germination of saltgrass (Shahba et al., 2008) and of Halogeton glomeratus (Khan et al., 2009). Saline conditions inhibited transcription of the Zm-EXPAI gene in cells of maize leaves (Veselov et al., 2008), but IAA activated ZmEXPAI, leading to regulation of cell expansion and growth of the maize plants. Shah (2011) also showed a reduction in the adverse effects of salinity in Nigella sativa plants watered with Hoagland solution containing 75 to 150 mM NaCl, and sprayed with 10 μ M kinetin. Leaf RWC and area, stomatal conductance, chlorophyll content and aminolevulinic acid dehydratase (ALA-D) activity were all increased, and oxidative stress was alleviated, resulting in higher yield than for untreated stressed plants. Gurmani et al. (2007) found that BA has ameliorative effects similar to those of ABA on plants under salinity stress.

5. Gibberellins

Application of Gibberellic acid (GA) has also been found to counteract some of the adverse effects of salinity, such as those on dry matter production, chlorophyll content and RWC of maize plants (Tuna *et al.*, 2008b) and linseed plants (Khan *et al.*, 2010). Application of 50 mg L⁻¹ of GA to the nutrient solution induced accumulation of osmoprotectants such as proline and GB, induced the antioxidative defense system, improved membrane permeability and elevated nutrient levels. Application of GA was either by foliar spray or as an additive to the nutrient solution, which was shown to be more effective when added together with Ca salts, but is probably not practical under actual growing conditions.

6. Jasmonates

Jasmonates are generally considered mediators of defenseresponse signals, such as in flowering and senescence, but they can also play an important role in plant salt tolerance. For example, Hilda *et al.* (2003) found that jasmonate levels in plant tissues are higher in salt-tolerant vs. salt-sensitive tomato cultivars. Kang *et al.* (2005) applied 30 μ M jasmonic acid 24 or 48 h after exposure of rice plants to saline solution (20 to 40 mM NaCl); this resulted in decreased Na uptake, increased photosynthetic rate and a more negative leaf water potential. Consequently, the inhibition of biomass production under saline conditions was partially relieved. It should be noted that there is a lack of studies on the ameliorative effect of jasmonic acid on crop production under saline conditions, and additional studies on this topic are warranted.

7. Polyamines

Polyamines are known as elicitors of diverse physiological activities in plants, such as cell division, tuber formation, root initiation, flower development, and fruit ripening; they also have beneficial effects on abiotic stress tolerance (Hopkins, 1999). Their polycationic nature limits their transport within the plant, and thus their roles in plants are not truly hormonal. Nevertheless, the polyamines participate in several metabolic pathways, and they interact with negative charges in cells, such as phosphates, phospholipids, nucleic acids and carboxylic protein groups (Kuznetsov et al., 2006). The use of natural polyamines to protect plants against various stressors, including salinity, has been documented by various investigators (e.g., Ashraf and Harris, 2004; Verma and Mishra, 2005; Kuznetsov et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2006; Ndayiragije and Lutts, 2007), but the mechanism governing these processes has not been documented. Ashraf and Harris (2004) indicated that external addition of three polyamines: putrescine, spermidine and spermine, to pea seedlings attenuates the inhibitory effects of salt stress. Verma and Mishra (2005) found that a concentration of 0.1 mM putrescine in Hoagland solution significantly reverses the reduction in seedling growth of Indian mustard (Brassica juncea L.) grown under saline conditions by limiting the increase in superoxide and H_2O_2 levels, lipid peroxidation and membrane leakage of cells, inducing antioxygenic enzymes, and increasing the level of glutathione and carotenoids in the leaves.

Salinity-induced damage to plasma membranes can be ameliorated by spermidine treatment (Roy et al., 2005). Plasma membranes isolated from roots of salt-sensitive and salt-tolerant rice seedlings and treated with 150 mM NaCl for 16 h revealed severe inhibition of H-ATPase activity, whereas in the presence of 1 mM spermidine, this activity was significantly recovered. Ndayiragije and Lutts (2007) found that 10 μ M putrescine improves the growth and yield of rice plants grown under saline condition (30 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution). These effects of putrescine application on yield and growth of rice plants were associated with an increase in K/Na ratio in shoots and roots, and with improvement of assimilation rates due to increased stomatal conductance (Ndayiragije and Lutts, 2007). The decrease in Na accumulation in shoots was claimed to be a consequence of its binding to exodermal intercellular spaces and cortical cells in the roots, as shown in spermidine-treated barley plants (Zhu et al., 2006). Low accumulation of K and Na was found in endodermal cells and stellar parenchyma of roots in salinity-stressed plants treated with spermidine. In cucumber plants grown under saline conditions, addition of spermidine to the nutrient solution alleviated membrane damage, mainly in the root system, and increased the photosynthetic rate of the plants (Duan et al., 2008) and performance of antioxidant enzymes in the plant cells (Duan *et al.*, 2008; Du *et al.*, 2010) due to induced expression and enhanced activity of POD, SOD and CAT.

Differences between species might explain the contradictory findings on the salinity-alleviating effects of spermine. Sakr and Arafa (2009) and Sakr and El-Metwally (2009) indicated that the salinity-induced depression of growth and yield of canola and wheat plants is counteracted by spermine due to increased activity of antioxidant enzymes. On the other hand, Ndayiragije and Lutts (2007) claimed that there are no protective effects of spermine on salt-treated rice plants. Ren *et al.* (2007) found that the compound 2-furan-2-yl[1,3]dioxolane, which was presented as a novel plant growth regulator, enhances salinity tolerance of wheat plants by increasing the number and fresh weight of roots and dry weight of shoots. It was claimed to have no mutagenic potential, but the mechanism governing its action is not known.

E. Application of Compatible Solutes

Many plant species growing under environmental stress conditions accumulate compatible solutes in their tissues, mainly GB and proline, which contribute to their osmotic adjustment. Cuin and Shabala (2005) suggested that the role of compatible solutes in plant tissues under saline stress is not limited to osmotic adjustment; they have additional regulatory functions, including protection against ROS and maintaining cytosolic K homeostasis by preventing NaCl-induced leakage of ions. Many plant species accumulate insufficient concentrations of compatible solutes for those functions, and there are some species that do not accumulate such solutes at all (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). This raised the notion that concentrations of proline or GB should be increased in plants grown under saline conditions. Much effort has been spent on breeding and genetic engineering of plants to produce high concentrations of compatible solutes, but the practical achievements in these cases are still low. Another approach is to apply these solutes to plants by external means.

Application of proline or GB to wheat, rice, corn, barley, bean, soybean, cotton, tobacco, potato, and tomato plants grown under saline conditions enhances the growth and yield of the treated plants as compared to untreated ones (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). These positive effects of proline and GB application were attributed to the osmoprotection and cryoprotection conferred by these solutes, and to the increased activity of antioxidative enzymes, such as SOD and POX. In addition, accumulation of Na and Cl decreased in the shoot and increased in the roots of plants treated with proline or GB (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). Reduced accumulation of Na and Cl was also found in tomato plants grown in nutrient solution containing 135 mM NaCl, when 1 or 5 mM GB or 1 mM proline was added to the solution (Heuer, 2003).

Additional studies emphasized the beneffical effect of proline and GB on seed germination, growth and yield of plants grown under saline conditions. Nawaz and Ashraf (2007) and Ashraf *et al.* (2008a) found that foliar application of 50 and



FIG. 14. Total plant dry weight (a) and leaf water (b), osmotic (c), and turgor (d) potentials of maize plants (cultivar C-20) grown under high (salt) and low (control) salt stress after foliar application of 0, 50, and 100 mM glycine betaine. SEMs are presented by vertical bars (following Nawaz and Ashraf, 2007).

100 mM solutions of GB during the vegetative growth stage of maize and wheat counteracts the salt-induced reduction in plant growth and yield. This beneficial effect of GB was associated with a marked decrease in osmotic potential and an increase in turgor potential in the leaves (Figure 14). Abbas et al. (2010) found that foliar application of 50 mM GB increases the growth and yield of two eggplant cultivars that were grown under saline conditions. Foliar application of 50 and 100 mM GB in solution improved the growth of wheat cultivars grown under field conditions with salt stress of 15 dS m⁻¹ by increasing photosynthetic rates (Raza et al., 2006). Proline also ameliorated the adverse effects of salinity on fruit yield of melon (Kaya et al., 2007) and cucumber (Huang et al., 2009), and on growth of young olive trees (Ben Ahmed et al., 2010). Germination percentage of sorghum seeds under saline conditions was increased when the seeds were presoaked in GB solution, and seedling growth was further improved when sprayed with GB (Arafa et al., 2009). Water status in maize (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007), olive (Ben Ahmed et al., 2010) and cucumber (Huang et al., 2009) grown under saline conditions was improved after these plants were sprayed with 10 to 33, 25 to 50, and 100 mM GB, respectively. An increase in germination was also found in seeds of the desert shrub Halogeton glomeratus when 1 mM proline was added to the saline germination solution containing <900 mM NaCl (Khan et al., 2009).

The following mechanisms have been suggested for the protection of plants against the harmful effects of salts by externally applied compatible solutes: (i) mitigation of oxidativestress damage to membrane transporters (Cuin and Shabala, 2008); (ii) maintenance of membrane permeability, as shown for melon plants (Kaya *et al.*, 2007); (iii) increased activity of POX, as shown for cucumber plants (Huang *et al.*, 2009); (iv) increased activities of the antioxidative enzymes SOD, CAT and APX, and decreased activity of polyphenol oxidase, even under the high external salinity of 200 mM NaCl, as shown for young olive trees (Ben Ahmed *et al.*, 2010); (v) an increase in SOD activity, decreased lipid oxidation and increased chlorophyll content, as shown for common ice plants (Shevyakova *et al.*, 2009); (vi) reduced K flux out of the root cells, maintaining cytosolic K homeostasis, as shown for barley plants (Cuin and Shabala, 2005); (vii) increased concentrations of Ca, K and N in leaves, as shown for melon plants (Kaya *et al.*, 2007).

Several investigators (e.g., Yang and Lu, 2005; Raza et al., 2006; Abbas et al., 2010) pointed out that increased photosynthetic rates, which were probably a result of water status improvement which increased stomatal conductance, are most likely responsible for the enhancement of growth and production of plants under saline stress. The mechanism of salt-stress alleviation of GB-treated plants was also studied by proteomic analysis of radicle and hypocotyl proteins of tomato seedlings grown in nutrient solution with 120 mM NaCl and 5 mM GB (Chen et al., 2009). Twenty-three salt-stress-response proteins could be identified and classified into six groups in the salinity-exposed plants. Salinity-induced inhibition of plant growth could be alleviated with GB via an increase in six proteins' expressions in the salt-tolerant cv. Patio, and two proteins' expressions in the salt-sensitive cv. F144, to over twofold their expression in untreated stressed plants.

Although application of proline and GB through the root system requires larger amounts of material than application by foliar spray, the former is the most common application method (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). Soaking seeds in solutions of proline or GB prior to their sowing has also been used in several cases (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). The effective concentrations of GB and proline and the timing and frequency of their application depend on the specific plant species to be treated (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). It is important to emphasize, however, that practical use of GB and proline at optimal concentrations and frequencies under field conditions is costly and may not be feasible. Therefore, the use of crude extracts containing compatible solutes, such as sugarbeet extracts, has been recommended as a replacement for GB (Abbas *et al.*, 2010).

An increase in the concentration of trehalose, another compatible solute, which can serve as an osmoprotectant against salt stress in plant tissues, could be obtained by an inhibitor of trehalase activity (Lopez et al., 2009). In Medicago truncatula plants, which were grown in sterile vermiculite and irrigated with nutrient solution containing 0 or 50 mM NaCl, increasing trehalose in the root nodules by validamycin A application increased the plant's dry biomass (Lopez et al., 2009). Seckin et al. (2009) used mannitol, a sugar alcohol that is not synthesized by higher plants, as an osmoprotectant, and found that exposing young wheat seedlings to 100 mM mannitol for 24 h and then subjecting them to 100 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution results in improved root growth, increased activities of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, POX, CAT, APX and GR, and reduced membrane lipid peroxidation. It should be noted, however, that the number of studies on the use of trehalose and mannitol to alleviate adverse salinity effects is limited.

F. Foliar Application of Nutrients

Foliar application of mineral nutrients (N, P, K) has been found to mitigate the adverse effects of salinity in several crops. The most effective nutrient is K, which has been tested in various forms. Akram et al. (2009b) found that foliar application of various salts containing 1.25% K to sunflowers plants grown in 150 mM NaCl in the rooting media increases plant K content, root and shoot dry weight, and achene yield and size. The salts K_2SO_4 , KH_2PO_4 , KNO_3 , and K_2CO were more effective than KCl or KOH. In another study, Akram et al. (2009a) found that spraying ≥ 130 mM K₂SO₄ on sunflowers grown under similar saline conditions increases photosynthesis and transpiration rates, stomatal conductance, WUE, leaf turgor, and plant growth and yield, but the contents of Na, Cl, Mg, Ca, P, and N in the plants were not affected by the K₂SO₄ application. In a later report, Akram et al. (2011) recommended foliar application of KH₂PO₄ and showed its effectiveness in improving growth and yield of sunflower plants grown in pots under similar conditions. The improved growth was associated with enhanced photosynthetic capacity, WUE and RWC.

Foliar application of 10 mM KH_2PO_4 to eggplants grown under saline conditions (50 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution) improves plant growth and yield, lowers Na content in the fruits, and increases the content of K, Ca and P in all plant parts, and sugar in the fruits (Elwan, 2010). It was also found that spraying 500 mg L⁻¹ KCl solution on cotton plants irrigated with saline water $(6.2 \,\mathrm{dS} \,\mathrm{m}^{-1})$ enhances the plants' vegetative and reproductive production; this enhancement was much more pronounced when the application of KCl was combined with 500 mg L^{-1} NH₄NO₃ (Jabeen and Ahmed, 2009). In a recent paper, Jabeen and Ahmed (2012) showed that a mixture of 250 mg L^{-1} KNO₃ and 5 μ g L⁻¹ H₃BO₃ and Fe-EDTA sprayed on sunflower and safflower plants irrigated with water containing sea salts at EC levels of 4.8 or 8.6 dS m⁻¹ partially minimizes the salt-induced damage; fresh and dry biomass, number and weight of seeds and amount of oil in sunflower and safflower plants increased, and the effect was independent of their growth under non-saline or saline conditions. Akram and Ashraf (2009) also found that a combined spray of K and N (~250 mM KNO₃) on sunflower grown under saline conditions of 150 mM NaCl in the growing media increases chlorophyll content, CO2 assimilation rates, quantum yield, leaf turgor, vegetative growth, and K and N contents in the leaves. Zheng et al. (2010) confirmed these findings in their study and in addition, they showed an improvement in flour and dough quality from wheat plants grown with 100 mM NaCl in the growing medium, and sprayed with 10 mM KNO₃.

The effect of foliar application of N as $Ca(NO_3)_2$ in solution on alleviation of the adverse effects of salinity in cowpea plants exposed to 50 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution was studied by (Murillo-Amador *et al.*, 2006). Application of $Ca(NO_3)_2$ increased chlorophyll fluorescence, but did not improve stomatal conductance, transpiration rates, net photosynthesis or intercellular CO₂ concentrations. Yildirim *et al.* (2009) found that foliar application of $Ca(NO_3)_2$ and KNO_3 increases the dry weight and leaf RWC in strawberry plants grown in a mixture of soil and peat at a 1/1 (v/v) ratio and irrigated with water containing 40 mM NaCl.

Foliar application of urea was also found to overcome the adverse effects of salinity. Younis et al. (2009b) found that spraying a 3 to 5% urea solution before and after transplanting of lettuce plants grown under saline conditions of $\leq 7 \, dS \, m^{-1}$ increases the growth parameters and metabolite contents in the treated plants, but application of urea at concentrations $\geq 6\%$ significantly decreases these same parameters. An increase in proline, as well as in glycine content was shown in lettuce plants whose foliage was sprayed with increasing concentrations of urea (Hasaneen et al., 2008). Del Amor and Cuadra-Crespo (2011) found that broccoli plants, grown in coconut fibers and irrigated with saline water containing 40 mM NaCl by drip irrigation, and sprayed with 10 g L^{-1} urea solution, maintain their gas-exchange parameters and leaf N and Na contents at levels similar to those in plants grown under non-saline conditions. However, this beneficial effect of urea application was not found in broccoli plants irrigated with water containing 120 mM NaCl (del Amor and Cuadra-Crespo, 2011). In mulberry trees, which were grown in pots and exposed to salinity levels between 1.58 and 19.2 dS m⁻¹ in the growing media, the addition of nitrogenous Azotobacter chroococcum biofertilizer by foliar application was more effective at improving tree growth and development than soil application (Vijayan et al., 2007).

G. Application of Other Chemicals and Microalgae Extracts

The need to increase plant tolerance to salinity has led researchers to study the effects of various chemicals, such as metabolic intermediates, fungicides and other toxic materials, on plants exposed to salinity. Several such chemicals have demonstrated positive effects on plant growth and production or on basic physiological activities related to salinity tolerance.

1. Plant and Microalgae Extracts

Wheat plants irrigated with water containing 10 or 20% seawater and treated with water extract of the microalgae *Spirolina maxima* and *Chlorella ellipsoidea* increases the carotenoid, tocopherol, and protein contents in the grains, associated with increased antioxidant activity (Abd El-Baki *et al.*, 2010). Abbas *et al.* (2010) found that application of sugarbeet extract to eggplant counteracts the adverse effects of salinity by increasing photosynthetic rates, stomatal conductance, leaf K and Ca contents, plant growth and yield, and decreasing leaf Na and Cl content. As the sugarbeet extract contains substantial amounts of GB, it may be applied as a source of GB for improvement of plant growth and production under saline conditions (Abbas *et al.*, 2010).

Wheat germ agglutinin, a lectin extracted from wheat germ, is normally used for the binding of various metabolites. Bezrukova *et al.* (2008) found that in 4-day-old wheat seedlings pretreated with wheat germ agglutinin, which were then placed in a solution containing 2% NaCl for up to 24 h, salinity-induced ROS activity, lipid peroxidation, and electrolyte leakage are abolished.

2. Metabolic Intermediates

Aminolevulinic acid (ALA)-a precursor of chlorophyll and heme biosynthesis-at a concentration of between 0.01 and 10 mg L⁻¹ promoted the germination of pakchoi seeds stressed at a salinity level of 150 mM NaCl (Wang et al., 2005). Increased growth and improved water relations were found in oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) exposed to 100 to 200 mM NaCl in the nutrient solution after foliar application of 30 mg L^{-1} ALA (Naeem et al., 2010). ALA application also partially prevented the decrease in shoot and root growth, chlorophyll content, net photosynthesis, and leaf water potential caused by salinity, and increased the leaf contents of all nutrients except Mn and Cu. Zhang et al. (2006) found that addition of 0.3 to 3.0 mg L^{-1} ALA to the propagation medium of potato plantlets propagated from single node sections, containing 0.5% NaCl, ameliorates the adverse effects of salinity. The number, diameter, and fresh weight of microtubers increased. The ameliorative effects of ALA application were attributed to protection of membranes in the microtubers against oxidative damage; for instance, POX activity was increased by 73% and that of polyphenol oxidase by 28% as compared with the untreated plants (Zhang et al., 2006). ALA was also used to improve salt-tolerance of date palm seedlings subjected to seawater at concentrations of up to 30 dS m^{-1} by

application of 0.08% ALA-based fertilizer (Youssef and Awad, 2008). The seedlings showed increased photosynthetic rates, total chlororophyll and chlorophyll a contents and biochemical factors limiting gas exchange and assimilation rates.

The isoflavone genisten served as an antioxidant to mitigate salt stress in plants. Miransari and Smith (2007) found that application of genisten at concentrations ranging from 5 to 29 μ M increases the yield of soybean grown under saline conditions by up to 21%. In this case, the disrupted signal between the plant itself and the nodules was eliminated, and this probably increased nodulation and N₂-fixation in the treated plants.

3. Fungicides and Phytotoxins

Triadimefon is a fungicide used for controlling plant diseases, such as powdery mildew and rust, which has also been used to mitigate salinity's adverse effects. Jaleel *et al.* (2008) found that addition of 5 mg L^{-1} triadimefon to the irrigation water mitigates the adverse effects of salinity on germination percentage, chlorophyll content, non-enzymatic antioxidant content, antioxidant enzyme activity, and growth of *Withania somnifera* plants grown in washed sand irrigated with water containing 40 mM NaCl.

Similar results were documented for another fungicide - paclobutrazol - applied to cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L.) subjected to 100 mM NaCl in the irrigation water (Manivannan et al., 2008) or to vinca (Catharanthus roseus L.) subjected to 80 mM NaCl (Jaleel et al., 2007). Stem elongation, plant fresh and dry weight and leaf area were inhibited in both plants under salinity. In cowpea, the activities of SOD, POX and CAT and in vinca, those of ascorbic acid and glutathione were also decreased. When 15 mg L^{-1} paclobutrazol was added to the irrigation water, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic activities were significantly enhanced. Paclobutrazol was also added to Nerium oleander plants irrigated with saline water (70 mM NaCl) at a rate of 30 mg per plant (Banon et al., 2005). The salinity-induced leaf defoliation and reduced root dry weight were decreased by paclobutrazol. The contents of Na and Cl in stems and roots and of Cl in the leaves were decreased due to reduced uptake, and osmotic adjustment was improved through the accumulation of organic compounds.

The fungicide hexaconazole was found to ameliorate salinity injury in canola seedlings grown after seed soaking and initial soil wetting with a solution of 200 mM NaCl. Hexaconazole, which was applied at a concentration of 50 mg L⁻¹, increased shoot and root growth, dry weight, chlorophyll content, protein content and antioxidant enzyme activity (Akbari *et al.*, 2011).

Fusicoccin is synthesized by the fungus *Fusicoccum* which is normally toxic to plants. It induces an irreversible binding of 14-3-3 protein to the C terminus of the H⁺-ATPase, thus activating H⁺ pumping. Shahba *et al.* (2008) studied the effect of 10 μ M fusicoccin added to germination solutions containing 0, 15 or 30 dS m⁻¹ NaCl on the germination of saltgrass (*Distichlis speciata*), and found that the addition of fusicoccin significantly enhances germination. Similar results for saltgrass germination were obtained under application of 30 mM thiourea (Shahba *et al.*, 2008). Khan *et al.* (2009) found that application of fusicoccin and thiourea also alleviates germination inhibition of the desert shrub (*Halogeton glomeraus*) under salinity rates of 300 to 900 mM NaCl in the germination solution.

Coronatine is a phytotoxin produced by several plantpathogenic bacteria. Xie *et al.* (2008) found that pretreatment of cotton seedlings with 0.01 μ M coronatine solution confers salinity tolerance to mature cotton plants grown hydroponically in 150 mM NaCl. Coronatine increased the scavenging activities of POD, CAT, GR, and 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl, and consequently the production of ROS was reduced, membrane peroxidation and electrolyte leakage were prevented, and seedling growth was increased.

V. CONCLUDING REMARKS

There are two main approaches to alleviating the adverse effects of salinity on agricultural crops: (1) development of salt-tolerant cultivars by screening, conventional breeding, and genetic engineering, and (2) the traditional approaches that involve treatment and management of the soil, plants, irrigation water, and plant environment. Success has been limited using the first approach under commercial growing conditions, mainly because salt-tolerance traits in plants are very complex. The present paper reviews, analyzes, and discusses the traditional approaches related to: (i) improvement of the plant environment, (ii) inoculation of the crop plant with bacteria or fungi, and (iii) treating the plants themselves.

The plant environment can be improved by decreasing salt content and concentration and enhancing nutrients composition and their concentrations in the root zone, and by controlling the plants' aerial environment. Salt content in the root zone can be reduced mainly by the following means:

a) Under irrigation conditions, the dominant technique is salt leaching, based on adding a sufficient amount of water beyond that required for evapotranspirative demands. This technique increases the yield of different crops, such as citrus, avocado, sugarcane, tomato, maize, wheat, rice, and pepper, grown under various saline conditions. The guideline for calculating the LR for salt leaching is based, in general, on steady-state conditions, disregarding salt precipitation and preferential flow, and assuming that salt concentration of the soil solution at any point in the root zone is constant. Recently, new LR-calculation models have been suggested that take into account soil/water interactions as a dynamic process. Switching the calculation of the LR from steady-state to dynamic decreases the estimated LR values, leading to substantial water savings and a reduction in chemical movement toward the groundwater, with no reduction in crop yield. Advanced irrigation systems can provide important means for reducing the salt content in the root zone. Leaching of salts from the root zone is more efficient and crop yields under saline conditions are higher by irrigation with a drip system than by surface or sprinkler irrigation, due to the more favorable distribution of salts in the irrigated field.

- b) In many areas, such as the Mediterranean region, winter rainfall can leach the salts accumulated in the soil profile during the irrigated summer season. The effectiveness of this leaching is controlled by soil water-holding capacity and rainfall properties, such as its distribution. Salt leaching is more effective under concentrated rainfall during the winter season (pre-season salt leaching) than under rainfall distributed throughout the year (mid-season leaching). It should be emphasized, however, that the leaching technique under irrigation and rainfall conditions can only be applied under adequate drainage conditions, which allow leaching of the salts below the root zone.
- c) Growing high-salt-tolerant primer or companion plants. The idea in this approach is that the primer and companion plants will absorb significant quantities of salt from the soil, and consequently establish a less salted rootzone for more sensitive crops. This approach was tested in several studies with trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*), canola, lucerne, safflower, sulla, and tall wheatgrass as primer plants, and *Salsola soda* as the companion plant. It was found that the primer and companion plants decreased the salinity level in the rootzone and increased crop yields, but the companion plant was only useful for relatively low salinity (~4 dS m⁻¹ in the substrate solution).
- d) Covering the soil surface, mainly with plastic sheet or mulch. The soil cover is designed to reduce evaporation from the soil surface, and thus decreases the salt accumulation in the upper soil layer. It was found that covering the soil with a plastic sheet, wheat, maize or rice straw, gravel, or pine needles decreased, in general, the average salt concentration in the upper soil layer (0–40 cm) and increased crop yield. However, the recommended amount of mulch for soil cover needs to be further studied in the field, under local and specific conditions.

The use of suitable fertilization to improve nutrient composition and concentrations in salted root zones has been documented in many studies. K, N as NO_3^- , and Ca are the major fertilizers that most improve the performance of crops, such as potatoes, lettuce, barley, strawberry, pepper, endives, tomato, and sugarcane, under saline conditions. The added K counteracts the deleterious effects of Na by lowering Na uptake by the plants. Increasing NO_3^- concentration in the soil solution might decrease Cl⁻ uptake by the plant under saline conditions, as a result of competition between NO₃⁻ and Cl⁻ anions for their uptake by the plant roots. The mechanisms suggested to be responsible for the alleviation of salinity damage by Ca application in the growing media are (i) supplemental Ca, mostly as CaSO₄, which affects membrane permeability, leading to higher concentrations of Ca, K, and N, and a lower concentration of Na in the leaf cells; (ii) increasing GB and proline contents in the leaves and callus of several plant species leads to osmotic

Downloaded by [University of Florida] at 07:28 12 March 2013

adjustment of the plants; (iii) increased Ca in the leaves, that enhances the activity of antioxidant enzymes, such as SOD, POX, and CAT, leading to increased protection of cells in the treated plants.

Improving the plants' aerial environment mitigates the adverse effects of salinity on growth and crop production primarily by the following means:

- a) Increasing aerial CO₂ concentration significantly enhances photosynthesis and WUE of various plants under saline conditions. This enhancement is attributed to mechanisms that reduce water loss, form thicker cell walls and cuticle, and increase chlorophyll and carotenoid contents, ROS detoxification activity, and the expression of enzymes responsible for more active detoxification of ROS and of β -ATPase, which are efficient in ion transport and homeostasis in plants. In some cases, however, elevated CO₂ concentration stimulates plant growth under saline conditions mainly by improving leaf water status.
- b) Misting in a greenhouse increases the air humidity and decreases the vapor-pressure deficit and air temperature which, in turn, increase day time stomatal conductance, net CO₂ assimilation rates, and water uptake in various plants. These parameters cause the leaf water potential to be less negative,

and enhance the turgor, leaf area, dry matter production, and yield of the plants.

c) Shading the greenhouse decreases incoming radiation intensity and the aerial temperature, and consequently increases the growth and fruit yield of different plants grown under saline conditions. However, the interactions between air temperature and salinity, their effects on the growth and yield of various crops, and the mechanism responsible for this phenomenon require further verification and clarification.

Overcoming the adverse effects of salinity and increasing the productivity of various plants can also be achieved by inoculating the roots with salt-tolerant bacteria, as described below:

- a) Bacterium-mediated tolerance of plants to salt stress has been shown for several crops, such as peas, maize, groundnut, chickpeas, faba beans, lettuce, pepper, and tomato. The most effective rhizobacteria were *Pseudomonas putida* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*, isolated from the rhizosphere of wheat grown in salt-affected soils.
- b) Mycorrhizal fungi can increase salt-tolerance in plants. For example, the ectomycorrhizal basidiomycete *Piriformo-spora indica* was found to be salt tolerant and to induce tolerance in host monocot and eudicot plants. Studies conducted on barley as the host inoculated with this fungus

	[†] Physiological activities in plants																		
*Trt.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
A	х	х		х	х				х	х	х			х				х	x
В	Х		х	Х							х	х	х	х					х
С	Х	х		Х		х	х			х				х				х	
D			х											х					
E	х	х										х						х	
F	Х	х										х	х						х
G	Х			Х					х	х	х			х					
Н	Х	х	х	Х	Х				х	х	х		х		х	х	х		
Ι		х								х	х	х							
J		х				х	х		х	х	х	х			х		х		
Κ	х					х	х	х		х		х							

 TABLE 2

 Treatments (Trt.) and their effects on physiological activities in plants (denoted by an x) under saline conditions

Note. *Treatments list; †Physiological activities list.

A - Soil fertilization with K; B - Soil fertilization with Ca; C - Soil fertilization with N; D - Soil fertilization with P; E - Soil fertilization with S; F - Micronutrients fertilization; G - Organic manure application; H - Si application; I - Soil mulching; J - Increasing aerial CO₂; K-Increasing air humidity; 1 - Reduction in Na and Cl uptake & transport to shoot; 2 - K uptake enhancement; 3 - Ca uptake enhancement; 4 - Increasing of osmolytes synthesis; 5 - Carbohdrates accumulation & osmotic adjustment; 6 - Controling stomatal & leaf conductance; 7 - Improvement of plant water status; 8 - Transpiration rate reduction; 9 - Increasing photosynthetic pigment level; 10 - Increasing photosynthetic rate; 11 - Activity enhancement of enzymatic & non-enzymatic antioxidants; 12 - Increasing scavenging or detoxification of ROS; 13 - Improvement of plasma-membrane stability & function; 14 - Enhancement of N, P, K uptake; 15 - Activity stimulation of enzymes; 16 - Controling the levels of planr hormones; 17 - Diminishing the increase in leaf modulus of elasticity; 18 - Synthesis enhancement of amino acid & N metabolism; 19 - Reduction in blossom-end-rot

	281

	[†] Physiological activities in plants																			
*Trt.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
A	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х	х					х		х			
В		х		х	х					х		х					х			х
С	х	х	х	х	х		х	Х	х	х				х	х		х		х	
D			х			х		х			Х	х		х		х	х	х		
E	х	х		х		х	х		х	х							Х			
F	х	х		Х	х			Х	Х	Х		х								х
G	х	х		Х		х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	х	х
Η	х	х				х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х		х						х
Ι	х	х				Х	Х	Х	Х									х		
J	х	х	х	х		х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	Х	х		х	Х			Х	х

 TABLE 3

 Treatments (Trt.) and their effects on physiological activities in plants (denoted by an x) under saline conditions

Note. *List of treatments; †List of physiological activities.

A - Inoculation with bacteria; B - Inoculation with mycorrhiza; C - Inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhiza; D - Seed priming; E - Plant grafting; F - Antioxidant application; G - Growth regulators application; H - Compatible solutes application; I - Nutrient foliar application; J - Other chemicals application; 1 - Reduction in Na and Cl uptake & transport to shoot; 2 - K uptake enhancement; 3 - Ca & Mg uptake enhancement; 4 - Increasing of osmolytes synthesis; 5 – Carbohdrates accumulation & osmotic adjustment; 6 - Controling stomatal conductance; 7 - Improvement of plant water status; 8 - Increasing photosynthetic pigment levels; 9 - Increasing photosynthetic rate; 10 - Activity enhancement of enzymatic & non-enzymatic antioxidants; 11 - Increasing scavenging or detoxification of ROS; 12 - Attenuation of lipid peroxidation; 13 - Increasing carotenoids and toocopherol content; 14 - Improvement of plasma-membrane stability & function; 15 - Decreasing electrolyte leakage; 16 - Activity stimulation of enzymes; 17 - Controling the levels of planr hormones; 18 - Increasing cell diviation rate; 19 - Increasing nodules number and N fixation; 20 - Synthesis enhancement of amino acid & N metabolism

showed enhanced activity of antioxidants, such as DHAR, and increased the concentration of ascorbic acid. The activity of additional antioxidants, such as GR, CAT, APX, DHAR and MDHAR, was also increased in salinity-exposed barley roots colonized by P. indica. The most responsive antioxidants were DHAR, MDHAR and CAT. Roots of forest trees exposed to salt and mycorrhiza showed higher accumulation of ABA and SA, known as stimulators of salinity tolerance, and a decrease in auxin and jasmonic acid. The K/Na ratios, carbohydrate accumulation and root cell volume were also increased in mycorrhiza-colonized plants. The main beneficial effects of the mycorrhizal fungi were attributed to increased P uptake during early growth stages and increased K uptake during later stages, leading to increased K/Na ratio in the roots, and decreased uptake of Na and Cl.

Other plant treatments that can be effective at reducing damage due to salinity are:

a) Seed treatment prior to germination (seed priming) contributes to metabolic repair in seeds, increased germination, reduced time of imbibition and induced osmotic adjustment. For example, priming of melon seeds in an 18 dS m⁻¹ solution decreased the negative effects of irrigation with saline water. In those plants, the content of K and Ca in the leaves increased, and this increase prevented the toxic effects of the

salinity. Seed priming with plant hormones, such as ABA, BA, IAA, and GA, is also effective in inducing salt-tolerance. Use of large seeds was found effective at overcoming salinity problems in several mature plants.

- b) Grafting of salt-sensitive plants onto salt-tolerant rootstocks can alleviate the adverse effects of salinity. In this case, the rootstocks increase the tolerance of the grafted plants mainly by preventing accumulation of Na and Cl in the leaves.
- c) Application of antioxidants, such as ascorbic acid, to salinityexposed plants increases their resistance to salinity. Some studies have shown that these antioxidants increase the activities of leaf SOD, CAT, APX and GR which prevent the damage caused by salinity.
- d) Application of plant growth regulators such as SA, BRs, ABA, IAA, Kin, GA, jasmonates, and polyamines can alleviate the adverse effects of salinity on vegetative growth and yield quantity and quality. The main effects of these growth regulators are in activating some antioxidant enzymes, decreasing Na and Cl uptake, increasing K/Na ratio in the shoot, and increasing photosynthesis.
- e) Foliar application of mineral nutrients (N, P, and K) can mitigate the adverse effects of salinity, with the most effective nutrient being K. Application of these nutrients increases the chlorophyll content, CO₂-assimilation rate, quantum yield, leaf turgor, vegetative growth, and K and N contents in the leaves.

 f) Application of plant extracts, metabolic intermediates, fungicides, and phytotoxins is effective at increasing salt-tolerance of several plants. These chemicals increase nodulation, N₂ fixation and enzyme activities, and decrease electrolyte leakage, thereby increasing seedling growth.

Several physiological activities in plants are known to be inhibited by salinity, resulting in the adverse effects of salinity on plant growth and productivity. To mitigate these adverse effects, the relevant physiological activities need to be restored. The different treatments and means discussed in the present review that have effects on physiological activities in the plants are summarized in Tables 2 and 3. Plant treatments that involve application of growth regulators, compatible solute, and other chemicals, inoculation of plant roots with bacteria and arbuscular ectomycorrhiza, and application of K fertilizers and Si to the soil under saline conditions stimulate a large number of physiological parameters (\geq 10) in the salinity-exposed plants (Tables 2 and 3). In contrast, soil fertilization with P and S stimulate fewer than five physiological parameters in the plants (Tables 2 and 3).

Nearly all of the studies published on alleviation of salinity stress in crop plants by traditional approaches have concentrated mostly on one specific treatment. Hardly any of the studies have made an attempt to explore the simultaneous effects of two or more treatments known to have a positive effect on salinity alleviation. Since the mechanisms underlying the improvement of salinity tolerance by the various treatments are not fully understood, it is quite possible that different treatments have additive or even synergistic effects. The salinity-incurred damage to plants may thus be decreased much more effectively, to the benefit of plant growth and production under salinity. Studies along these lines are promising and await further investigation. Such studies may also shed light on the various mechanisms by which the treatments overcome salinity barriers.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. N. Bernstein for pre-review of the entire manuscript and Dr. R. Cohen for his constructive comments on "Alleviation of salinity hazards using bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi" section.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, W., Ashraf, M., and Akram, N. A. 2010. Alleviation of stressed-induced adverse effects in eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) by glycinebetaine and sugarbeet extraxts. *Scientia Hort.* 125: 188–195.
- Abbaspour, H. 2010. Investigation of the effect of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhyza on mineral nutrition and growth of Carthamus tinctorius under salt stress conditions. *Russian J. Plant Physiol.* 57: 526–531.
- Abd El-Baki, H. H., El-Baz, F. K., and El-Baroty, G. S. 2010. Enhancing antioxidant vailability in wheat grains from plants grown under seawater stress in response to microalgae extract treatment. J. Sci. Food Agric. 90: 299–303.
- Abdul Jaleel, C., Manivannan, P., Sankar, P., Kishorekumar, A., and Panneerselvam, R. 2007. Calcium chloride effects on salinity-induced oxidative stress, proline metabolism and indole alkaloid accumulation in Catharanthus roseus. *C.R. Biologies.* 330: 674–683.

- Aguilar-Aguilar, S., Perez-Moreno, J., Ferrera-Cerrato, R., Grimaldo-Juarez, O., Cervantes-Diaz, L., and Gonzalez-Mondoza, D. 2009. Ectomycorrhiza fungi and tolerance to salinity in plants. *Revista Chilena de Historia Natural*. 82: 163–168.
- Ahmed, B. A. O., Inoue, M., and Moritani, S. 2010. Effect of saline water irrigation and manure application on the available water content, soil salinity and growth of wheat. *Agric. Water Manage.* 97: 165–170.
- Ahmed, B. A. O., Ymamoto, T., and Inoui, M. 2007. Impact of leaching on sustainability of sorghum on dune sand under saline drip irrigation. *Transactions* of the ASABE. 50: 1279–1288.
- Akbari, G. A., Gholam, A., Hojati, M., Modarres-Sanavy, S., Seyed, A. M., and Ghanati, F. 2011. Exogenously applied hexaconazole ameliorates salinity stress by inducing an antioxidant defense system in *Brassica napus* L. plants. *Pesticide Biochem. Physiol.* **100**: 244–250.
- Akram, M. S. and Ashraf, M. 2009. Alleviation of adverse effects of salt stress on sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) by exogenous application of potassium nitrate. J. Applied Bot. Food Quality-Angewandte Botanik. 83: 19–27.
- Akram, M. S. and Ashraf, M. 2011. Exogenous application of potassium dihydrogen phosphate can alleviate the adverse effect of salt stress on sunflower. *J. Plant Nutr.* 34: 1041–1057.
- Akram, M. S., Ashraf, M., and Akram, N. A. 2009a. Effectiveness of potassium sulfate in mitigating salt-induced adverse effects of different physiobiochemical attributes in sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.). *Flora*. 204: 471–483.
- Akram, M. S., Ashraf, M., Shahbaz, M., and Akram, N. A. 2009b. Growth and photo synthesis of salt stressed sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) plants as affected by foliar-applied different potassium salts. J. Plant Nutrit. Soil Sci-Zeitschrift fur Pflanzenernahrung und Bodenkunde. 172: 884–893.
- Aktas, H., Abak, K., Ozturk, L., and Cakmak, I. 2006. The effect of zinc on growth and shoot concentration of sodium and potassium in pepper plants under salinity stress. *Turkish J. Agric. Forestry.* **30**: 407–412.
- Aktas, H., Karni, L., Chang, D. C., Turhan, E., Bar-Tal, A., and Aloni, B. 2005. The suppression of salinity associated oxygen radicals production, in pepper (Capsicum annuum) fruit, by manganese, zinc and calcium in relation to its sensitivity to blossom end rot. *Physiol. Plantarum*. **123**: 67–74.
- Albacete, A., Ghanem, M. E., Martinez-Andujar, C., Acodta, M., Sanchez-Bravo, J., Martinez, V., Lutts, S., Dodd, I. C., and Perez-AlfoCea, F. 2008. Hormonal changes in relation to biomass partitioning and shoot growth impairment in salinized tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum L.*). J. Exp. Bot. 59: 4119–4131.
- Al-Hakimi, A. and Hamada, A. M. 2001. Counteraction of salinity stress on wheat plants by grain soaking in ascorbic acid, thiamin or sodium salicylate. *Biol. Plantarum.* 44: 253–261.
- Ali, B., Athar, H. U. R., and Ashraf, M. 2008. Modulation of growth, photosynthetic capacity and water relations in salt stressed wheat plants by exogenously applied 24-Epibrassinolide. *Plant Growth Regul.* 56: 107–116.
- Ali, B., Hayat, S., and Ahmed, A. 2007. 24-Epibrassinolide ameliorates the saline stressin Chickpea (*Cicer arientum* L). *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 59: 217–223.
- Al-Karaki, G. N. 2006. Nursary inoculation of tomato with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and subsequent performance under irrigation with saline water. *Scientia Hort.* 109: 1–7.
- An, P., Inanaga, S., Lux, A., Li, X. J., Ali, M. E. K., Matsui, T., and Sugimoto, Y. 2002. Effects of salinity and relative humidity on two melon cultivars differing in salt tolerance. *Biolo. Plantarum.* 45: 409–415.
- An, P., Inanaga, S., Lux, A., Li, X. J., Enji, A. E., and Zhu, N. W. 2005. Interactive effects of salinity and air humidity on two tomato cultivars differing in salt tolerance. J. Plant Nutr. 28: 459–473.
- Arafa, A. A., Khafagy, M. A., and El-Banna, M. F. 2009. The effect of glycinebetaine or ascorbic acid on grain germination and leaf structure of sorghum plants grown under salinity stress. *Aust. J. Crop Sci.* 3: 294–304.
- Arfan, M., Athar, H. R., and Ashraf, M. 2007. Does exogenous application of salicylic acid through the rooting system modulate growth and photosynthetic capacity in two differently adapted spring wheat cultivats under salt stress? *J. Plant Physiol.* **164**: 685–694.

- Arshadullah, M., Hyder, S., and Ali, A. 2011. Sulphur supply enhances wheat growth and yield on saline-sodic soils. *Pak. J. Scientific and Industrial Res. Series B.* 54: 122–125.
- Asghari, H. R. 2008. Vesicular-arbuscular (VA) mycorrhiza improve salinity tolerance in pre-inoculation subterranean clover (*Trifolium subterraneum*). *Int. J. Plant Produc.* 2: 243–256.
- Ashraf, M. and Harris, P. J. C. 2004. Potential biochemical indicators of salinity tolerance in plants. *Plant Sci.* 166: 3–16.
- Ashraf, M. and Foolad, M. R. 2005. Pre-sowing seed treatment A shotgun approach to improve germination, plant growth, and crop yield under saline and non-saline conditions. *Adv. Agron.* 88: 223–271.
- Ashraf, M. and Foolad, M. R. 2007. Roles of glycine Btaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 59: 206– 216.
- Ashraf, M., Afzal, M., Ahmed, R., Maqsood, M. A., Shahzad, Tahir, M. A., Akhtar, N., and Aziz, A. 2012. Growth response of the salt-sensitive and salttolerant sugarcane genotypes to potassium nutrition under salt stress. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* 58: 365–398.
- Ashraf, M., Nawaz, K., Athar, H. U. R., and Raza, S. H. 2008a. Growth enhancement of two potential cereal crops, maize and wheat, by exogenous application of glycinebetaine. In: *Biosaline Agriculture and High Salinity Tolerance*. pp 21–35. Abdelly, C., Ozturk, M., Ashraf, M., and Grignon, C., Eds., Birkhauser Verlag AG P.O, Box 133 CH-4010 Basel.
- Ashraf, M., Athar, H. R., Harris, P. J. C., and Kwon, T. R. 2008b. Some prospective strategies for improving salt tolerance. Adv. Agron. 97: 232–240.
- Ashraf, M. Y., Hussain, F., Javed, A., Gul, A., Ross, M., and Ebert, G. 2008c. Effect of different sources and rates of nitrogen and supra optimal level of potassium fertilization on growth, yield and nutrient uptake by sugarcane grown under saline conditions. *Pak. J, Bot.* 40: 1521–1531.
- Ashraf, M., Rahmatullah, A. R., Afzal, M., Tahir, M. A., Kanwal, S., and Maqsood, M. A. 2009. Potassium and silicon improve yield and juice quality in sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum L.) under salt stress. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 195: 284–291.
- Ashraf, M., Akram, N. A., Arteca, R. N., and Foolad, M. R. 2010a. The physiological, biochemical and molecular roles of brassinosteroides and salicylic acid in plant processes and salt tolerance. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 29: 162–190.
- Assouline, S., Muller, M., Cohen, S., Ben-Hur, M., Grava, A., Narkis, K., and Silber, A. 2006. Soil-plant response to pulsed drip irrigation and salinity: Bell pepper case study. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **70**: 1556–1568.
- Athar, H. U. R., Khan, A., and Ashraf, M. 2008. Exogenously applied ascorbic acid alleviates salt-induced oxidation stress in wheat. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 63: 224–231.
- Avalbaev, A. M., Yuldashev, R. A., Fatkhuddinova, R. A., Urusov, F. A., Safutdinova, Yu.V., and Shakirova, F. M. 2010. The influence of 24-epibrassidinolide on the hormonal status of wheat plants under sodium chloride. *Appl. Biochem. Microbiol.* 46: 99–102.
- Ayers, R. S. and Westcot, D. W. 1985. Water quality for agriculture. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper 29. p. 174. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Harrach, B. D., Niemczyk, E., Barna, B., Gullner, G., Janeczko, A., Kogel, K. H., Schafer, P., and Schwarczinger, I. 2008. Salt tolerance of barley induced by the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* is associated with a strong increase in antioxidants. *New Phytol.* 180: 501–510.
- Banon, S., Fernandez, J. A., Ochoa, A., and Sanchez Bianco, M. J. 2005. Paclobutrazol as an aid to reduce some effects of salt stress in oleander seedlings. *Eur. J. Hort. Sci.* 70: 43–49.
- Barhoumi, Z., Atia, A., Rabhi, M., Djebali, W., Abdelly, C., and Smaoui, A. 2010. Nitrogen and NaCl salinity effects on the growth and nutrient acquisition of the grasses *Aeluropus littoralis, Catapodium rigidum* and *Brachypodium distachyum. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 173: 149–157.
- Barnard, J. H., van Rensburg, L. D., and Bennie, A. T.P. 2010. Leaching irrigation saline sandy to sandy loam apedal soils with water of a constant salinity. *Irrigation Sci.* 28: 191–201.

- Bekheta, M. A., Abdelhamid, M. T., and El-Morsi, A. A. 2009. Physiological responses of Vicia faba to prohexadione calcium under saline conditions. *Planta Daninha*. 27: 769–779.
- Belew, D., Astatkie, T., Mokashi, M. N., Getachew, Y. and Patil, C. P. 2010. Effects of salinity and mycorrhizal inoculation (*Glomus fasciculatum*) on growth responses of grape rootstocks (*Vitis* spp). S. African J. Ecol. Viticulture. 31: 82–88.
- Ben Ahmed, C., Ben Rouina, B., Sansoy, S., Boukhriss, M., and Ben Abdullah, F. 2010. Exogenous proline effects on photosynthesis performance and Antioxidant defense system in young olive tree. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58: 4216–4222.
- Ben Ahmed, H., Manaa, A., and Zid, E. 2008. Salt tolerance of Setaria verticullata L.: a short-cycle poaceae. *Comptes Renddus Biologies*. 31: 164–170.
- Ben-Gal, A., Ityel, E., Dudley, L., Cohen, S., Yermiyahu, U., Presnov, E., and Zigmond, L. 2008. Effect of irrigation water salinity on transpiration and leaching requirements: A case stydy of bell peppers. *Agric. Water Manage*. 95: 587–597.
- Ben-Hur, M., Li, F. H., Keren, R., Ravina, I., and Shalit, G. 2001. Water and salt distribution in a field irrigated with marginal water under high water table conditions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 65: 191–198.
- Ben-Oliel, G., Kant, S., Naim, M., Rabinowitch, H. D., Takeoka, G. R., Buttery, R. G., and Kafkafi, U. 2004. Effect of ammonium to nitrate ratio and salinity on yield and fruit quality of large and small tomato fruit hybrids. *J. Plant Nutr.* 27: 1795–1812.
- Bera, A. K., Pat, M. K., and Bera, A. 2006: Brassinolide ameliorates effects of salt stress on germination and seedling growth of rice. *Indian J. Plant Physiol.* 11: 182–189.
- Bernstein, N. 2013. Effects of salinity on root growth. In: *Plant Roots: The Hidden Half 4th ed.* Eshel, A. and Beeckman, T., Eds. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 784 pp.
- Bernstein, N., Shoresh, M., Xu, Y., and Huang, B. 2010. Involvement of the plant antioxidative response in the differential growth sensitivity to salinity of leaves vs. roots during cell development. *Free Radicals Biol Med.* 49: 1161–1171.
- Bezborodov, G. A., Shadmanov, D. K., Mirhashimov, R. T., Yuldashev, T., Qureshi, A. S., Noble, A. D., and Qadir, M. 2010. Mulching and water quality effects on soil salinity and sodicity dynamics and cotton productivity in *Central Asia. Agric. Ecosystems Environ.* **138**: 95–102.
- Bezrukova, M., Kildibekova, A., and Shakirova, F. 2008. WGA reduces the level of oxidative stress in wheat seedlings under salinity. *Plant Growth Regul.* 54: 195–201.
- Bhadauria, H. S. and Afria, B. S. 2005. Effect of Cycocel and saline irrigation water on germination, yield and yield attributes in different cultivars of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). J. Physiol. Res. 18: 47–52.
- Bhattacharjes, S. 2008. Triadimefon pretreatment protects newly assembled membrane system and causes up-regulation of stress proteins in salinity stressed *Amaranthus lividus* L. during early germination. *J. Environ. Biol.* 29: 805–810.
- Bhattarai, S. P. and Midmore, D. J. 2009. Oxigation enhances growth, gas exchange and salt tolerance of vegetable soybean and cotton in saline Vertisol. *J. Integrative Plant Biol.* 52: 675–688.
- Bhattarai, S. P., Pendergast, L., and Midmore, D. J. 2006. Root aeration improves yield and water use efficiency of tomato in heavy clay and saline soils. *Scientia Hort.* 108: 278–288.
- Blanco, F. F., Folefatti, M. V., Ghei, H. R., and Fernandes, P. D. 2008. Growth and yield of corn irrigated with saline water. *Scientia Agricola*. 65: 574–580.
- Blom-Zanstra, M., Vogelzang, S., and Veen, B. 1998. Sodium fluxes in sweet pepper at varying sodium concentrations. J. Exp. Bot. 49: 1863– 1868.
- Boise, G., Bigras, F., Bertrand, A., Piche, Y., Fung, M. Y.P., and Khasa, D. P. 2006. Ectomycorrhizal fungi affect the physiological responses of *Picea gluca* and *Pinus banksiana* seedlings exposed to an NaCl gradient. *Tree Physiol.* 26: 1185–1196.

- Bolat, I., Kaya, C., Almaca, A., and Tmucin, S. 2006. Calcium sulfate improves salinity tolerance in rootstock of plum. J. Plant Nutr. 29: 553–564.
- Brumos, J., Talon, M., Buhlal, R., and Colmenero-Flores, J. 2010. Cl-Homeostasis in include and excluder citrus rootstocks: transport mechanism and identification of candidate genes. *Plant Cell Environ.* 33: 2012– 2027.
- Bybordi, A. 2011. Effect of different ratios of nitrate and ammonium on seed yield, oil yield, physiological attributes and fatty acid composition of canola under conditions of salt stress. J. Food Agric. Environ. 9: 520–524.
- Cantrell, I. C. and Linderman, R. G. 2001. Preinoculation of lettuce and onion with VA mycorrhizal fungi reduces deleterious effects of soil salinity. *Plant Soil.* 233: 269–281.
- Castro, V. M., Iturrieta, E. R., and Fassio, O. C. 2009. Rootstock effect on the tolerance of avocado plants cv Hass to NaCl stress. *Chilean J. Agric. Res.* 69: 316–324.
- Chachar, Q. L., Solangi, A. G., and Verhoef, A. 2008. Influence of sodium chloride on seed germination and seedling root growth of cotton. *Pak. J. Bot.* 40: 183–197.
- Chai, Q., Shao, X. Q., and Zhang, J. Q. 2010. Silicon effects on *Poa pratensis* responses to salinity. *HortScience*. 45: 1876–1881.
- Chen, M., Kang, Y. H., Wan, S. Q., and Liu, S. P. 2009. Drip irrigation with saline water for oleic sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). *Agric. Water Manage*. 96: 1766–1772.
- Chen, W. P., Hou, Z. A., Wu, L. S., Liang, Y. C., and Wei, C. Z. 2010. Effects of salinity and nitrogen on cotton growth in arid environment. *Plant Soil.* 326: 61–73.
- Cimrin, K. M., Turkmen, O., Turan, M., and Tuncer, B. 2010. Phosphorus and humic acid application alleviate salinity stress of pepper seedlings. *African J. Biotech.* 9: 5845–5851.
- Colla, G., Rouphael, Y., Fallovo, C., Cardarelli, M., and Graifenberg, A. 2006. Use of Salsola soda as a companion plant to improve greenhouse pepper (*Capsicum annuum*) performance under saline conditions. New Zealand J. Crop Hort. Sci. 34: 283–290.
- Colla, G., Rouphael, Y., Leonardi, C., and Bei, Z. 2010. Role of grafting in vegetable crops under saline conditions. *Scientia Hort*. **127**: 147–155.
- Corwin, D. I., Rhoades, J. D., and Simunek, J. 2007. Leaching requirement for soil salinity control: Steady-state versus transient models. *Agric. Water Manage.* **90**: 165–180.
- Cuin, T. A. and Shabala, S. 2005. Exogenously applied compatible solutes rapidly ameliorate NaCl-induced potassium efflux from barley roots. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 46: 1924–1933.
- Cuin, T. A. and Shabala, S. 2008. Compatible solutes mitigate damaging effects of salt stress by reducing the impact of stress-induced reactive oxygen species. *Plant Signal Behav.* 3: 207–208.
- Cuin, T. A., Betts, S. A., Chalmandrier, R., and Shabals, S. 2008. A root's ability to retain K +correlates with salt tolerance of wheat. *J. Exp. Bot.* **59**: 2687–2706.
- Cuin, T. A., Parsons, D., and Shabala, S. 2010. Wheat cultivars can be screened for NaCl salinity tolerance by measuring leaf chlorophyll content and shoot sap potassium. *Functional Plant Biol.* **37**: 656–664.
- da Costa, D. M.A., Melo, H. N.D., Ferreira, S. R., and Dantas, J. A. 2008. Content of N, P, K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ in the amaranth (Amaranthus spp.) under saline stress and mulch. *Revista Ciencia Agronomica*. **39**: 209–216.
- Daei, G., Ardekani, M. R., Rejali, F., and Teimuri, S. 2009. Alleviation of salinity stress on wheat yield components and nutrient uptake during arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under field conditions. J. Plant Physiol. 166: 617–625.
- Davenport, S. B., Gallego, S. M., Benavides, M. O., and Tomaro, M. L. 2003. Behaviour of antioxidant defense system in the adaptive response to salt stress in *Helianthus annus* L. cell. *Plan Growth Regul.* **40**: 81–88.
- de Oliveira, F. R. A., de Oliveira, F. A., de Medeiros, J. F., de Sousa, F. L., and Freir, A. G. 2010. Phosphorus-salinity interaction in radish. *Revista Ciencia Agronomica*. 41: 519–526.
- Degl'Innocenti, E., Hafsi, C., Guidi, L., and Navari-Izzo, F. 2009. The effect of salinity on photosynthetic activity in potassium deficient barley species. J. *Plant Physiol.* 166: 1968–1981.

- del Amor, F. M. and Cuadra-Crespo, P. 2011. Alleviation of salinity stress in broccoli using foliar urea or methyl-jasmonate analysis of growth, gas exchange, and isotope composition. *Plant Growth Regul.* **63**: 55–62.
- Dimkpa, C., Weinand, T., and Asch, F. 2009. Plant-rhizobacteria interactions alleviate abiotic stress conditions. *Plant Cell Environ.* 32: 1682–1694.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Sheeba, J. A., Shanker, A. K., Devi, D. D., and Bangarusamy, U. 2006. Rice can acclimate to lethal level of salinity by pretreatment with sublethal level of salinity through osmotic adjustment. *Plant Soil*. 204: 363–373.
- Dolatabadian, A., Sanavy, S. A. M. M., and Chashmi, N. A. 2008. The effect of foliar application of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) on oxidant enzymes activities, lipid peroxidation and proline accumulation of canola (*Brassica napus* L.) under conditions of salt stress. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 194: 208–213.
- Dolatabadian, A., Sanavy, S. A. M. M., and Sharifi, M. 2009. Effect of salicylic acid and salt on wheat seed germination, *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Setion B.* 59: 456–464.
- Dolatabadian, A. and Jouneghani, R. S. 2009. Impact of exogenous ascorbic acid on antioxidant activity and some physiological traits of common bean subjected to salinity stress. *Notulae Botanicae Hoeri Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*. 37: 165–172.
- Dominguez, A., Tarjuelo, J. M., de Juan, I. A., Lopez-Mata, E., Breidy, J., and Karam, F. 2011. Deficit irrigation under water stress and salinity conditions: The MOPECO-Salt Model. *Agric. Water Manage.* 98: 1451–1461.
- Dong, H. Z., Li, W. J., Tang, W., and Zheng, D. M. 2008. Furrow seeding with plastic mulching increases stand establishment and lint yield of cotton in a saline field. *Agron. J.* 100: 1640–1646.
- Dong, H. Z., Li, W. J., Tang, W., and Zheng, D. M. 2009. Early plastic mulching increases stand establishment and lint yield of cotton in saline fields. *Field Crop Res.* 111: 269–275.
- Du, C. X., Fan, H. F., Guo, S. R., and Tezuka, T. 2010. Applying spermidine for different responses of antioxidant enzymes in cucumber subjected toshortterm salinity. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 135: 18–24.
- Duan, J., Li, J., Guo, S., and Kang, Y. 2008. Exogenous spermidine affects polyamine metabolism in salinity-stressed *Cucumis sativus* roots and enhances short-term salinity tolerance. *J. Plant Physiol.* 165: 1620–1635.
- Dubey, A. K., Srivastav, M., Sharma, Y. K., Pandey, R. N., and Deshmukh, P. S. 2007. Dry mass production and distribution of nutrients in two mango rootstocks as affected by salinity. *Indian J. Hort.* 64: 385–390.
- Ebrahim, M. K. H. 2005. Amelioration of sucrose-metabolism and yield change, in storage roots of NaCl-stressed sugarbeet, by ascorbic acid. *Agronomica*. **49**: 93–103.
- Edelstein, M., Ben-Hur, M., and Plaut, Z. 2007. Grafting melons irrigated with fresh or effluent water tolerate eexcess boron. *J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci.* **132**: 484–491.
- Edelstein, M., Plaut, Z., Dudai, N., and Ben-Hur, M. 2009. Vetiver (*Vetiveria zizanioides*) responses to fertilization and salinity under irrigation conditions. *J. Environ. Manage.* **91**: 215–221.
- Edelstein, M., Plaut, Z., and Ben-Hur, M. 2010. Sodium and chloride exclusion and retention by non-grafted and grafted melon and *Cucurbita* plants. J. Exp. Bot. 62: 177–184.
- Edelstein, M., Plaut, Z., and Ben-Hur, M. 2011. Mechanism responsible for restricted boron concentration in plant shoots grafted on pumpkin rootstocks. *Israel J. Plant Sci.* 59: 207–215.
- Egamberdieva, D. and Kucharova, Z. 2009. Selection for root colonising bacteria stimulating wheat growth in saline soils. *Biol. Fertility Soils*. 45: 563–571.
- Elkhatib, H. A., Elkhatib, E. A., Allah, A. M. K., and El-Sharkawy, A. M. 2004. Yield response of salt-stressed potato to potassium fertilization: A preliminary mathematical model. J. Plant Nutr. 27: 111–122.
- El-Nakhlawy, F. S., Shaheen, M. A., and Al-Shareef, A. R. 2012. Response of forage yield, protein and proline contents of alfalfa genotypes to irrigation water salinity and phosphorus fertilizer. *J. Food Agric. Environ.* 10: 551–557.
- Elwan, M. W. M. 2010. Ameliorative effects of di-potassium hydrogen orthophosphate on salt stressed eggplants. J. Plant Nutr. 33: 1593–1604.

- Elwan, M. W.M. and El-Hamahmi, M. A.M. 2009. Improved productivity and quality associated with salicylic acid application in greenhouse pepper. *Scientia Hort*. **122**: 521–526.
- Endris, S. and Mohammed, M. J. 2007. Nutrient acquisition and yield response of barley exposed to salt stress under different levels of potassium nutrition. *Inter. J. Environ. Sci. Tech.* **3**: 323–330.
- Epstein, E. 1994. The anomaly of silicon in plant biology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. **91**: 11–17.
- Eraslan, F., Inal, A., Gunes, A., and Alpaslan, M. 2007. Impact of salicylic acid on the growth, antioxidant activity and physiology of carrot plants subjected to combined salinity and boron toxicity. *Scientia Hort*. **113**: 120–128.
- Eraslan, F., Inal, A., Pilbeam, D., and Gunes, A. 2008. Interactive effects of salicylic acid and silicon on oxidative damage and antioxidant activity in spinach (*Spinacia oleracea* L. cv. Matador) grown under boron toxicity and salinity. *Plant Growth Regul.* 55: 207–219.
- Esmaili, E., Kapourchal, S. A., Malakouti, M. J., and Homaee, M. 2008. Interactive effect of salinity and two nitrogen fertilizers on growth and composition of sorghum. *Plant Soil Environ.* 54: 537–546.
- Etehadnia, M., Watere, D. R., and Tanini, K. K. 2008. The method of ABA application affects salt stress responses in resistant and sensitive potato lines. *J. Plant Growth. Regul.* 27: 331–341.
- Fageira, N. K., Gheyi, H. R., and Moreira, A. 2011. Nutrient bioavailability in salt affected soils. J. Plant Nutr. 34: 945–962.
- FAO 2008. FAO Land and Plant Nutrition Management Service. http://www.fao.org/agl/agll/spush.
- Fan, M., Bie, Z. L., Krumbein, A., and Schwarz, D. 2011. Salinity stress in tomatoes can be alleviated by potassium depending on rootstock and Kconcentration employed. *Scientia Hort.* 130: 615–623.
- Farag, A. A. A., El-Gizawy, A. M., Abu-Hadid, A. F., El-Behairy, U. A., and Medany, M. A. 2006. Effect of modified micro-climate in the plastic house on salt tolerance of cucumber plants. *Egyptian J. Hort.* 33: 45–58.
- Fariduddin, Q., Fariduddin, A. A., and Hayat, S. 2003. Photosynthetic Response of *Vigna radiata* to pre-sowing seed treatment with 28-homobrassinolide. *Photosynthetica*. **41**: 307–310.
- Feng, G. L., Meiri, A., and Letey, J. 2003. Evaluation of a model for irrigation management under saline conditions: I. Effects on plant growth. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 67: 71–76.
- Flowers, T. J. 2004. Improving crop salt tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 55: 307-319.
- Flowers, T. J., Rageb, R., Malash, N., Abdel Gawad, G., Cuartero, F. and Arslan, A. 2005. Sustainable strategic for irrigation in salt-prone Mediterranean: Salrmed. *Agric. Water Manage.* **76**: 3–14.
- Forkutsa, I., Sommer, R., Shirokova, Y. I., Lamers, J. P. A., Kienzler, K., Tischbein, B., Martius, C., and Vlek, P. L. G. 2009. Modeling irrigated cotton with shallow groundwater in the Aral Sea Basin of Uzbekistan: I. Water dynamics. *Irrig. Sci.* 27: 331–340.
- Gama, P. B. S., Inanaga, S., Tanaka, K., and Nakazawa, R. 2007. Physiological response of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) seedlings to salinity stress. *African J. Biotechnol.* **6**: 77–88.
- Garcia-Legaz, M. F., Lopez-Gomez, E., Beneyto, J. M., Navarro, A., and Sanchez-Blanco, J. 2008. Physiological behavior of loquat and anger rootstocks in relation to salinity and calcium addition. *J. Plant Physiol.* 165: 1049–1060.
- Garcia-Sanchez, F. and Syvertsen, J. P. 2006. Salinity tolerant Cleopatra mandarin and Carrizo citrange rootstock seedlings is affected by CO₂ enrichment during growth. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. **131**: 24–31.
- Garg, B. K., Burman, U., and Kathju, S. 2006. Alleviation of salinity stress effects on photosynthesis, nitrogen metabolism and yield of Indian mustard by nitrogen fertilization. *Indian J. Plant Physiol.* 11: 145–151.
- Garg, N. and Chandel, S. 2010. Arbuscular mycorrhizal network: process and functions. A review. Agron. Sustainable Develop. 39: 581–599.
- Gawad, G. A., Arsian, A., Gaihbi, A., and Kadouri, F. 2005. The effect of saline irrigation water management and salt tolerant tomato varieties on sustainable production of tomato in Syria (1999–2002). *Agric. Water Manage*. 78: 39–53.

- Geissler, N., Hussin, S., and Koyro, H. 2009a. Elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration ameliorates effect of NaCl salinity on photosynthesis and leaf structure of Aster tripolium L. J. Exp. Bot. 60: 137–151.
- Geissler, N., Hussin, S., and Koyro, H. 2009b. Interactive effects of NaCl salinity and elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration on growth, water relations and chemical composition of the potential cash crop halophyte Aster *tripolium* L. *Envir. Exp. Bot.* **65**: 220–231.
- Geissler, N., Hussin, S., and Koyro, H. 2010. Elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration enhances salinity tolerance in Aster tripolium L. Planta. 231: 583–594.
- Ghanem, M. E., Albacete, A., Martinez-Andujar, C., Acosta, M., Romero-Arand, R., Dodd, I. C., Lutts, S., and Perez-Alfoncea, F. 2008. Hormonal changes during salinity-induced leaf senescence in tomato (*Solanum lycop*ersium L.) J. Exp. Bot. **59**: 3039–3050.
- Gharineh, M. H., Nadian, H., Fathi, G., Siadat, A., and Maadi, B. 2009. Role of arbuscular mycorrhizae in development of salt tolerance of *Trifolium alexandrinum* plants under salinity stress. *J. Food Agric. Environ.* 7: 432–437.
- Ghassemi-Golezani, K., Teifeh-Noori, M., Oustan, S. H., and Moghaddam, M. 2009. Response of soybean cultivars to salinity stress. *J. Food Agric. Environ.* 7: 401–404.
- Gholami, A., Sharafi, S., Sharafi, A., and Ghasemi, S. 2009. Germination of different seed size of pinto bean cultivars as affected by salinity and drought stress. J. Food Agric. Environ. 7: 555–558.
- Gimeno, V., Syvrtsen, J. P., Nieves, M., Simon, I., Martinez, V., and Garcia-Anchez, F. 2009. Additional nitrogen fertilization affects salt tolerance of lemon trees on different rootstocks. *Scientia Hort.* **121**: 298–305.
- Gimeno, V., Syvrtsen, J. P., Rubio, F., Martinez, V., and Garcia-Anchez, F. 2010. Growth and mineral nutrition are affected by substrate type and salt stress in seedlings of two contrasting citrus rootstocks. J. Plant Nutr. 33: 1435–1447.
- Giri, B., Kapoor, R., and Mukerji, K. G. 2007. Improved tolerance of Acacia nilotica to salt stress by arbuscular mycorrhiza, Glomus fasciculatum may be partly related to elevated K/Na ratios in root and shoot tissues. Microbial Ecol. 54: 753–760.
- Golabi, M., Naseri, A. A., and Kashkuli, H. A. 2009. Evaluation of SALTMED model performance in irrigation and drainage of sugarcane farms in Khuzestan province of Iran. J. Food Agric. Environ. 7: 874–880.
- Gunes, A., Inal, A., Alpaslan, M., Eraslan, F., Bagci, E. G., and Cicek, N. 2007. Salicylic acid induced changes on some physiological parameters symptomatic for oxidative stress and mineral nutrition in maize (*Zea mays L.*) grown under salinity. *J. Plant Physiol.* 164: 728–736.
- Gurmani, A. R., Bano, A., and Salim, M. 2007. Effect of abcisic acid and Benzyladenine on growth and ion accumulation of wheat under saline stress. *Pak. J. Bot.* **39**: 141–149.
- Hafsi, C., Lakhdhar, A., Rabhi, M., Debez, A., Abdelly, C., and Ouerghi, Z. 2007. Interactive effects of salinity and potassium availability on growth, water status, and ionic composition of *Hordeum maritimum*. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. Zeitschrift fur Pflanzenernahrung und Bodenkunde. 170: 469–473.
- Hajiboland, R., Aliasgharzadeh, N., Laiegh, S. F., and Poschenrieder, C. 2010. Colonization with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi improves salinity tolerance of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) plants. *Plant Soil* **331**: 313–327.
- Hanson, B. R., Grattan, S. R., and Fulton, A. 2006. Agricultural Salinity and Drainage, Revised edition. Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources. Publication 3375, University of California. pp.164.
- Hasaneen, M. N.A., Younis, M. E., and Tourky, S. M.N. 2008. Plant growth metabolism and adaptation in relation to stress conditions: Further studies supporting nullification of harmful effects on salinity in lettuceplants by urea treatments. *Plant Soil Environ.* 54: 123–131.
- Hasaneen, M. N.A., Younis, M. E., and Tourky, S. M.N. 2009. Plant growth metabolism and adaptation in relation to stress conditions. III. Salinitybiofertility interactive effects on growth, carbohydrates and photosynthetic efficiency of Lactuca sativa. *Plant Omics.* 2: 60–69.
- Hashem, H. A., Bassuony, F. M., Hassanein, R. A., Baraka, D. M., and Khalil, R. R. 2011. Stigmasterol seed treatment alleviates the drastic effect of NaCl and improves quality and yield in flax plants. *Aust. J. Crop Sci.* 5: 1858–1867.

- Hashemi, A., Abdolzadeh, A., and Sadeghipour, H. R. 2010. Beneficial effects of silicon nutrition in alleviating salinity stress in hydroponically grown canola, *Beassica napus* L., plants. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 56: 244–253.
- Heikham, E., Kapoor, R., and Giri, B. 2009. Arbuscular Mycorrhiza fungi in alleviation of salt stress: a review. Ann. Bot. 104: 1263–1280.
- Hejiden, J. N., Klironomos, M., and Ursic, P. 1998. Mycorrhizal fungi diversity determines plant biodiversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. *Nature*. **396**: 69–72.
- Hepaksoy, S., Ben-Asher, J., De Mlsch, Y., David, I., Sagih, M., and Bravdo, B. 2006. Grapevine irrigation with saline water: Effect of rootstock on quality and yield of Cabernet Sauvignon. J. Plant Nutr. 29: 783–795.
- Heuer, B. 2003. Influence of exogenous application of proline and glycinebetaine on growth of salt-stressed tomato plants. *Plant Sci.* 165: 693–699.
- Hillel, D. 2005. Soil salinity: Historic and contemporary perspectives. In: Proceedings of the International, Salinity Forum. Riverside Ca. pp. 235–240.
- Hilda, P., Graciela, R., Sorgio, A., Otto, M., Ingrid, R., Hugo, P. C., Edith, T., Estela, M. D., and Guillermina, A. 2003. Salt tolerant tomato plants show increased levels of jasmonic acid. *Plant Growth Regul.* **41**: 149–58.
- Hoffman, G. J. and van Genuchten, M. T. H. 1983. Soil properties and efficient water use: Water management for salinity control. In: *Limitations to Efficient Water Use in Crop Production*. Taylor, H. M., Jordan, W. R., and Sinclair, T. R., Eds. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Hopkins, W. G. 1999. Introduction to Plant Physiology. 2nd ed. Wiley, New York.
- Hou, Z. N., Chen, W. P., Li, X., Xiu, L., and Wu, L. S. 2009. Effect of salinity and irrigation practice on cotton yield and N-15 recovery. *Agric. Water Manage*. 96: 1483–1489.
- Hsu, S. Y. and Kao, C. H. 2003. Differential effect of sorbitol and polyethylene glycol on antioxidant enzymes in rice leaves. *Plant Growth Regul.* 39: 83–90.
- Huang, Y., Bie, Z. L., Liu, Z. X., Zhen, A., and Wang, W. J. 2009. Protective role of proline against salt stress is partly related to the improvement of water status and peroxidase enzyme activity in cucumber. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 5: 698–704.
- Ibrahim, A. H., Abdel-Fattah, G. M., Eman, F. M., Abd El-Aziz, M. H., and Sbokr, A. E. 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi and spermine alleviate the adverse effects of salinity stress on electrolyte leakage and productivity of wheat plants. *Phyton-Annales- Rei Botanicae*. 51: 261–276.
- Iqbal, M. and Ashraf, M. 2005. Changes in growth, photosynthetic capacity and ionic relations in spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) due to pre-soaking seed treatment with polyamines. *Plant Growth Regul.* 46: 19–30.
- Iqbal, M. and Ashraf, M. 2006. Wheat seed priming in relation to salt tolerance: growth, yield and levels of free salicylic acid and polyamines. *Annales Botanici Fennici*. 43: 250–259.
- Iqbal, M. and Ashraf, M. 2007. Seed preconditioning modulates growth, ionic relations, and photosynthetic capacity in adult plants of hexaploid wheat under salt stress. J. Plant Nutr. 30: 381–396.
- Isidoro, D. and Grattan, S. R. 2011. Predicting soil salinity in response to different irrigation practices, soil types and rainfall scenarios. *Irrig. Sci.* 29: 197–211.
- Jabeen, N. and Ahmad, R. 2012. Improving tolerance of sunflower during growth stages to salinity through foliar spray of nutrient solution. *Pak. Jour. Bot.* 44: 563–572.
- Jabeen, R. and Ahmed, R. 2009. Alleviation of the adverse effects of salt stress by foliar application of sodium antagonistic essential minerals on cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*). *Pak. J. Bot.* **41**: 2199–2208.
- Jafari, M. H. S., Kafi, M., and Astaraie, A. 2009. Effects of NaCl induced salinity, calcium and potassium on physiomorphological traits of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor L.*). *Pak. J. Bot.* **41**: 3053–3063.
- Jaleel, C. A., Gopi, R., Manivannan, P., and Panneerselvam, R. 2007. Response of antioxidant defense system of *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don. to paclobutrazol treatment under salinity. *Acta Physiol. Plantarum*. 29: 205– 209.
- Jaleel, C. A., Lakshmanan, G. M. A., Gomathinayagam, M., and Panneerselvam, R. 2008. Triadimefon induced salt stress tolerance in Withania Somnifera

and its relationship to antioxidant defense system. S. African J. Bot. 74: 126-132.

- Jalill, F., Khavazi, K., Pazira, E., Nejati, A., Tahmani, H. A., Sadaghiani, H. R., and Miransari, M. 2009. Isolation and characterization of ACC deaminaseproducing fluorescent pseudomonas, to alleviate salinity stress on canola (*Brassica napus* L.) growth. J. Plant Physiol. 166: 667–674.
- Kalaji, M. H. and Pietkiewica, S. 1993. Salinity effects on plant growth and other physiological processes. Acta Physiol. Plantarum. 15: 89–124.
- Kang, D. J., Seo, V. J., Lee, J. D., Ishii, R., Kim, K. U., Shin, D. H., Park, S. K., Jang, S. W., and Lee, S. W. 2005. Jasmonic acid differentially affects growth, ion uptake and abcisic acid concentration in salt-tolerant and salt-sensitive rice cultivars. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 191: 273–282.
- Karlidag, H., Yildirim, E., and Turan, M. 2009. Salicylic acid amelioratesthe adverse effect of salt stress on strawberries. *Scintia Agricola*. 66: 160–167.
- Katerji, N., Mastrorilli, M., van Hoorn, J. V., Lahmer, F. Z., Hamdy, A., and Oweis, T. 2009. Durum wheat and barley productivity in saline-drought environments. *European J. Agron.* 31: 1–9.
- Kaya, C., Tuna, A. L., Ashraf, M., and Altunlu, H. 2007. Improved salt tolerance of melon (*Cucumis melo* L.) by addition of proline and potassium nitrate. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **60**: 397–403.
- Kaya, C., Tuna, A. L., and Yokas, I. 2009. The role of plant hormones in plants under salinity stress. In: *Biosaline Agriculture and High Salinity Tolerance*. pp. 45–50. Ashraf, M., Ozturk, M., and Athar, H. R., Eds. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Kaya, C., Tuna, A. L., Dikilitas, M., and Cullu, M. A. 2010. Response of some enzymes and key growth parameters of salt-stressed maize plants to foliar and seed application of kinetin and indole acetic acid. J. Plant Nutr. 33: 405–422.
- Kaya, M., Kaya, G., Kaya, M. D., Atak, M., Saglam, S., Khawar, K. M., and Ciftci, C. Y. 2008. Interaction between seed size and NaCl on germination and early seedling growth of some Turkish cultivars of chickpea (*Cicer arientum* L.). J. Zhejiang University Sci. B. 9: 371–377.
- Kaya, M. D. and Day, S. 2008. Relationship between seed size and NaCl on germination, seed vigor and early seedling growth of sunflower (*Helianthus annus* L.) *African J. Agric. Res.* **3**: 787–791.
- Khadri, M., Tejera, N. A., and Lluch, C. 2007. Sodium chloride ABA interaction in two common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) cultivars differing in salinity tolerance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **60**: 211–216.
- Khafagy, M. A., Arafa, A. A., and El-Banna, M. F. 2009. Glycinebetaine and ascorbic acid can alleviate the harmful effects of NaCl salinity in sweet pepper. *Aust. J. Crop Sci.* 3: 257–267.
- Khan, M. A., Gul, B., and Webber, D. J. 2009. Effect of germination regulating chemicals on seed germination of *Halogeton glomeratus* for alleviation of salinity stress. *Pak. J. Bot.* **41**: 1205–1212.
- Khan, M. N., Siddiqui, M. H., Mohammed, F., Naeem, M., and Khan, M. M. A. 2010. Calcium chloride and gibberellic acid prtotect linseed (*Linum usitatis-simum* L.) from NaCl stress by inducing antioxidative defense system and osmoprotectants accumulation. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. 32: 121–132.
- Khayyat, M., Rajaee, S., Sajjadinia, A., Eshghi, S., and Tafazoli, E. 2009a. Calcium effects changes in chlorophyll content, dry weight and micronutrients of strawberry (*Fragaria* X ananassa Dutch.) plants under salt-stress conditions. *Fruits.* 64: 53–59.
- Khayyat, M., Tafazoli, E., Rajaee, S., Vazifeshenas, M., Mahmoodabadi, M. R., and Sajjadinia, A. 2009b. Effect of NaCl and Supplementary potassium on gas exchange, ionic content, and growth of salt-stressed strawberry plants. J. *Plant Nutr.* 32: 907–918.
- Kiani, A. R. and Abbasi, F. 2009. Assessment of the water-salinity crop production function of wheat using experimental data of the Golestan province of Iran. *Irrig. Drainage.* 58: 445–455.
- Kocsy, G., Szalai, G., and Galiba, G. 2004. Effect of osmotic stress on glutathione and hydroxymethyl glutathione accumulation in wheet. J. Plant Physiol. 161: 785–794.
- Kotera, A., Sakamoto, T., Nguyen, D. K., and Yokozawa, M. 2008. Regional consequences of seawater intrusion on rice productivity and land use in coastal areas of the Mekong river delta. *JARQ-Japan Agric. Res. Quarterly.* 42: 267–274.

286

- Kuznetsov, V. V., Radyukina, N. L., and Shevyakova, N. L. 2006. Polyamines and stress: Biological role, metabolism, and regulation. *Russian J. Plant Physiol.* 53: 583–604.
- Lado, M., Bar-Tal, A., Azenkot, A., Assouline, S., Ravina, I., Erner, Y., Fine, P., Dasberg, S., and Ben-Hur, M. 2012. Changes in chemical properties of semiarid soils under long-term secondary treated wastewater irrigation. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **76**: 1358–1369.
- Lakhdar, A., Hafsi, C., Rabhi, M., Debez, A., Montemurro, F., Abdelly, C., Jedidi, N., and Ouerghi, Z. 2008. Application of municipal solid waste compost reduces the negative effects of saline water in *Hordeum maritimum* L. *Bioresource Technol.* **99**: 7160–7167.
- Langenfeld-Heyser, R., Gao, J., Ducic, T., Tachd, P., Lu, C. F., Fritz, E., Gafur, A., and Polle, A. 2007. *Paxillus involutus* mycorrhiza attenuate NaCl stress responses in the salt-sensitive hybrid poplar *Populus 3 canescens*. *Mycorrhiza*. 17: 121–131.
- Latef, A. A. H. A. and He, C. X. 2011. Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on growth, mineral nutrition, antioxidant enzymes activity and fruit yield of tomato grown under salinity stress. *Scientia Hort.* 127: 228– 233.
- Lee, S. K., Sohn, E. Y., Hamayun, M., Yoon, J. L., and Lee, I. J. 2010. Effect of silicon on growth and salinity stress of soybean plant growth under hydroponic system. *Agroforestry Systems*. 80: 330–349.
- Letey, J. and Feng, G. L. 2007. Dynamic versus steady-state approaches to evaluate irrigation management of saline water. *Agric. Water Manage.* **91**: 1–10.
- Letey, J., Dinar, A., and Knapp, K. C. 1985. Crop-water production function model for saline irrigation water. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 49: 1005–1009.
- Letey, J., Hoffman, G. J., Hopmans, J. W., Grattan, S. R., Suarez, D., Corwin, D. L., Oster, J. D., Wu, L., and Amrhein, C. 2011. Evaluation of soil salinity leaching requirement guidelines. *Agric. Water Manage*. 98: 502–506.
- Li, Y. L., Stanghellini, C., and Challa, H. 2001. Effect of electrical conductivity and transpiration on production of greenhouse tomato (*Licopersicon eaculentum* L.). Scientia Hortic. 88: 11–29.
- Liang, Y. C. 1999. Effect of silicon on enzyme activity, and sodium, potassium and calcium concentration in barley under salt stress. *Plant Soil.* 209: 217–224.
- Liang, Y. C., Zhang, W. H., Chen, Q., and Ding, R. X. 2005. Effect of silicon on tonoplast H⁺-ATPase and H⁺-PPase activity, fatty acid composition and fluidity in roots of salt stressed barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 53: 29–37.
- Liang, Y., Sun, W., Zhu, Y. G., and Christie, P. 2007. Mechanisms of siliconmediated alleviation of abiotic stresses in higher plants: A review. *Environ. Pollution.* 147: 422–428.
- Liopa-Tsakalidi, A. 2008. Germination and seedling growth of wild green vegetables under salinity and temperature conditions. *J. Food Agric. Environ.* 8: 1090–1095.
- Liu, Z. K., Bie, Z. L., Huang, Y., Zhen, A., Lei, B., and Zhang, H. Y. 2012. Grafting onto Cucurbita moschata rootstock alleviates salt stress in cucumber plants by delaying photoinhibition. *Photosynthetica*. **50**: 152–160.
- Lopez, M., Tajera, N. O., and Lluch, C. 2009. Validamycine A improves the response of *Medicgo truncatula* plants to salt stress by inducing trehalose accumulation in the root nodules. *J. Plant Physiol.* 166: 1218–1222.
- Lopez-Gomez, E., San Juan, M. A., Diaz-Vivancos, P., Beneyto, J. M., Garcia-Legaz, M. F., and Hernandez, J. A. 2007. Effect of rootstock grafting and boron on the antioxidant system and salinity tolerance of loquat plants (*Eryobotria japonica* Lindl.). *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **60**: 151–158.
- Luo, Z. B., Janz, D., Jiang, X. N., Gobel, C., Wildhagen, H., Tan, Y. P., Rennenberg, H., Feussner, I., and Polle, A. 2009. Upgrading root physiology for stress tolerance by ectomycorrhizas: Insight from metabolite and transcriptional profiling into reprogramming for stress anticipation. *Plant Physiol.* 151: 1902–1917.
- Maas, E. V. and Hoffman, G. J. 1977. Crop salt tolerance- Current assessment. J. Irrig. Drainage Division. 102: 115–134.

- Madueno-Molina, A., Garcia-Paredes, J. D., Martinez-Hernandez, J., Montoya, R. B., and Bojorquez-Serrano, J. I. 2008. Induced salinity and supplementary phosphorus on growth and mineral content of frijolillo. *Comm. in Soil Sci. Plant Analysis.* 39: 1447–1459.
- Maeda, Y., Yoshiba, M., and Tadano, T. 2005. Comparison of calcium effect on the salt tolerance of suspension cells and intact plants of tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L. cv. Bright Yellow 2). *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 51: 485–490.
- Mahajan, S. and Tuteja, N. 2005. Cold salinity and drought stresses: An overview. Archives Biochem. Biophys. 444: 139–158.
- Maheshwari, B. L. and Grewal, H. S. 2009. Magnetic treatment of irrigation water: Its effect on vegetable crop yield and water productivity. *Agric. Water Manage.* 96: 1229–1236.
- Malash, M. M., Flowers, T. J., and Ragab, R. 2008. Effect of irrigation method, management and salinity of irrigation water on tomato yield, soil moisture and salinity distribution. *Irrig. Sci.* 26: 313–323.
- Manchanda, G. and Garg, N. 2008. Salinity and its effect on the functional biology of legumes. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* **30**: 595–618.
- Mandare, A. B., Ambast, S. K., Tyagi, N. K., and Singh, J. 2008. Onfarm water management in saline groundwater area under scarce canal water supply condition in the Northwest India. *Agric. Water Manage.* 95: 516–526.
- Manivannan, P., Abdul Jaleel, C., Kishorekumar, A., Sankar, B., Somasundaram, R., and Panneerselvam, R. 2008. Protection of *Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp. Plants from salt stress by paclobutrazol. *Coloidsls and Surface Biointrefaces*. 51: 315–318.
- Martinez, V., Bernstein, N., and Läuchli, A. E. 1996. Salt induced inhibition of phosphorous transport in lettuce leaves. *Physiol. Plantarum.* 97: 118–122.
- Massai, R., Remorini, D., and Tattini, M. 2004. Gas exchange, water relations and osmotic adjustment in two scion/rootstock combinations of *Prunus* under various salinity concentrations. *Plant Soil.* 259: 153–162.
- Mateos-Naranjo, E., Redondo-Gomez, S., Alvarez, R., Cambrolle, J., Gandullo, J., and Figueroa, M. E. 2010a. Synergic effects of salinity and CO₂ enrichment on growth and photosynthetic responses of the invasive cordgrass *Spartina densiflora*. J. Exp. Bot. **61**: 1643–1654.
- Mateos-Naranjo, E., Redondo-Gomez, S., Andrades-Moreno, and Davy, A. J. 2010b. Growth and photosynthetic responses of the cordgrass *Spartina maritima* to CO₂ enrichment and salinity. *Chemosphere*. 81: 725–731.
- Mathur, N., Singh, J., Bohra, S., Bohra, A., and Vyas, A. 2010. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alleviate salt stress of *Trichosanthes dioica Roxb. Acta Agri. Scandinavica Secrion B-Soil Plant Sci.* **60**: 510–516.
- Matsumoto, K., Tamura, F., Chun, J. P., and Tanabe, K. 2006. Native Mediterranean Pyrus rootstock, P-amygdaliformis and P-elegrifolia, present higher tolerance to salinity stress compared with Asian natives. *J. Japan. Soc. Hvort. Sci.* **75**: 450–457.
- Matthews, N., Grove, B., Barnard, J. H., and van Rensburg, L. D. 2010. Modeling the economic tradeoffs between allocating water for crop production or leaching for salinity management. *Water South Africa*. 36: 37–43.
- Melgar, J., Syvertsen, J. P., and Garcia-Sanchez, F. 2008. Can elevated CO₂ improve salt tolerance in olive trees? J. Plant Physiol. 165: 631–640.
- Mickelbart, M. V., Melser, S., and Arpaia, M. L. 2007. Salinity induced changes in ion concentration of 'Hass' avocado trees on three rootstocks. *J. Plant Nutr.* 30: 105–122.
- Miransari, M. and Smith, D. L. 2007. Overcoming the stressful effects of salinity and acidity on soybean nodulation and yield using signal molecules genistein under field conditions. J. Plant Nutr. 30: 1967–1992.
- Misra, N. and Saxena, P. 2009. Effect of salicylic acid on proline metabolism in lentil grown under salinity stress. *Plant Sci.* 177: 181–189.
- Molassiotis, A. N., Sotiropoulos, T., Tanou, G., Kofidis, G., Diamantidis, G., and Therios, I. 2006. Anatioxidant and anatomical responses in shoot cultureof the apple rootstock MM 106 treated with NaCl, mannitol or sorbitol. *Biol. Plantarum.* **50**: 331–338.
- Montoliu, A., Lopez-Climent, M. F., Arbona, V., Perez-Clemente, R. M., and Gomez-Cadenas, A. 2009. A novel in vitro tissue culture approach to study stress responses in citrus. *Plant Growth Regul.* 59: 179–187.

- Moreira-Nordemann, L. M. 1984. Salinity and weathering rate of rocks in a semi-arid region. J. Hydrology. 71: 131–147.
- Mostafazadeh-Fard, B., Mansouri, H., Mousavi, S. F., and Feizi, M. 2009. Effects of different levels of irrigation water salinity and leaching on yield and yield components of wheat in an arid region. J. Irrig. Drainage Engineering-ASCE. 135: 32–38.
- Moya, J. L., Gomez-Cadenas, A., Primo-Millo, E., and Talon, M. 2003. Chloride accumulation in salt-sensitive Carrizo citrange and salt-tolerant Cleopatra mandarin citrus rootstocks is linked to water use. J. Exp. Bot. 54: 825–833.
- Munns, R. and Tester, M. 2008. Mechanism of salinity tolerance. *Ann. Rev. Plant Biol.* **59**: 651–681.
- Munns, R., Cramer, G. R., and Ball, M. C. 1999. Interactions between rising CO₂, soil salinity and plant growth. In: *Carbon Dioxide and Environmental Stress*. pp. 139–167. Luo, Y., and Mooney, H. A., Eds., Academic Press, San Diego.
- Murillo-Amador, B., Jones, H. G., Kaya, C., Aguilar, P. L., Garcia-Hernandez, J. L., Troyo-Dieguez, E., Avila-Serrano, N. Y., and Rueda-Puenta, E. 2006. Effect of foliar application of calcium-nitratreon growth and Physiological attributes of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L. Walp.) grown under salt stress. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 58: 188–196.
- Murugan, K. and Sathish, D. K. 2005. Ameliorative effect by calcium on NaCl salinity stress related to proline metabolismin the callus of Centella asiatica L. J. Plant Biochem. Biotech. 14: 205–207.
- Musacchi, S., Quartieri, M., and Taghavini, M. 2006. Pear (*Pyrus communis*) and Quince (*Cydonia oblonga*) roots exhibit different ability to prevent sodium and chloride uptake when irrigated with saline water. *Eur. J. Agron.* 24: 268–275.
- Nadian, H., Nateghzadwh, B., and Jafari, S. 2012. Effect of salinity and nitrogen fertilizers on some quantity and quality parameters of sugarcane (Saccharum sp.). J. Food Agric. Environ. 10: 470–474.
- Naeda, Y., Yoshiba, M., and Tadano, T. 2005. Comparison of Ca effect on salt tolerance of suspension cells and intact plants of tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L. cv. Bright Yellow 2). *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* **51**: 485–490.
- Naeem, M. S., Jin, Z. L., Wan, G. L., Liu, D., Liu, H. B., Yoneyama, K., and Zhou, W. J. 2010. 5-Aminolevulinic acid improves photosynthetic gas exchange capacity and ion uptake under salinity stress in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *Plant Soil.* 332: 405–415.
- Nathawat, N. S., Kuhad, M. S., Goswami, C. L., Patel, A. L., and Kumar, R. 2007. Interactive effects of nitrogen sources and salinity on growth indices and ion content of Indian mustard. *J. Plant Nutrit.* **30**: 569–598.
- Nazar, R., Iqbal, N., Masood, A., Syeed, S., and Khan, N. 2011. Understanding the significance of sulfur improving salinity tolerance in plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **70**: 80–87.
- Nawaz, K. and Ashraf, M. 2007. Improvement in salt tolerance of maize by exogenous application of glycinebetaine: Growth and water relations. *Pak. J. Bot.* **39**: 1647–1653.
- Ndayiragije, A. and Lutts, S. 2007. Long term exogenous Putrescine application improves grain yield of a salt-sensitive rice cultivar exposed to NaCl. *Plant Soil.* 291: 225–238.
- Neves-Piestum, B. G., and Bernstein, N. 2005. Salinity induced changes in the nutritional status of expanding cells my impact leaf growth inhibition in Maize. *Func. Plant Biol.* **32**: 141–152.
- Noreen, S. and Ashraf, M. 2010. Modulation of salt (NaCl)-induced effects of oil composition and fatty acid profile of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) by exogenous application of salicylic acid. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 90: 2608–2616.
- Nuttall, J. G., Davies, S. L., Armstronf, R. A., and Peoples, M. B. 2008. Testing the primer-plant concept: Whear yield can be increased on alkaline sodic soils when an effective primer phase is used. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 59: 331–338.
- Oda, M. 2002. Grafting vegetable crops (Review). Specific Report of the Graduate School of Agricultural and Biological Sciences. *Osaka Perfecture Uni*versity. 54: 49–72.
- Okubo, M., Furukawa, Y., and Sakuratani, T. 2000. Growth, flowering and leaf properties of pear cultivars grafted on Asian pear rootstock seedlings under NaCl. *Scientia Hort.* 85: 91–101.

- Omar, M. N. A., Osman, M. E. H., Kasim, W. A., and El-Daim, I. A. Abd. 2009. Improvement of salt tolerance mechanisms of barley cultivated under salt stress using *Azospirillum brasilense*. *Tasks Vegetation Sci.* 44: 133–147.
- Ortega, L., Fry, S. C., and Taleisnik, E. 2006. Why are Chloris gayana leaves shorter in salt-affected plants? Analyses in the elongation zone. J. Exp. Bot. 57: 3945–3952.
- Oster, J. D., Stottimyer, D. E., and Arpaia, M. L. 2007. Salinity and water effects on 'Hass' avocado yield. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 132: 253–261.
- Özdemir, F., Bor, M., Demiral, T., and Turkan, I. 2004. Effect of 24epibrassinolide on seed germination, seedling growth, lipid peroxidation, proline content and antioxidant system of rice (*oryza sativa* L.) under saline stress. *Plant Growth Regul.* **41**: 1–9.
- Palma, F., Lluch, C., Iribarne, C., Garcia-Garrido, J. M., and Garcia, N. A.T. 2009. Combined effect of salicylic acid and salinity on some antioxidant activities, oxidative stress and metabolite accumulation in Phaseolus vulgaris. *Plant Growth Regul.* 58: 307–316.
- Pang, H. C., Li, Y. Y., Yang, J. S., and Liang, Y. S. 2010. Effect of brackish water irrigation and straw mulching on soil salinity and crop yields under monsoonal climatic conditions. *Agric. Water Manage*. 97: 1971– 1977.
- Parida, A. K. and Das, A. B. 2005. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. *Ecotoxicology and Environ. Safety.* **60**: 324–340.
- Parra, M., Albacete, A., Martinez-Andujar, C., and Perez-Alfocea, F. 2007. Increasing plant vigor and tomato fruit yield under salinity by inducing plant adaptation at the earliest seedling stage. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **60**: 77–85.
- Perez-Lopez, U., Robredo, A., Lacuesta, M., Mena-Petit, A., and Munos-Rueda, A., 2009a. The oxidative stress s caused by salinity in two barley cultivars is mitigated by elevated CO₂. *Physiol. Plantarum.* **135**: 29–43.
- Perez-Lopez, U., Robredo, A., Lacuesta, M., Sgherii, C., Munos-Rueda, A., Navari-Izzo, F., and Mena-Petit, A, 2009b. The impact of salt stress on the water status of barley plants is pariatly mitigated by elevated CO₂. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **66**: 463–470.
- Perez-Lopez, U., Robredo, A., Lacuesta, M., Munos-Rueda, A., and Mena-Petit, A. 2010. Atmospheric CO₂ concentration influences the contributions of osmolyte accumulation and cell wall elasticity to salt tolerance in barley cultivars. J. Plant Physiol. 167: 15–22.
- Poorter, H. and Perez-Soba, M. 2001. The growth response of plants to elevated CO₂ under non-optimal environmental conditions. *Oecologia*. **129**: 1–20.
- Prior, L. D., Grieve, A. M., Bevington, K. B., and Slavich, P. G. 2007. Longterm effects of saline irrigation water on Valencia orange trees: relationships between growth and yield, and salt levels in soil and leaves. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 58: 349–358.
- Qadir, M., Tubeileh, A., Akhtar, J., Larbi, A., Minhas, P. S., and Khan, M. A. 2008. Productivity enhancement of salt –affected environments through crop diversification. *Land Degradation Develop*, **19**: 429–453.
- Rady, M. M. 2011. Effect of 24-epibrassinolide on growth, yield, antioxidant system and cadmium content of bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) plants under salinity and cadmium stress. *Scientia Hort.* **129**: 232–237.
- Raghavaiah, C. V., Lavanya, C., and Royal, T. J. K. 2006. Differential response of castor (*Ricinus communis*) genotypes to agronomic intervention on saltaffected sodic soils in semi-arid tropical region. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.* 76: 19–22.
- Raveh, E. and Levy, Y. 2005. Analysis of xylem water as an indicator of current chloride uptake in citrus trees. *Scientia Hort*. 103: 317–327.
- Rausch, T. and Wachter, A. 2005. Sulfur metabolism a versatile platform for launching defence operations. *Trends Plant Sci.* 10: 503–509.
- Raza, S. H., Athar, H. U. R., and Ashraf, M. 2006. Influence of exogenously applied glycinebetaine on the photosynthetic capacity of two differently adapted wheat cultivars under salt stress. *Pak. J. Bot.* 38: 341–351.
- Reina-Sanchez, A., Romero-Aranda, R., and Cuartero, J. 2005. Plant water uptake and water use efficiency of greenhouse tomato cultivars irrigated with saline water. *Agric. Water Manage*. **78**: 54–66.
- Ren, T. R., Xie, Y. H., Zhu, W. W., Li, Y. H., and Zhang, Y. 2007. Activities and toxicity of a novel plant growth regulator 2-furan-2-yl-[1,3]dioxolane. J. *Plant Growth Regul.* 26: 362–368.

- Rhoades, J. D. 1974. Drainage for salinity control. In: *Drainage for Agriculture*. pp. 433–461. van Schilfgaaede, J., Ed., Agronomy Monograph No. 17. SSSA, Madison, WI.
- Rivero, R. M., Ruiz, J. M., and Romero, L. 2003. Role of grafting in horticultural plants under stress conditions. *Food, Agric. Environ.* 1: 70–74.
- Romero-Aranda, R., Soria, T., and Cuartero, J. 2002. Greenhouse mist improves yield of tomato plants grown under saline conditions. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 127: 644–648.
- Romic, D., Ondrasek, G., Romic, M., Josip, B., Vranjes, M., and Pestosic, D. 2008. Salinity and irrigation method affect crop yield and soil quality in watermelon (*Citrullus lanatus* L.) growing. *Irrig. Drainage.* 57: 463–469.
- Roy, P., Niyogi, K., SenGupta, D. N., and Ghosh, S. 2005. Spermidine treatment to rice seedlings recovers salinity stress-induced damage to plasma membrane and PM bound H+-ATPase in salt-tolerant and salt-sensitive rice cultivars. *Plant Sci.* 168: 583–591.
- Ruan, J. Y., Gerendas, J., and Haerdt, R. 2007. Effect of alternative anions (Cl vs. SO₄) on concentration of free amino acids in young tea plants. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **170**: 49–58.
- Rubio, J. S., Garcia-Sanchez, F., Rubio, F., and Martinez, V. 2009. Yield, blossom end rot incidence and fruit quality in pepper plants under moderate salinity are affected by K⁺ and Ca²⁺ fertilization. *Scientia Hort.* **119**: 79–87.
- Ruiz, J. M., Rios, J. J., Rosales, M. A., Rivero, R. M., and Romero, L. 2006. Grafting between tobacco plants to enrich salinity tolerance. *J. Plant Physiol.* 163: 1229–1237.
- Russo, D., Laufer, A., Silber, A., and Assouline, S. 2009. Water uptake, active root volume and solute leaching under drip irrigation: A numerical study. *Water Resour. Res.* 45: W12413, doi:10.1029/2008WR008015.
- Saeed, R. and Ahmad, R. 2009. Vegetative growth and yield of tomato as affected by the application of organic mulch and gypsum under saline rhizosphere. *Pak. J. Bot.* 6: 3093–3105.
- Sakr, M. T. and Arafa, A. A. 2009. Effect of some antioxidants on canola plants grown under soil salt stress condition. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 12: 582–588.
- Sakr, M. T. and El-Metwally, M. A. 2009. Alleviation of harmful effects of soil salt stress on growth, yield and endogenous antioxidant content of wheat plants by application of antioxidants. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 12: 624–630.
- Saleem, M., Arshad, M., Husssain, S., and Bhatti, A. S. 2007. Perspective of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) containing ACC deaminase in stress agriculture. J. Industrial Microbiol. Biotech. 10.1007/s10295–007-0240–6.
- Saleh, B., Allario, T., Dambier, D., Ollitrault, P., and Morillon, R. 2008. Tetraploid rootstocks are more tolerant to salt stress than diploid. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*. 331: 703–710.
- Saleh, S. A., Heuberger, H., and Schnitzler, W. H. 2005. Alleviation of salinity effects on artichoke productivity by Bcillus subtilis FZB24, supplemental Ca and micronutrients. J. Applied Bot. Food Quality- Angewandre Botanik. 79: 24–32.
- Sannazzaro, A. I., Echeverria, M., Alberto, E. O., Ruiz, O. A., and Menendez, A. B. 2007. Modulation of polyamine balance in *Lotus glaber* by salinity and arbuscular mycorrhiza. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 45: 39–46.
- Santa-Cruz, M. M., Martinez-Rodriguez, F., Perez-Alfocea, R., Romero-Aranda, R., and Bolarin, M. C. 2002. The rootstock effect on tomato salinity response depends on the shoot genotype. *Plant Sci.* 162: 825–831.
- Savvas, D., Giotis, D., Chatzieustratiou, E., Bakea, M., and Patakioutas, G. 2009. Silicon supply in soilless cultivation of zucchini alleviates stress induced by salinity and powdery mildew interactions. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 65: 11–17.
- Savvas, D., Gizas, G., Karras, G., Lydakis-Simantiris, N., Salahas, G., Papadimitriou, M., and Tsouka, N. 2007. Interactions between silicon and NaClsalinity in a soilless culture of roses in greenhouse. *Eur. J. Hort. Sci.* 72: 73–79.
- Schmutz, U. and Ludders, P. 1998. Effect of NaCl salinity and different root zone temperatures on growth and mineral composition of two mango rootstocks (*Mangiferaindica* L). J. Appl. Bot. **72**: 131–135.
- Schreiner, M. and Ludders, P. 1996. Gas exchange of apple trees under salinity and various levels of K⁺ supply. *Gartenbauwissenschaft*. **61**: 130–138.

- Seckin, B., Seckman, A. H., and Turkan, I. 2009. An enhancingt effect of exogenous mannitol on the antioxidant enzyme activities in roots of wheat under salt stress. J. Plant Growth Regul. 28: 12–20.
- Sepaskhah, A. R., Bazrafshah-Jahromi, A. R., and Shirmohammadi-Aliakbarkhani, Z. 2006. Development and evaluation of a model for yield production of wheat, maize and sugarbeet under water and salt stress. *Biosys*tems Engineering. **93**: 139–152.
- Shah, S. H. 2011. Kinetin improves photosynthetic and antioxidant responses of Nigella sativa to counteract salt stress. *Russian J. Plant Physiol.* 58: 454–459.
- Shahba, M. A., Qlan, Y. L., and Lair, K. D. 2008. Improving seed germination of saltgrass under saline conditions. *Crop Sci.* 48: 756–762.
- Shahid, M. A., Pervez, M. A., Balal, R. M., Mattson, N. S., Rashid, A., Ahmad, R., Ayyub, C. M., and Abbas, T. 2011. Brassinosteroid (24-epibrassinolide) enhances growth and alleviates the deleterious effects induced by salt stress in pea (*Pisum sativum L.*). Austr. J. Crop Sci. 5: 500–510.
- Shalhevet, J. 1994. Using water of marginal quality for crop production: major issues. Review Article. Agric. Water Manage. 25: 233–269.
- Shani, U., Ben-Gal, A., Tripler, E., and Dudley, L. M. 2007. Plant response to soil environment: An analytical model integrating yield, water, soil type, and salinity. *Water Resour. Res.* 43: W08418, doi: 10.1029/2006WR005313.
- Sharif, F. and Khan, A. U. 2009. Alleviation of salinity tolerance by fertilization in four thornbb forest species for the reclamation of salt-affected sites. *Pak. J. Bot.* **41**: 2901–2915.
- Sharifi, M., Ghorbanli, M., and Ebrahimzadeh, H. 2007. Improved growth of salinity stressed soybean after inoculation with pretreated mycorrhizal fungi. *J. Plant Physiol.* 164: 1144–1151.
- Shaterian, J., Georges, F., Hussain, A., Waterer, D., De Jong, H., and Tanino, K. K. 2005. Root to shoot communication and abcisic acid in calreticulin (CR) genes expression and salt stress tolerance in grafted diploid potato (Solanum sp.) clones. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 53: 323–332.
- Sheng, M., Tang, M., Chen, H., Yang, B. W., Zhang, F. F., and Huang, Y. 2008. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhiza on photosynthesis and water status of maize plants under salt stress. *Mycorrhiza*. 18: 287–196.
- Sheng, M., Tang, M., Chen, H., Yang, B. W., Zhang, F. F., and Huang, Y. 2009. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhiza on root system of maize plants under salt stress. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 55: 879–886.
- Shevyakova, N. I., Bakulina, E. A., and Kuznetsov, V. I.V. 2009. Proline antioxidant role in the common ice-plant subjected to salinity and paraquat treatment inducing oxidative stress. *Rus. J. Plant Physiol.* 56: 663– 669.
- Shoresh, M., Spivak, M., and Bernstein, N. 2011. Involvement of calciummediated effects on ROS metabolism in the regulation of growth improvement under salinity. *Free Radical Biol. Medicine.* 51: 1221– 1234.
- Shukla, P. S., Agarwal, P. K., and Jha, B. 2012. Improved salinity tolerance of Arachis hypogaea (L.) by the interaction of halotolerant plant-growthpromoting rhizobacteria. J. Plant Growth Regul. 31: 195–206.
- Siddiqui, M. H., Mohammad, F., Khan, M. N., Al-Whaibi, M. H., Mohamed, H., Bahkali, A. G. A. 2010. Nitrogen in relation to photosynthetic capacity and accumulation of osmoprotectant and nutrients in brassica genotypes grown under salt stress. *Agric. Sci. China.* 9: 671–680.
- Silber, A., Xu, G., Levkovitch, S., Suriano, A., Bilu, A., and Wallach, R. 2003. High fertigation frequency: The effects on uptake of nutrients, water and plant growth. *Plant Soil.* 253: 467–477.
- Sima, N. A. K. K., Askari, H., Mirzaei, H. H., and Pessarakli, M. 2009. Genotype-dependent differential responses of three forage species to calcium supplement in saline conditions. J. Plant Nutr. 32: 579–597.
- Sivritepe, H. O., Sivritepe, N., Eris, A., and Turhan, E. 2005. The effect of NaCl pre-treatments on salt tolerance of melon grown under long-term salinity. *Scientia Hort.* 106: 568–581.
- Steppuhn, H., van Genuchten, M. T., and Grieve, C. M. 2005. Root-zone salinity: I. Selecting a product-yield index and response function for crop tolerance. *Crop Sci.* 45: 209–220.

- Steppuhn, H., Wall, K. G., and Jefferson, P. G. 2009. Seed size effects on emergence, height, growth and shoot biomass of first-year alfalfa grown in saline media. *Tansac. ASABE.* 52: 121–132.
- Storey, R. and Walker, R. R. 1999. Citrus and salinity. Scientia Hort. 78: 39–81.
- Sykes, S. R. 1985. A glasshouse screening procedure for identifying citrus hybrid which restrict chloride accumulation in shoot tissue. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* **36**: 779–789.
- Sykes, S. R. 1992. The inheritance of salt exclusion in woody perennial fruit species. *Plant Soil.* 146: 123–129.
- Szabolcs, I. 1989. Salt-affected soils. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Szepesi, A., Cssiszar, J., Galle, A., Games, K., Poor, P., and Tari, I. 2008. Effect of long term salicylic acid pre-treatment on tomato (*Licopersicon esculentum* Mill. L.) activities and anthocyanin content. *Acta Agronomica Hungaria*. 56: 129–138.
- Sziderics, A. H., Rasche, F., Trognitz, F., Sessitsch, A., and Wilhelm, E. 2007. Bacterial endophytes contribute to abiotic stress adaptation in pepper plants (*Capsicum annuum* L.). *Can. J. Microbiol.* **53**: 1195–1202.
- Tabur, S. and Demir, K. 2009. Cytogenetic response of 24-epibressinollide on the root meristem cells of barley seeds under salinity. *Plant Growth Regul.* 58: 119–123.
- Tahir, M. A., Rahmatullah, A., Ashraf, M., Kanwal, S., and Maqsood, T. 2006. Beneficial effects of silicon on wheat (*Triticum aestium L.*) under salinity stress. *Pak. J. Bot.* 38: 1715–1722.
- Tahir, M. A., Aziz, T., and Rahmatullah. 2011. Silicon induced growth and yield enhancement in two wheat genotypes differing in salinity tolerance. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant.* 42: 395–407.
- Tahir, M. A., Rahmatullah, Aziz, T., and Ashraf, M. 2010. Wheat genotypes differed significantly in their response to silicon nutrition under salinity stress. *J. Plant Nutr.* 33: 1658–1671.
- Takagi, M., El-Shemi, H., Sassaki, S., Toyama, S., Kanai, S., Saneoka, H., and Fujita, K. 2009. Elevated CO₂ concentration alleviates salinity stress in tomato plants. *Acta Agric. Scandinavica Section B-Soil Plant Sci.* 59: 87–96.
- Talaat, N. B. and Shawky, B. T. 2011. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on yield, nutrients, organic solutes, and antioxidant enzymes of two wheat cultivars under salt stress. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 174: 283– 291.
- Taleisnik, E., Rodrigues, A. A., Bustos, D., Erdei, L., Ortega, L., and Senn, M. E. 2009. Leaf expansion in grasses under salt stress. *J. Plant Physiol.* 166: 1123–1140.
- Tanou, G., Molassiotis, A., and Diamantidis, G. 2009. Hydrogen peroxide- and nitric oxide-induced systemic antioxidant prime-like activity under NaClstress and stress-free conditions in citrus plants. J. Plant Physiol. 166: 1904–1913.
- Tari, I., Csiszar, J., Szalai, G., Horvath, F., Pecsvaradi, A., Kiss, G., Szepesi, A., Szabo, M., and Erdei, L. 2002. Acclimation of tomato plants to salinity stress after salicylic acid pre-treatment. *Acta Biokofica Szegediensis*. 46: 55–56.
- Tavallali, V., Rahemi, M., and Panahi, M. 2008. Calcium induces salinity tolerance in pistachio rootstocks. *FRUITS*. 63: 285–296.
- Tavori, G., Abbo, S., Kafkafi, U., and Schnug, E. 2004. Influence of nitrate and sodium chloride on concentration and internal distribution of mineral elements in broad bean (*Vicia faba L.*) and chickpea (*Cicer arietinum L.*). *Landbauforschung Volkenrode*. 54: 189–197.
- Tian, C. Y., Feng, G., Li, X. L., and Zhang, F. S. 2004. Different effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal isolates from saline and non saline on salinity tolerance of plants. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 26: 143–148.
- Tuna, A. L., Kaya, C., Ashraf, M., Altunlu, H., Yokas, I., and Yagmur, B. 2007a. The effects of calcium sulphate on growth, membrane stability and nutrient uptake of tomato plants grown under salt stress. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 56: 173–178.
- Tuna, A. L., Kaya, C., Dikilitas, M., and Higgs, D. 2008b. The combined effect of Gibberellic acid and salinity on some antioxidant enzyme activity, plant growth parameters and nutritional status in maize plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 62: 1–9.

- Tuna, A. L., Kaya, C., Dikilitas, M., Yokas, I., Burun, B., and Altunlu, H. 2007b. Comparitive effects of salicylic acid derivatives on key growth parameters in salinity stressed maize (*Zea mays L.*) plants. *Pak. J. Bot.* **39**: 787–798.
- Tuna, A. L., Kaya, C., Higgs, D., Murillo-Amador, B., Aydemir, S., and Girgin, A. R. 2008a. Silicon improves salinity tolerance in wheat plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 62: 10–16.
- Tuteja, N. 2007. Mechanism of high salinity tolerance in plants. In: Methods in Enzymology. pp. 419–438. Hassinger, D., and Sies, H., Eds., Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Tzortzakis, N. G. 2010. Potassium and calcium enrichment alleviates salinity-induced stress in hydroponically grown endives. *HortScience*. 37: 156–162.
- Ucar, Y., Kadayifci, A., Erdal, I., Tuylu, G., and Srenyigit, U. 2007. Effect of potassium fertilization on lettuce's (*Lctuca sativa* L.) yield parameters and evapotranspiration under different sodium media. *Asian J. Chem.* 19: 4083–4092.
- Uygur, V. and Yetisir, H. 2009. Effect of rootstock on some growth parameters, phosphorus and nitrogen uptake by watermelon under salt stress. J. Plant Nutr. 32: 620–643.
- USDA-ARS 2008. Research Database. Bibliography on Salt Tolerance. Brown, G. E. Jr. Salinity Lab. US Dept. Agric., Agric. Res. Serv. Riverside Ca. USA.
- U.S. Salinity Laboratory Staff. 1954. *Diagnosis and Improvement of Saline and Alkali*. Agric. Handbook No. 60, USDA. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Vaghela, P. M., Patel, A. D., and Pandey, I. B. 2010. Implications of calcium nutrition on the response of *Salvadora persica (Salvadoraceae)* to soil salinity. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant Analysis.* 41: 2644–2660.
- Vardhini, B. V. and Rao, S. S. R. 2003. Amelioration of osmotic stress by Beassinosteroids on seed germination and seedling growth of three varieties of sorghum. *Plant Growth Regul.* **41**: 25–31.
- Verma, S. and Mishra, S. N. 2005. Putrescine alleviation in salt stressed Brassica juncea by inducing antioxidative defense system. J. Plant Physiol. 162: 669–677.
- Veselov, D. S., Sabirzhanova, I. B., Sabirzhanova, I. B., Sabirzhanov, B. E., and Chemeris, A. V. 2008. Changes in expansin gene expression, IAA content, and extension growth of cells in maize plants subjected to salinity. *J. Plant Physiol.* 55: 101–106.
- Vijayan, K., Chakraborti, S. P., and Ghosh, P. D. 2007. Foliar application of Azatobactor chroococcum increases leaf yield under saline conditions in mulberry (*Morus spp.*) Scientia Hort. **113**: 307–311.
- Wahid, A., Sabir, H., Farooq, M., Ghazanfer, A., and Rasheed, R. 2009. Role of nodal bud and sprout tissue nutrients in sprout establishment, growth and salt tolerance of sugarcane. *Crop Pasture Sci.* **60**: 453–462.
- Wahome, P. K., Jesch, H. H., and Grittner, I. 2001. Mechanism of salt tolerance in two rose rootstocks: *Rosa chinensis* 'Major' and R-rubignosa. *Scientia Hort.* 87: 207–216.
- Walker, R. R., Blackmore, D. H., Clingeleffer, P. R., and Corell, R. L. 2004. Rootstocks effects on salt tolerance of irrigated field grown grapevines (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv.Sultana). 2. Ion concentration in leaves and juice. *Aus. J. Grape Wine Res.* 10: 90–99.
- Walker, R. R., Blackmore, D. H., Clingeleffer, P. R., and Tarr, C. R. 2010. Rootstocks effects on salt tolerance of irrigated field grown grapevines (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Sultana). *Aus. J. Grape Wine Res.* 13: 130–141.
- Waller, F., Achatz, B., Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Becker, K., Fischer, M., Heier, T., Huckelhoven, R., Neumann, C., and Wettstein, D. 2005. The endophytic fungus *Priformorspora indica* reprograms barley to salt-stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 102: 13386–13391.
- Wan, S. Q., Kang, Y. H., Wang, D., Liu, S. P., and Feng, L. P. 2007. Effect of drip irrigation with saline water on tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum Mill*) yield and water use in semi-humid area. *Agric. Water Manage*. **90**: 63–74.
- Wang, F. Y., Liu, R. J., Lin, X. J., and Zhou, J. M. 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhiza status of wild plants in the saline-alkaline soils of the yellow river delta. *Mycorrhiza*. 14: 133–137.

- Wang, L. J., Jiang, W. B., Liu, H., Liu, W. Q., Kang, L. and Hou, X. L. 2005. Promotion by 5-aminolevulinic acid of germination of pakchoi (Brassica campestris ssp chinensis var.communis Tsen et Lee) seed under salt stress. J. Integrative Plant Biol. 47: 1084–1091.
- Wang, Y. R., Kang, S. Z., Li, F. S., Zhang, L., and Zhanf, J. H. 2007. Saline water irrigation through a crop-water-salinity production function and a soilwater-salinity dynamic model. *Pedosphere*. 17: 303–317.
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., and Altman, A. 2003. Plant response to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: toward genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*. 218: 1–14.
- Webster, A. D. 1995. Rootstock and interstock effects on deciduous fruit tree vigour, precocity and yield productivity. *New-Zealand J. Crop Hort. Sci.* 23: 373–382.
- Wei, G. P., Zhu, Y. L., Liu, Z. L., Yang, L. F., and Zhang, G. W. 2007. Growth and ionic distribution of grafted eggplant seedlings with NaCl stress. *Acta Bot. Boreal-Occide. Sin.* 27: 1172–1178.
- Wu, Q. S. and Zou, Y. N. 2009. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis improves growth and root nutrient status of citrus subjected to salt stress. *Scienceasia*. 35: 388–391.
- Wu, Q. S., Zou, Y. N., and He, X. H. 2010. Contributions of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungui to growth, photosynthesis, root morphology and ionic balance of citrus seedlings under salt stress. *Acta Physioligiae Plantarum.* 32: 297–304.
- Xie, Z. K., Duan, L. S., Tian, X. L., Wang, B. M., Eneji, A. E., and Li, Z. H. 2008. Coronatine alleviates salinity stress in cotton by improving the antioxidative defense system and radical scavenging activity. *J. Plant Physiol.* 165: 375–384.
- Yadav, R. K., Kumar, A., Lal, D., and Batra, L. 2004. Yield response of winter (rabi) forage crops to irrigation with saline drainage water. *Exp. Agric.* 40: 65–75.
- Yamaguchi, T. and Blumwald, E. 2005. Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: challenges and opportunities. *Trends Plant Sci.* 10: 615–620.
- Yang, X. and Lu, C. 2005. Photosynthesis improved by exogenous glycinebetaine in salt stressed maize plants. *Physiol. Plantarum*. **124**: 343–352.
- Yetisir, H. and Uygur, V. 2009 Plant growth and mineral element content of different gourd species and watermelon under salinity stress. *Turkish J. Agric. Forestry.* 33: 65–77.
- Yildirim, E., Karlidag, H., and Turan, M. 2009. Mitigation of salt stress in strawberry by foliar K, Ca, Mg nutrient supply. *Plant Soil Environ.* 55: 213–221.
- Yildirim, E., Turan, M., and Guvenc, I. 2008a. Effect of foliar salicylic acid applications on growth, chlorophyll, and mineral content of cucumber grown under salt stress. J. Plant Nutr. 31: 593–612.

- Yin, R., Bai, T. H., and Ma, F. W. 2010. Physiological responses and relative tolerance by Chinese apples rootstocks to NaCl stress. *Scientia Hort.* 126: 247–252.
- Younis, M. E., Hassaneen, M. N. A., and Kazamel, A. M. S. 2009a. Plant growth metabolism and adaptation to stress conditions. VII.XXVII Can ascorbic acid modify the adverse effects of NaCl and mannitol on amino acids, nucleic acids and protein pattern in *Vicia faba* seedlings? *Protoplasma*. 235: 37–47.
- Younis, M. E., Hassaneen, M. N.A., and Tourky, S. M. N. 2009b. Plant growth metabolism and adaptation to stress conditions. IV XXIV Salinity-biofertility interactive effects on proline, glycine and various antioxidants in Lactuca sativa. *Plant Omics.* 2: 197–205.
- Youssef, T. and Awad, M. A. 2008. Mechanisms of enhancing photosynthetic gas exchange in date palm seedlings (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) under salinity stress by a 5-aminolevulinic acid-based fertilizer. J. Plant Growth Regul. 27: 1–9.
- Yurtseven, E., Kesmez, G. D., and Unlukara, A. 2005. The effect of water salinity and potassium level on yield, fruit quality and water consumption of a native central Anatolian tomato species (*Lycopersicon esculantum*). Agric. Water Manage. **78**: 128–135.
- Zahir, Z. A., Ghani, U., Naveed, M., Nadim, S. M., and Asghar, H. N. 2009. Comparative effectiveness of Pseudomonas and Serratia sp. containing ACCdeaminase for improving growth and yield of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under salt stress conditions. *Arch. Microbiology.* 191: 415–424.
- Zhang, Q. T., Inoue, M., Inosako, K., Irshad, M., Kondo, K., Qio, G. Y., and Wang, S. P. 2008. Ameliorative effect of mulching on water use efficiency of Swiss chard and salt accumulation under saline irrigation. *J. Food Agric. Environ.* 6: 480–485.
- Zhang, Z. J., Li, H. Z., Zhou, W. J., Takeuchi, Y., and Yoneyama, K. 2006. Effect of 5-aminolevullinic acid on development and salt tolerance of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) microtubers in vitro. *Plant Growth Regul.* 49: 27–34.
- Zhao, G. Q., Ma, B. L., and Ren, C. Z. 2009. Salinity effects on yield and yield components of contrasting naked oat genotypes. J. Plant Nutr. 32: 1019– 1632.
- Zheng, Y. H., Xu, X. B., Simmons, M., Zhang, C., Gao, F. J., and Li, Z. J. 2010. Responses of physiological parameters, grain yield and grain quality to foliar application of potassium nitrate in two contrasting winter wheat cultivars under salinity stress. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 173: 444–452.
- Zhu, H., Ding, G. H., Fang, K., Zhao, F. G., and Qin, P. 2006. New perspective on the mechanism of alleviating salt stress by spermidine in barley seedlings. *Plant Growth Regul.* 48: 147–156.
- Zhu, Z., Wei, G., Li, J., Qian, Q., and Yu, J. 2004. Silicon alleviates salt stress and increases antioxidant enzymes activityin leaves of salt-stressed cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*. L.). *Plant Sci.* 167: 527–533.